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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwdmdking statements within the meaning of the Pav@ecurities Litigation Reform Act
1995. These statements include, among other thatgements regarding plans, objectives, goalstesfies, future events or performance
underlying assumptions and other statements, waiehother than statements of historical facts. Bodwooking statements may app
throughout this report, including without limitatio the following sections: Item 1 “Business,” ItetiA “Risk Factors,”and Item
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan@aindition and Results of Operations.” Forwérdking statements generally can
identified by words such as “anticipates,” “belisye“estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “pdicts,” “projects,” “will be,” ‘will
continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expregons. These forwarlboking statements are based on current expectasiod assumptions tl
are subject to risks and uncertainties, which caddse our actual results to differ materially frémose reflected in the forwatdeking
statements. Factors that could cause or contritouseich differences include, but are not limitedttmse discussed in this Annual Repor
Form 10-K, and in particular, the risks discussadar the caption “Risk Factor@i Item 1A and those discussed in other documetgila
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SH@)ortant factors that in our view could cause maltedverse affects on our financ
condition and results of operations include, b aot limited to, the risks and uncertainties etlato our future operational and finan
results, competitive factors, the timing of the wipgs of other units, the availability of acceptafihancing to fund corporate expansion effi
our dependence on key personnel, the ability toagaroperations and the future operational streofjthanagement, and the laws gover
the operation of adult entertainment businesses.uéertake no obligation to revise or publicly eede the results of any revision to
forward{ooking statements, except as required by law. Bihese risks and uncertainties, readers are ceagtioot to place undue reliance
such forward-looking statements.
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PART |
Item 1. Business.
INTRODUCTION

At the Company’s Annual Meeting of StockholdersAurgust 6, 2014, its name was officially changedrfrBick’s Cabaret International, It
to RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. RCI Hospitality ditlings, Inc. (sometimes referred to as RCIHH hgrevas incorporated in the State
Texas in 1994. Through our subsidiaries, as of Bz 1, 2014, we operate a total of foibyw establishments that offer live ac
entertainment, and/or restaurant and bar operatioh&e also intend, through our subsidiaries, teropn additional location in the Spring
2015. We have one reportable segment, nightcR$.Hospitality Holdings, Incis a holding company and operates through its sulbyie
including its management company, RClI Managementi&ss, Inc. All services and management operatavesconducted by subsidiaries
RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. In the context ofubl and bar/restaurant operations, the tettmes“Company,” “we,” “our,” “us”and simila
terms used herein refer to subsidiaries of RCI Haby Holdings, Inc. Excepting executive officeod RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc.any
employment referenced in this document is not i@ Hospitality Holdings, Inc. but solely with oéits subsidiaries.

SCHEDULE OF UNITS

Date
Name of Nightcluk Acquired/Opene!

Club Onyx, Houston, T2 1995
Rick's Cabaret, Minneapolis, M 1998
XTC Cabaret, Austin, T> 1998
XTC Cabaret, San Antonio, T 1998
XTC Cabaret North, Houston, T 2004
Rick's Cabaret, New York City, N 2005
Club Onyx, Charlotte, N( 2005
Rick's Cabaret, San Antonio, 1 2006
XTC Cabaret South, South Houston, 2006
Rick's Cabaret, Fort Worth, T 2007
Tootsie's Cabaret, Miami Gardens, 2008
XTC Cabaret, Dallas, T. 2008
Club Onyx, Dallas, T> 2008
Club Onyx, Philadelphia, P. 2008
Rick's Cabaret, North Austin, T 2009
Cabaret North, Fort Worth, T 2009
Cabaret East, Fort Worth, T 2010
Rick's Cabaret DFW, Fort Worth, T 2011
Downtown Cabaret, Minneapolis, M 2011
Rick's Cabaret, Indianapoalis, | 2011
Temptations, Aledo, T> 2011
Silver City Cabaret, Dallas, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Odessa, - 2012
Jaguars Club, Phoenix, £ 2012
Jaguars Club, Lubbock, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Longview, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Tye, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Edinburg, T 2012
Jaguars Club, El Paso, 1 2012
Jaguars Club, Harlingen, T 2012
Jaguar's Club, Beaumont, 1 2012
Vee Lounge, Fort Worth, T. 2013
Bombshells, Dallas, T: 2013
Temptations, Sulphur, L, 2013
Temptations, Beaumont, T 2013
Bombshells, Webster, T 2013
The Black Orchid, Dallas, T. 2013
Vivid Cabaret, New York, N\ 2014
Bombshells, Austin, T> 2014
Rick's Cabaret, Odessa, ~ 2014
Bombshells, Spring T’ 2014
Bombshells, Fugua (Housto 2014
Temptations, Lubbock, T: 2014
Union Square, Fort Worth, TX (. 2014

Bombshells, Willowbrook (Houston) (. 2015



(1) Opened in December 2014.
(2) To be opened in Spring 2015.




As noted above, we have the following nightclulstaarant under construction or contract:

« Union Station (formerly Pole Position) opened ircBxaber 2014.
« Bombshells Willowbrook to be opened in Spring 2015.

Our website address is www.rcihospitality.com. obdwritten request, we make available free of chargr Annual Report on Form 1Q-
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current ReportEam 8K, and all amendments to those reports as soosazemably practicable after s
material is electronically filed with the SEC undke Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendddrnhation contained in the website s
not be construed as part of this Form 10-K.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES—NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabarel®83 in Houston, Texas, the adult entertainmegtitolub business was characterized by ¢
establishments generally managed by their owneer&ing policies of these establishments were dégnthe sites were generally dimly
standards for performers' personal appearance emrsdnmlity were not maintained and it was custonfiaryperformers to alternate betw:
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and gualitbar service was low and food was not frequyeatfered. Music was usually "hard" rc
and roll, played at a loud level by a disc jockegually, only cash was accepted. Many businessilénricomfortable in such environme|
Recognizing a void in the market for a ficd&ss adult nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabartarget the more affluent customer by providi
unique quality entertainment environment. In additiwe have continued to develop additional braratgeting specific markets a
demographics to maximize the business opporturatiéisese locations. The following summarizes @aas of operation that distinguish us:

Female EntertainersOur policy is to maintain high standards for bp#rsonal appearance and personality for the airiers an
waitresses. Of equal importance is a performeilgyato present herself attractively and to engageonversation with customers. '
prefer that performers who work at our clubs beesigmced entertainers. We make a determinatioro ashiether a particul
entertainer is suitable based on such factors péa@ance, attitude, dress, communication skillsderdeanor. At all clubs, except
our Rick's Minnesota location, the entertainersiateependent contractors. We do not schedule ik hours.

Management We often recruit staff from inside the adult eta@ment industry, as well as from large restatieamd club chains,
the belief that management with experience in #wos adds to our ability to grow and attract gyadintertainers as well as client
Management with experience is able to train newuitcfrom outside the industry.

Compliance Policies/EmployeesNe have a policy of ensuring that our businessesoperated in conformity with local, state
federal laws. We continually monitor the behavidremployees and customers to ensure that propedatds of behavior &
observed.

Compliance Policies/Credit Card®Ve have in place policies requiring that certaedit card charges must be approved, in writiy
management before any charges are accepted. Maeatés trained to review credit card charges tsuem that the only charg
approved for payment are for food, drink, merchaadind entertainment.

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the success of our lm@drabult nightclubs is a quality, firstass bar and restaur
operation to compliment our adult entertainment. &kfgloy service managers who recruit and traingessibnal wait staff and ens
that each customer receives prompt and courteawscee We employ chefs with restaurant experier@ar bar managers orc
inventory and schedule bar staff. We believe thatdperation of a first class restaurant is a reecgscomponent to the operation
premiere adult cabaret, as is the provision of jemwine, liquor and beer in order to ensure thattustomer perceives and obt
good value. At most locations, our restaurant dpmra provide business lunch buffets and full luacldl dinner menu service with
and cold appetizers, salads, seafood, steak, astelo An extensive selection of quality winesvaikable at most locations.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls are essetatile successful operation of a cash intensightoiub and bar busine
At each location, we have designed and implemeimtixinal procedures and controls to ensure thegiityeof our operational ar
accounting records. Wherever practicable, we sépananagement personnel from all cash handlindiabrhanagement is isola
from and does not handle any cash. We use a cotidrinaf accounting and physical inventory contr@aehanisms to maintain a h
level of integrity in our accounting practices.dnhation technology plays a significant role in taimg and analyzing a variety
information to provide management with the inforimatnecessary to efficiently manage and controhadghtclub. Deposits of ca
and credit card receipts are reconciled each daydaily income report. In addition, we review odaily basis (i) cash and credit ¢
summaries which tie together all cash and credid ¢eansactions occurring at the front door, theskia the club and the cast
station, (i) a summary of the daily bartendersattout reports, and (iii) a daily cash requirementalysis which reconciles t
previous day's cash on hand to the requirementhénext day's operations. These daily compugorte alert local managemen
any variances from expected financial results basekistorical norms. We conduct a monthly overviveour financial condition ar
operating results.




Atmosphere We maintain a high design standard in our faediand decor. The furniture and furnishings inrtghtclubs create tl
feeling of an upscale restaurant. The sound sygt@vides quality sound at levels at which convéosat can still take place. T
environment is carefully monitored for music sel@tt entertainer and waitress appearance and dices of customer service o
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on serving the wgpet of the businessmen's market, some of our digigénclude a VI
room, which provides a higher level of service andiry.

Advertising and PromotionOur consumer marketing strategy is to positiontmands as premiere entertainment facilities pinavide
exceptional adult entertainment in a fun, yet distrenvironment. We use a variety of highly taggenethods to reach our custon
including hotel publications, local radio, cabléetésion, newspapers, billboards, tadb reader boards, and the Internet, as wel
variety of promotional campaigns. These campaigissie that our brand names are kept before thécpubl

RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. has received a sfipaint amount of media exposure over the yearsaitional magazines such
Playboy, Penthouse, Glamour Magazine, The Ladieméddournal, Time Magazine, Time Out New York, aaga3 Monthl
Magazine. Segments about Rick's have aired on nationalaoal television programs such as “20/20Extra" and "Inside Edition
and we have provided entertainers for payipew features as well. Business stories about R@$gitality Holdings, Inc. ha
appeared irForbes, Newsweek, The Wall Street Journal, The Mesk Times, The New York Post, Los Angeles Timesstbr
Business Journal and numerous other national and regional pulidinat Forbes named RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. one
America's 200 Best Small Companies since 2008. R@pitality Holdings, Inc. has been profiled ifhe Wall Street Journa|
Fortune, MarketWatch Corporate Board MemberSmart Money USA Today The New York Daily Nevand other publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate units under the name “Ricldbatet’in San Antonio, Austin, Lubbock, Odessa and Fortrt\/oTexas (2); Minneapol
Minnesota; New York, New York; and Indianapolisdiana. We also operate a similar nightclub undemtéime “Tootsie’s Cabareiti Miami
Gardens, Florida. We operate a total of four nilgite (one in Houston, one in Dallas, one in Cheg|dtlorth Carolina and one in Philadelp
Pennsylvania), as “Club Onyxypscale venues that welcome all customers but emeecially to urban professionals, businessmer
professional athletes. Additionally, we own fivginiclubs that operate as “XTC Cabar&t"San Antonio, Austin, Dallas, Houston and Si
Houston, Texas, one that operates as “Cabaret Eag®¥rt Worth, one that operates as "Cabaret NdrthFort Worth, one that operates
Silver City in Dallas and one that operates as “Dmwn Cabaret” in Minneapolis. We operate “Tentiptss” clubs in Sulphur, Louisian
Beaumont, Texas Lubbock, Texas and Fort Worth, 3ex@/e operate nine clubs as “JaguamsTexas and one in Phoenix, Arizona. We
operate The Black Orchid in Dallas, Texas. We sald New Orleans, Louisiana nightclub in March 1988 it continues to use the na
“Rick’s Cabaret’under a licensing agreement. In addition to thdtanightclubs, we currently operate two bar/resdats in Fort Worth, Tex
as Vee Lounge (currently open) and Union Squarth thie latter to open in December 2014. We alsaaipdive sports bar/restaurants
“Bombshells” in Dallas, Austin and Houston, Texathvanother to open in Houston in the Spring of201

RECENT TRANSACTIONS

See Note M, Acquisitions, of Notes to Consoliddtathncial Statements for acquisitions during fisesdrs ended September 30, 2014, 2013
and 2012.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES — MEDIA GROUP

The Media Group, made up of wholly owned subsid&ris the leading business communications companying the multi-billiondollar
adult nightclubs industry. It owns a national intiysonvention and tradeshow; two national industagle publications; two national indus
awards shows; and more than 25 industry websitekided in the Media Group is ED Publications, sidrs of the bimonthly ED Cli
Bulletin, the only national business magazine ser¥he 3,50(lus adult nightclubs in North America, which harnual revenues in exces:
$5 billion, according to the Association of Clubdgxtives. ED Publications, founded in 1991, alsbliphes the Annual VIP Guide of ac
nightclubs, touring entertainers and industry vesg@roduces the Annual GentlemerClub Owners EXPO, a national convention
tradeshow which marked its 2@ar Anniversary in 2012; and offers the exclusié#® VIP Club Card, honored at more than 850
nightclubs. Also in the Media Group is Storerotit@inded in 2004, which publishes the bimonthlyr&totica Magazine, the industry tr:
publication for the multi-billiondollar erotic apparel and adult novelty retail saledustries. The Media Group produces two natly
recognized industry awards show for the readetsoti ED Club Bulletin and Storerotica magazines] araintains a number of B-®-anc
consumer websites for both industries.




COMPETITION

The adult entertainment and the restaurant/banbases are highly competitive with respect to pseevice and location. All of our nightclt
compete with a number of locally owned adult cligmsne of whose names may have name recognitioeduats that of ours. While there n
be restrictions on the location of a called "sexually oriented business"(SOB), there larg barriers to entry into the adult cabi
entertainment market. The names "Rick's" and "Ri€ldbaret", “Tootsie’s Cabaret”, "XTC Cabaret",V8i City” ,“"Club Onyx” “Downtowr
Cabaret”, “Temptations” and “The Black Orchid” gmoprietary. In the restaurant/bar business, “Bsiells”is also proprietary. We belie
that the combination of our existing brand namegedion and the distinctive entertainment envireminthat we have created will allow u:
compete effectively in the industry and within tbiéies where we operate. Although we believe that ave well positioned to comp
successfully, there can be no assurance that wéevilble to maintain our high level of name reétigm and prestige within the marketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and llaeed affecting our business activities. In partcuin Texas the authority to issue a perm
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TexXashblic Beverage Commission (“TABC*hich has the authority, in its discretion, to &
the appropriate permits. We presently hold a MiBederage Permit and a Late Hour Permit at numefewas locations. Previously subjec
annual renewal, the TABC recently changed to awahevery two years, provided we have complied witirules and regulations govern
the permits. Renewal of a permit is subject to gghtwhich may be made by a law enforcement agendy the public. In the event o
protest, the TABC may hold a hearing at which timeviews of interested parties are expressed TRERC has the authority after such hea
not to issue a renewal of the protested alcohairebage permit. Rick's has never been the subfextpootest hearing against the renewi
Permits. Minnesota, North Carolina, Indiana, Laansi, Arizona, Pennsylvania, Florida, and New Yoakésimilar laws that may limit t
availability of a permit to sell alcoholic beverager that may provide for suspension or revocatiba permit to sell alcoholic beverage:
certain circumstances. It is our policy, prior tepanding into any new market, to take steps to mnsompliance with all licensing a
regulatory requirements for the sale of alcohofiudrages as well as the sale of food.

In addition to various regulatory requirements difeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in mangsitvhere we operate, the location of an i
entertainment cabaret is subject to restrictiorciby ordinance. For example, adult entertainmeghtulubs in Houston, Texas are subjer
"The Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance", whightains prohibitions on the location of an aduba&t (seeliegal Proceedings" herei
The prohibitions deal generally with distance freahools, churches, and other sexually orientednbases and contain restrictions base
the percentage of residences within the immediatimity of the sexually oriented business. The granof a Sexually Oriented Busin
Permit is not subject to discretion; the Businessrit must be granted if the proposed operatioisfeed the requirements of the Ordinance
all states where we operate, management believeseni@ compliance with applicable city, countytstor other local laws governing the :
of alcohol and sexually oriented businesses.

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Gaba “Tootsie’s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx,” “XTC Cabet,” “Temptations,” “Jaguars,”
“Downtown Cabaret,” “Cabaret East,” Cabaret NortBgmbshells,” “Vee Lounge” and “The Black Orchidie established under common |
based upon our substantial and continuous useestttradenames in interstate commerce, some ohwiaice been in use at least as ear
1987. We have registered our service maldCK'S AND STARS DESIGN", with the United Statest&a and Trademark Office. We hi
also obtained service mark registrations from théeRt and Trademark Office for the “RICK’'S”, "RICK'CABARET", “CLUB ONYX",
“XTC CABARET”, “SILVER CITY CABARET”, “THE BLACK ORCHID”, “BOMBSHELLS"” and “EXOTIC DANCER” service marks. W\
also own the rights to numerous tradenames asedcigith our media division. There can be no assigahat the steps we have take
protect our service marks will be adequate to deisappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2014, we and our subsidiarges dpproximately 1,750 employees, of which apprexély 100 are in managem
positions, including corporate and administratipemtions and approximately 1,650 are engagedtartamment, food and beverage sen
including bartenders, waitresses, and certain &mers. None of our employees are represented bgi@n. We consider our employ
relations to be good. Additionally, as of Septen®@&r2014, we had independent contractor relatipsshith approximately 3,000 entertain
who are self-employed and conduct business atamatibns on a non-exclusive basis as independentamtors. Our entertainers at Rigk’
Cabaret in Minneapolis, Minnesota act as commiggloemployees. We believe that the adult entertaibrivelustry standard of treati
entertainers as independent contractors providesithssafe harbor protection to preclude payrol sssessment for prior years. We |
prepared plans that we believe will protect ourfipability in the event that the sexually orientbdsiness industry is required in all state
convert entertainers who are now independent cotott@into employees.




SHARE REPURCHASES

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors ai#td us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of common stock in the open market.
of April 2013, we completed the repurchase of &lirfiillion in stock authorized under this plan. OpriA 25, 2013, our Board of Directc
authorized us to repurchase up to an additionah#i®n worth of our common stock in the open markein privately negotiated transactic
During May 2014, our Board of Directors increaskd tepurchase authorization to $10 million. Durihg fiscal year ended September
2014, we purchased 101,330 shares of common stottkei open market at prices ranging from $10.4%1®.00 and during the fiscal y:
ended September 30, 2013, we purchased 179,958ssbfacommon stock in the open market at pricegingnfrom $7.84 to $8.95. Under
Board's authority, we have $8.8 million remainingptirchase additional shares as of September 34, 20

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in our common stock involves a higigree of risk. You should carefully consider treksidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our common stock. If any ofetrents, contingencies, circumstances or conditt@scribed in the risks below actui
occurs, our business, financial condition or resolt operations could be seriously harmed. Thergagrice of our common stock could,
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Requlatocetfainties Which May Affect Our Ability to Contie Operations of Existing Nightclul
Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Profitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to Ipstdte and federal regulations. Our businesgyislaged by local zoning, local and state lic
licensing, local ordinances and state and fedared place and manner restrictions. The adult eaitertent provided by our nightclubs
elements of speech and expression and, therefojeysesome protection under the First Amendmenth® United States Constitutis
However, the protection is limited to the express@nd not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileroghtclubs are generally well establishe
their respective markets, there can be no assuthatéocal, state and/or federal licensing ancotiegulations will permit our nightclubs
remain in operation or profitable in the future.

Beginning January 1, 2008, the Companyexas clubs became subject to a new state laviriregjeach club to collect and pay a $5 surch
for every club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by thEexas Entertainment Association (“TEA'3n organization to which the Company
member, alleging the fee amounts to be an uncatistial tax. On March 28, 2008, a State Distriou@ Judge in Travis County, Texas rt
that the new state law violates the First Amendnterihe United States Constitution and is therefovalid. The judges order enjoined tl
State from collecting or assessing the tax. TteStppealed the Couwtruling. In Texas, when cities or the State gietice of appeal,
supersedes and suspends the judgment, includinmjimection. Therefore, the judgment of the DistrCourt cannot be enforced until
appeals are completed. Given the suspension glthgnent, the State gave notice of its right teod the tax pending the outcome ol
appeal but took no affirmative action to enforcatttight. On June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeatstti@ Third District (Austin) affirmed tt
District Court’'s judgment that the Sexually OriehtBusiness (“S.0.B.”Jee violated the First Amendment to the U.S. Ctutstin but ol
August 26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversedutigment of the Court of Appeals, ruling tha OB Fee does not violate the F
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and remandect#se to the District Court to determine whetherfée violates the Texas Constitution.

TEA appealed the Texas Supreme Court's decisiotihgoU.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutignaf the fee under the Fil
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution), but the U.8pi®@me Court denied the appeal on January 23, Zisequently, the case was rema
to the District Court for consideration of the rémiag issues raised by TEA. On June 28, 2012,0tstrict Court in Travis County held
hearing on TEAS Texas Constitutional claims and on July 9, 20it2red an order finding that the tax was a cortatital Occupations Ta
The Court denied the remainder of TEA’s constitudibclaims. TEA appealed the trial coartuling to the Third Court of Appeals and
May 9, 2014, the Third Court of Appeals issuedlmguadverse to TEA and in favor of the State. TH&d a petition for review to the Tex
Supreme Court on July 17, 2014. The Texas Supfeowet denied TEA's petition for review on Novemi#dr, 2014 On December 8, 201
TEA notified the Texas Attorney General that TE£emds to file a petition for writ of certiorari vaithe United States Supreme Court.

The Company has not made any payments of thesg s$in@e the first quarter of 2009 and plans nahédke any such payments while the
is pending in the courts. However, based on thetaaling, the Company will continue to accrue agense the potential tax liability on
financial statements. If the final decision of ttwurts is ultimately in the Comparsyfavor, as it believes it will be, then the Companill
record a one-time gain of the entire amount preshpaxpensed.

Since the inception of the tax, the Company had pmre than $2 million to the State of Texas umtetest for all four quarters of 2008 :
the first quarter of 2009, expensing it in the adigsted financial statements (except for two lawa in Dallas where the taxes have not |
paid, but the Company is accruing and expensindidabéity). For all subsequent quarters, as ailtesf the Third Cour 2009 decision, tl
Company has accrued the tax, but not paid the .Sfateordingly, as of September 30, 2014, the Comigeas approximately $15.5 million
accrued liabilities for this tax. Patron tax expermamounted to approximately $3.1 million, $3.2lioril and $3.1 million for the years enc
September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelg. Jdmpanys Texas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit ag#iesState in which ti
Company raises additional challenges to the statytesing the fee or tax, demanding repayment etdixes the Company has paid undel
statute. The courts have not yet addressed thigligomal claims. If the Company is successfuthe remaining litigation, the amount
Company has paid under protest should be repagmlied to any future, constitutional admissiondaxther Texas state tax liabilities.




Our Business has been, and may Continue to be, rdglyeAffected by Conditions in the U.S. Finandidérkets and Economic _Conditic
Generally

Our nightclubs are often acquired with a purchaseepbased on historical EBITDA (Earnings Befordehest, Taxes, Depreciation
Amortization). This results in certain nightclubariying a substantial amount of intangible valu@stly allocated to licenses and goody
Generally accepted accounting principles requiraramual impairment review of these indefinite livesbets. If difficult market and econol
conditions continue over the next year and/or weeernce a decrease in revenue at one or morechight we could incur a decline in 1
value of one or more of our nightclubs. This corddult in future impairment charges of up to thmltealue of the indefinite lived intangit
assets.

We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businespé&nsion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffiti® satisfy our working capital and capital exgiéure requirements, we will need to r¢
additional funds through the public or private safeour equity or debt securities. The timing amdoant of our capital requirements \
depend on a number of factors, including cash #md cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtitional funds are raised through
issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, percentage ownership of our trestisting shareholders will be reduced. We cannstira
you that additional financing will be available terms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equiityancing, if available, may result in diluti
to existing shareholders, and debt financing, #ilable, may include restrictive covenants. Anyluia by us to procure timely additiol
financing will have material adverse consequencesus business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclubtdftainment Industry, Which May Affect Our Abilityy Operate Profitably or Acqu
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these aitgrs may have greater financial and managenssaturces than we do. Additionally,
industry is subject to unpredictable competitivantts and competition for general entertainmentadaliThere can be no assurance that wi
be able to remain profitable in this competitivdustry.

Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauramd &ar industry has been an extremely volatile $trgu The industry tends to be extren
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatwleonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainimeiuistry revenues increase, and w
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnieshistry revenues decline. Coupled with this ecacogensitivity are the trendy persa
preferences of the customers who frequent aduliretdr We continuously monitor trends in our custetastes and entertainment prefere
so that, if necessary, we can make appropriateggsamwhich will allow us to remain one of the premiadult cabarets. However,
significant decline in general corporate conditiammsuncertainties regarding future economic protspétat affect consumer spending c«
have a material adverse effect on our businesaddtition, we have historically catered to a cliémtease from the upper end of the ma
Accordingly, further reductions in the amounts pfestainment expenses allowed as deductions fraonie under the Internal Revenue C
of 1954, as amended, could adversely affect salegstomers dependent upon corporate expense dscoun

Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesrirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. States in wivieloperate may have laws which may |
the availability of a permit to sell alcoholic beages or which may provide for suspension or retiogaf a permit to sell alcoholic bevera
in certain circumstances. The temporary or permiasigspension or revocations of any such permitdadvoave a material adverse effect on
revenues, financial condition and results of openst In all states where we operate, managemdigvbs we are in compliance w
applicable city, county, state or other local layeserning the sale of alcohol.

Activities or Conduct at Our Nightclubs May Cause td Lose Necessary Business Licenses, Expose Umldity, or Result in Advers
Publicity, Which May Increase Our Costs and Diwdanagemens Attention from Our Business

We are subject to risks associated with activiliesonduct at our nightclubs that are illegal arlaie the terms of necessary business lice
Some of our nightclubs operate under licensesdrually oriented businesses and are afforded saptegtion under the First Amendmen
the U.S. Constitution. While we believe that théwities at our nightclubs comply with the termssafch licenses, and that the element o
business that constitutes an expression of freecépender the First Amendment to the U.S. Conaiitus protected, activities and conduc
our nightclubs may be found to violate the termsuh licenses or be unprotected under the U.Sst@ation. This protection is limited to t
expression and not the conduct of an entertainelisguing authority may suspend or terminate aniedfor a nightclub found to have viols
the license terms. lllegal activities or conductaay of our nightclubs may result in negative peibfi or litigation. Such consequences 1
increase our cost of doing business, divert managésnattention from our business and make an investmewur securities unattractive
current and potential investors, thereby lowering grofitability and our stock price.




We have developed comprehensive policies aimedstrimg that the operation of each nightclub isdemted in conformance with local, si
and federal laws. We have a “no tolerangglicy on illegal drug use in or around the fa@kt We continually monitor the actions
entertainers, waitresses and customers to ensatr@ithper behavior standards are met. However, pakities, no matter how well desigr
and enforced, can provide only reasonable, notlatescassurance that the policiejectives are being achieved. Because of the émh
limitations in all control systems and policiesgr can be no assurance that our policies willgredeliberate acts by persons attemptir
violate or circumvent them. Notwithstanding theefgoing limitations, management believes that odicies are reasonably effective
achieving their purposes.

Our Acquisitions May Result in Disruptions in Ouagness and Diversion of Managenisrittention

We have made and may continue to make acquisitbrtc®@mplementary nightclubs, restaurants or relajeerations. Any acquisitions w
require the integration of the operations, prodacis personnel of the acquired businesses andatiminy and motivation of these individu:
Such acquisitions may disrupt our operations angertlimanagement’s attention from dayetay operations, which could impair
relationships with current employees, customers padners. We may also incur debt or issue equétyusties to pay for any futu
acquisitions. These issuances could be substagndidlitive to our stockholders. In addition, ouofitability may suffer because of acquisition-
related costs or amortization, or impairment céstsacquired goodwill and other intangible assHtsnanagement is unable to fully integt
acquired business, products or persons with egistperations, we may not receive the benefits efatquisitions, and our revenues and ¢
trading price may decrease.

We Must Continue to Meet NASDAQ Global Market Conied Listing Requirements or We Risk Delisting

Our securities are currently listed for trading the NASDAQ Global Market. We must continue to $gtiSASDAQ’s continued listin
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaaiverse effect on our business. If our securitieseaer ddisted from NASDAQ, they me
trade on the over-the-counter market, which max tess liquid market. In such case, our sharehglddility to trade or obtain quotations
the market value of shares of our common stock dvén@ severely limited because of lower trading r@s and transaction delays. Tt
factors could contribute to lower prices and larggreads in the bid and ask prices for our seesrifihere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the NASDAQ continuestiig requirements.

We Incur Significant Costs as a Result of Operasiag Public Company, and Our Management Devotest&tial Time to New Complian
Initiatives

We will incur significant legal, accounting and ethexpenses that our competition does not incue $arbane®©xley Act of 2002 (th
“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”)as well as new rules subsequently implemented &6tC, have imposed various requirements on puablitpanies
including requiring certain corporate governancacpces. Our management and other personnel davstbstantial amount of time to th
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules aaglufations increase our legal and financial compkacosts and will make some activi
more time-consuming and costly.

In addition, the Sarbané3xley Act requires, among other things, that we ntzdin effective internal controls for financial mfing anc
disclosure controls and procedures. In particwee, have been required to perform system and proeeshkiation and testing on -
effectiveness of our internal controls over finaheceporting, as required by Section 404 of theb&aesOxley Act. Then, beginning in fisc
2010, our independent registered public accourfiing has reported on the effectiveness of our imdécontrols over financial reporting,
required by Section 404 of the Sarbafedey Act. In the future, our testing, or the suisent testing by our independent registered p
accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in ouremial controls over financial reporting that areemded to be material weaknesses.
compliance with Section 404 requires that we irmubystantial accounting expense and expend signifrcanagement efforts. Moreover, if
are not able to comply with the requirements oft®ac404 in a timely manner, or if we or our indagent registered public accounting f
identifies deficiencies in our internal controlseoVinancial reporting that are deemed to be matereaknesses, the market price of our ¢
could decline, and we could be subject to sanctiriavestigations by the SEC or other regulatarharities, which would require additio
financial and management resources.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adedaapersonal injury and property damage to whighbusiness of the Company ma'
subject. However, there can be no assurance tliraguwred liabilities in excess of the coverage piedi by insurance, which liabilities may
imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusénglar "Dram Shop" statutes or common law thesf liability in other states where
operate or expand. For example, the Texas "Dranp'S$tatute provides a person injured by an intaeidgerson the right to recover dam:
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldichbeverages to such person if it was apparethecserver that the individual being s
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wagausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgm@telear danger to himself and others
employer is not liable for the actions of its eny@e who oveserves if (i) the employer requires its employessttend a seller trainii
program approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee hatially attended such a training program; arijl ttie employer has not directly
indirectly encouraged the employee to violate the. It is our policy to require that all serversadéohol working at our clubs in Texas
certified as servers under a training program amady the TABC, which certification gives statytammunity to the sellers of alcohol frc
damage caused to third parties by those who hawsucted alcoholic beverages at such establishmasugmnt to the Texas Alcohc
Beverage Code. There can be no assurance, howkatyninsured liabilities may not arise in the keds in which we operate which co
have a material adverse effect on the Company.
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Our Previous Liability Insurer May Be Unable to #ide Coverage to Us and Our Subsidiaries

We and our subsidiaries were insured under a itiglpblicy issued by Indemnity Insurance Corpomati®RRG (“lIC”) through October 2
2013—we switched to a different insurer on that datBy order dated November 7, 2013, the Court of Chgnof the State of Delaw:
declared IIC impaired, insolvent and in an unsafedition and placed IIC under the supervision &f tinsurance Commissioner of the Stal
Delaware (“Commissioner’ipn her capacity as receiver. The order empowtredCommissioner to rehabilitate 1IC through aegriof mean:
including gathering assets and marshaling thosetsages necessary. Further, the order stayedatedipending lawsuits involving IIC as
insurer until May 6, 2014. On April 10, 2014 aseault of a determination that IIC was not ableléwvelop a Rehabilitation Plan to remec
and correct its financial impairment, the CourtGifancery of the State of Delaware found that liGnsolvent and therefore ordered
liquidated. The Receiver in charge of the IIC Laation Proceeding has set a January 16, 2015 deali filing proof of claims to obta
proceeds from the liquidation to cover the reimbarent of funds paid on premium and on matters pusly covered under an IIC policy. 1
Company will timely file a proof of claim.

Currently, there are multiple civil lawsuits pengliar threatened against us and our subsidiariésvin@overed by the 1IC policy. There is ¢
the potential that other lawsuits of which we cothgare unaware could be filed against us fordeats that occurred before October 25, 2

There can be no assurances we will have adestence coverage for any of these lawsuitsis unknown at this time what effect, if a
this uncertainty will have on the Company.

Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's", "Rick's Gaba “Tootsie’s Cabaret”, “Club Onyx,” “XTC Cabet,” “Temptations,” “Jaguars,”
“Downtown Cabaret,” “Cabaret East,” Cabaret NortBgmbshells,” “Vee Lounge” and “The Black Orchidfe established under common |
based upon our substantial and continuous useestttradenames in interstate commerce, some ohwaice been in use at least as ear
1987. "RICK'S AND STARS DESIGN" logo, “RICKS,” RK'S CABARET", “CLUB ONYX", “XTC CABARET,” “SILVER CITY
CABARET”, “THE BLACK ORCHID", “BOMBSHELLS" and “EXOTIC DANCER” are registered through service mark registratisasei
by the United States Patent and Trademark Offitle. also own the rights to numerous tradenames iassdavith our media division. The
can be no assurance that these steps we havettakeotect our Service Marks will be adequate ttedenisappropriation of our protec
intellectual property rights. Litigation may be messary in the future to protect our rights fronringement, which may be costly and ti
consuming. The loss of the intellectual properghts owned or claimed by us could have a matediaise affect on our business.

Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspeai1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in oneaane series, to fix the number of shi
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigdrid preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by
stockholdersThe issuance of Preferred Stock by the Board oéddirs could adversely affect the rights of thedbd of common stock. F
example, such issuance could result in a clasgafrities outstanding that would have preferenciéls r@spect to voting rights and divide!
and in liquidation over the common stock, and cduilgon conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to common stock.
Board's authority to issue Preferred Stock coustalirage potential takeover attempts and couldydslgrevent a change in control of
Company through merger, tender offer, proxy contesitherwise by making such attempts more diffitmlachieve or more costly. There
no issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stoeke are no agreements or understandings foisiuance of Preferred Stock, and
Board of Directors has no present intention toesBreferred Stock.

We Have Not Paid Dividends on Common Shares Pt

Since our inception we have not paid any dividesd®ur common stock.

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress CaokRRrice

The market price of our common stock could decdisa result of sales of substantial amounts oEoommon stock in the public market, or i
result of the perception that these sales couldirodn addition, these factors could make it moifiadilt for us to raise funds through futt
offerings of common stock.

Our Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctumitihe Future

The trading price of our securities may fluctuagmigicantly. This price may be influenced by mdagtors, including:

our performance and prospec

the depth and liquidity of the market for our séties;

sales by selling shareholders of shares issuesboable in connection with certain convertible ag
investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate

changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiems by analyst:

general financial and other market conditions;

domestic economic conditior
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Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexpe, extreme price and trading volume volatiliihese broad market fluctuations r
adversely affect the market price of our securities

Our Management Controls a Significant Percentag@usfCurrent Outstanding Common Stock and Thearbsts May Conflict with Those
Our Shareholders

As of December 1, 2014, our Directors and executifieers and their respective affiliates colleeliw and beneficially owned approximat
6.38% of our outstanding common stock, includingvadrrants exercisable within 60 days. This coneitn of voting control gives o
Directors and executive officers and their respectiffiliates substantial influence over any matiehich require a shareholder vote, incluc
without limitation, the election of Directors, evértheir interests may conflict with those of ottshareholders. It could also have the effe
delaying or preventing a change in control of drestvise discouraging a potential acquirer fromrafténg to obtain control of us. This co
have a material adverse effect on the market micgur common stock or prevent our shareholdemnfrealizing a premium over the tt
prevailing market prices for their shares of commatotk.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large partetaining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ouedtdent and Chief Executive Officer. |
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive kmmadéaur industry. While Mr. Langan has no pregeans to leave or retire in the n
future, his loss could have a negative effect on aperating, marketing and financial performancevé are unable to find an adeqt
replacement with similar knowledge and experiendia our industry. We maintain keyan life insurance with respect to Mr. Lang
Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agrednf@sn described herein), there can be no assuthatdr. Langan will continue to
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hawegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.

Cumulative Voting is Not Available to Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors ispeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporationcodrdingly, the holder or holders o
majority of the outstanding shares of our commartistmay elect all of our Directors. Managemsntrge percentage ownership of
outstanding common stock helps enable them to miaittieir positions as such and thus control oflusiness and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabiliimé Have Rights to Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provids, germitted by governing Texas law, that our Doestand officers shall not be person
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongt@damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Direotoofficer, with certain exceptions. T
Articles further provide that we will indemnify olirectors and officers against expenses and liedsilthey incur to defend, settle, or sat
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having basrDirectors or officers unless, in st
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegéigence or willful misconduct.

The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleayrhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors a
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdersanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Raecand officers for breach of their d
of care, even though such an action, if successfigiht otherwise have benefited us and our stoddrs|

The Articles provide for the indemnification of oafficers and Directors, and the advancement tothé expenses in connection with |
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent pgechiby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvisimns meant to facilitate the indemnit
receipt of such benefits. These provisions covenpreg other things: (i) specification of the methofl determining entitlement
indemnification and the selection of independeninsel that will in some cases make such deternoinatii) specification of certain tin
periods by which certain payments or determinationsst be made and actions must be taken, andtlfi) establishment of certi
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisinghder the Securities Act may be permitted to ouedalors, officers and controlling pers
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have lahiised that in the opinion of the Securities ardhange Commission, such indemnifica
is against public policy as expressed in the SBearAct and is therefore unenforceable.

A failure to maintain food safety throughout th@gly chain and foodborne illness concerns may have an adverse effestinbusiness.

Food safety is a top priority, and we dedicate wrigl resources to ensuring that our guests esgbg, quality food products. However, fi
safety issues could be caused at the point of soordoy food suppliers or distributors and, as sulte be out of our control. In additic
regardless of the source or cause, any reportagiHborne ilinesses such as E. coli, hepatitis A, imickis or salmonella, and other food sa
issues including food tampering or contaminationp@e of our restaurants could adversely affectréputation of our brands and hav
negative impact on our sales. Even instances af-fmone iliness, food tampering or food contaminataourring solely at restaurants of
competitors could result in negative publicity abthe food service industry generally and advergelyact our sales. The occurrence of fooc
borne illnesses or food safety issues could alseradly affect the price and availability of affedtingredients, resulting in higher costs
lower margins.
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We may experience high#itananticipated costs associated with the opening of @stablishments which may adversely affect ounlte !
operations.

Our sales and expenses can be impacted significéytlthe number and timing of the opening of newhtélub and bar/restaur:
establishments. We incur substantial ppening expenses each time we open a new establighithe expenses of opening new locations
be higher than anticipated. An increase in sucleesps could have an adverse effect on our redulfsenations.

Other Risk Factors May Adversely Affect Our Finadderformance

Other risk factors that could cause our actualltesa differ materially from those indicated inetfiorwardlooking statements by affectir
among many things, pricing, consumer spending ams$umer confidence, include, without limitationaohes in economic conditions
financial and credit markets, credit availabilitpcreased fuel costs and availability for our engpks, customers and suppliers, he
epidemics or pandemics or the prospects of thesaetgysuch as reports on avian flu), consumer p#ores of food safety, changes
consumer tastes and behaviors, governmental mgnptdicies, changes in demographic trends, tetratss, energy shortages and rol
blackouts, and weather (including, major hurricazied regional snow storms) and other acts of God.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive office is located at 1095@tten Road, Houston, Texas 77066, and consisés 9000 square feet office/warehc
building. This executive office is no longer adeigue meet our needs and we have recently acqaiteact of land nearby where we plai
build a new executive office facility.

Our nightclubs and their locations are summarizethe “Schedule of Clubsh Item 1, which is incorporated herein by refen®f thes
clubs, we own the real estate for 34 and leasetther 12. We also own three other properties, drvehich is presently leased to third par
and two which we are seeking tenants. The leagethéoproperties we lease are typically for a fixedtal rate without revenue percent
rentals. The lease terms generally have initiahteof ten to twenty years with renewal terms oéfte twenty years. At September 30, 2!
certain of our owned properties were collateralrfmrtgage debt amounting to approximately $36.2ignil Also see more information in {
following Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemserid. - Property and Equipment, F. - Long-Term Dehtd J. -Commitments ar
Contingencies.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

See the “Legal MattersSection within Note J, Commitments and Contingesice# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementhimvithis
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the requirementshdd Item, which section is incorporated hereirréference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global k¢aunder the symbol "RICK". The following tabletséorth the quarterly high a
low of sales prices per share for the common sfocthe last two fiscal years.

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2!

First Quarte! $ 1278 $ 10.0¢
Second Quarte $ 12.1C 3 10.5]
Third Quartel $ 11.7¢  $ 9.8¢
Fourth Quarte $ 12.08 3 10.22
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2!

First Quartel $ 8.44 $ 7.6¢
Second Quarte $ 9.1z $ 7.9¢



Third Quartel $ 89z $ 8.21
Fourth Quarte $ 1268 $ 8.7(C
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On December 8, 2014, the last sales price for tanwon stock as reported by NASDAQ was $9.64. Onebder 1, 2014, there wi
approximately 689 stockholders of record of our o stock (excluding shares held by shareholdesgré@et name).

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
The transfer agent and registrar for our commocoksi®American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 626ith Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid cash dividends on our common stOck current policy is to retain all earningsaify, to provide funds for operation ¢
expansion of our business. The declaration of divits, if any, will be subject to the discretionttedé Board of Directors, which may consi
such factors as our results of operation, finarmaldition, capital needs and acquisition strategypng others.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors ai#éd us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of common stock in the open market.

of April, 2013, we completed the repurchase of$alimillion in stock authorized under this plan. @pril 25, 2013, our Board of Directc
authorized us to repurchase up to an additionah#i®n worth of our common stock in the open mar&ein privately negotiated transactic
During May 2014, our Board of Directors increaskd tepurchase authorization to $10 million. Durihg fiscal year ended September
2014, we purchased 101,330 shares of common stotikei open market at prices ranging from $10.431®.00 and during the fiscal yi
ended September 30, 2013, we purchased 179,95&ssbiacommon stock in the open market at pricegingnfrom $7.84 to $8.95. During 1
year ended September 30, 2013, we also purchasBfi0l&hares of common stock from put option holdgrprices ranging from $8.12
$8.63 per share. Under the Board's authority, we $8.8 million remaining to purchase additionar&ls as of September 30, 2014.

Following is a summary of our purchases by month:

(in thousands, except per share data)

Period: (a) (b) (c) (d)
Maximum
Total Number (or
Number of Approximate
Shares (o Dollar Value)
Units) of Shares (o
Purchased & Units) that
Part of May Yet be
Total Numbel Publicly Purchase!
of Shares (o Average Announcec Under the
Units) Price Paic Plans ol Plans ol
Month Ending Purchase! per Share (2 Programs(1 Programs
Jul-14 31 $ 11.11 31 8 9,70(
Aug-14 31 $ 11.4% 31 8 9,30(
Sep-14 39 8 11.5Z 39 8 8,80(
Total for the three months ended Sept 30, 2 101 101

(1) All shares were purchased pursuant to the repuegblas approved in April 2013, as described ab
(2) Prices include any commissions and transactiorsc
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
The following table sets forth all equity compeisatplans as of September 30, 2014:

(in thousands, except per share data)

Number of
securities
remaining
available
for future
Number of issuance
securities tc Weighte(- under
be issue( average equity
upon exercise compensatiol
exercise o price of plans
outstanding outstanding (excluding
options, options, securities
warrants warrants reflected in
and rights and rights column (a))
Plan categor
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 1C $ 8.7(C -0-

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andirriely qualified personnel, we believe that ounufatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfietl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
equity ownership is an important factor in our @pilo attract and retain skilled personnel. Weédadopted stock option plans (the “Plarfsf)
employees and directors. The purpose of the Ptatsfurther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in
form of stock options to key employees and directeno contribute materially to our success anditataifity. The grants recognize and rew
outstanding individual performances and contrimgi@nd will give such persons a proprietary inteineais, thus enhancing their persc
interest in our continued success and progress.Pl&ies also assist us and our subsidiaries inctitigpand retaining key employees
directors. The Plans are administered by the Boaflirectors. The Board of Directors has the exelipower to select the participants in
Plans, to establish the terms of the options gdatdesach participant, provided that all optionanged shall be granted at an exercise
equal to at least 85% of the fair market valuehaf tommon stock covered by the option on the gilate and to make all determinati
necessary or advisable under the Plans.

In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Optiam Pthe “1999 Planjvith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusaler the 19¢€
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Ament to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentihich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholdapproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amed”), which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1.5 million. TheQlB8n was terminated by law in July 2009. Ourr8az Directors approved the 2010 St
Option Plan (“the 2010 Planhn September 30, 2010. The 2010 Plan was apptoyebe shareholders of the Company for adoptiothe
2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. As of Septer8be2014, there are 10,000 stock options outgtgnd

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

On July 2, 2014, we granted a total of 96,325 shafgestricted common shares to our Chief Exeeulficer of RCIHH and an officer of
subsidiary. The shares will vest on the secondvansary of the grant date if the individuals ai sinployed by us at that time. The secur
sold qualified for exemption from registration und&ection 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 dine rules and regulations promulg:
thereunder. The sale of securities did not invalVpublic offering”based upon the following factors: (i) the salethefsecurities were isolat
private transactions; (ii) a limited number of sdites were issued to a limited number of offerd@g;there was no public solicitation; (iv) t
offerees were “accredited investors”; (v) the irm@nt intent of the offerees; and (vi) the resimicton transferability of the securities issued.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following chart compares theygar cumulative total stock performance of our camratock, the NASDAQ Composite Index and a
group consisting of: B3’ Restaurant Group, Cheesecake Factory, Ark Restizuand Buffalo Wild Wings. The graph assumes $480 wa
invested at inception in our common stock and itheaf the indices and that all dividends were regted. The measurement points utilize
the graph consist of the last trading day as ofteSaper 30 each year, representing the last dayupffiscal year. The historical stc

performance presented below is not intended tongeginot be indicative of future stock performance.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth certain of the Comga historical financial data. The selected histdrimansolidated financial data as
September 30, 2014 and 2013 and for the years eBdptbmber 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 have been defriom the Compang audite:
consolidated financial statements and the relat#ésnincluded elsewhere herein. The selected hiatoconsolidated financial data as
September 30, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and for the yrated September 30, 2011 and 2010 have been didrova the Companyg audite:
financial statements for such years, which areimdtided in this Annual Report on Form KO-The selected historical consolidated finar
data set forth are not necessarily indicative ef sults of future operations and should be reazbhjunction with the discussion under
heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofRcial Condition and Results of Operatiores;it the historical consolidated finan
statements and accompanying notes included herbm.historical results are not necessarily indieatf the results to be expected in
future period.

Please read the following selected consolidatednfifal data in conjunction with “ManagementDiscussion and Analysis of Finan
Condition and Results of Operatioreid our consolidated financial statements anddlaead notes appearing elsewhere in this Annuab#
on Form 10-K for a discussion of information thall enhance understanding of this data.

(in thousands, except per share d

Year Ended September : 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Revenue $ 129,17 $ 112,20t $ 95,22( $ 83,49. $ 74,06:
Net income $ 11,24C % 9,191 $ 757¢  $ 7,846 $ (7,959
Fully diluted net income per common sh $ 1.1 % 0.9¢ $ 0.7¢ $ 0.7¢ $ (0.82)
Total asset $ 239,14: $ 223,10 $ 192,39 $ 153,377 $ 148,37
Total RCIHH permanent stockholders' eqt $ 110,28¢ $ 93,78. $ 84,30¢ $ 76,91: $ 69,93¢
Total Lon¢-term debt $ 70,35. $ 78,59. $ 63,52( $ 35,55 $ 42,68¢

Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.
OVERVIEW

The following Management's Discussion and Analg$iEinancial Condition and Results of Operatiotd[P&A") is intended to help the
reader understand RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inar, operations and our present business environitHD&A is provided as a supplement to
— and should be read in conjunction with — our cdidated financial statements and the accompanyatgsthereto contained in "ltem 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" efrdport. This overview summarizes the MD&A, whinbludes the following sections:

« Our Business —a general description of our business and the anlgiitclub industry, our objective, our strategitopties, our cor

capabilities, and challenges and risks of our assi
- Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — a d&sion of accounting policies that require criticalgments and estimates.
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« Operations Review —an analysis of our Company's consolidated restiltgperations for the three years presented in onsalidate
financial statement:
» Liquidity and Capital Resources — an analysis shcdows; aggregate contractual obligations andwaview of financial position.

GENERAL INFORMATION
Operations:

1. Our wholly owned subsidiaries own and/or operatscafe adult nightclubs serving primarily businessraad professionals. The
nightclubs are in Houston, Austin, San Antonio, |Bs| Fort Worth, Beaumont, Longview, Harlingen, rifirg, Abilene, Lubbock, |
Paso and Odessa, Texas; Charlotte, North Caroltaneapolis, Minnesota; New York, New York; Miamia@lens, Florid:
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Phoenix, Arizona arttiamapolis, Indiana. No sexual contact is permittedny of these location

2. Our wholly owned subsidiaries own a media donsiincluding the leading trade magazine servirg rhulti-billion dollar adul
nightclubs industry. We also own an industry tradew, one other industry trade publications andentioan 15 industry website

3. Our wholly owned subsidiaries own and operate-ault nightclubs, sports bars, and restaurantoimston, Dallas, Austin, Webster,
Spring, and Fort Worth, Texas under the brand na@oesbshells, Vee Lounge, and Union Square (opeinii@gecember 2014

Our revenues are derived from the sale of liqueerpwine, food, merchandise, cover charges, meshigefees, independent contractors' 1
commissions from vending and ATM machines, valekipg and other products and services. Media reggrnnclude the sale of advertis
content and revenues from an annual Expo converflanfiscal year end is September 30.

Our goal is to use our Company's assetou+ brands, financial strength and the talent anohg commitment of our management
associates — to become more competitive and tdexete growth in a manner that creates value foshareholders.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Managemens discussion and analysis of financial conditiod eesults of operations are based upon our finhat@aéements, which have bt
prepared in accordance with United States geneaaltgpted accounting principles (“GAAP'GAAP consists of a set of standards issue
the FASB and other authoritative bodies in the fafFASB Statements, Interpretations, FASB Staf§iftlans, Emerging Issues Task Fc
consensuses and American Institute of Certified liPulccountants Statements of Position, among ath@&he FASB recognized 1
complexity of its standardetting process and embarked on a revised prone8804 that culminated in the release on July D926f the
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC"Y.he ASC does not change how Company accounts ddrahsactions or the nature of reli
disclosures made. Rather, the ASC results in dmtghow the Company references accounting stasdathin its reports. This change \
made effective by the FASB for periods ending omfter September 15, 2009. The Company has updefectnces to GAAP in this Anni
Report on Form 106 to reflect the guidance in the ASC. The preparadf these consolidated financial statementsireguur management
make estimates and assumptions that affect thertesp@mounts of assets, liabilities, revenues axukreses, and related disclosure
contingent assets and liabilities. On a regulaidave evaluate these estimates, including investimpairment. These estimates are bas
managemen$ historical industry experience and on various eotlassumptions that are believed to be reasonablgeru thi
circumstances. Actual results may differ from thestimates.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Praxgsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrajghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 yeBkrsniture, equipment and leasehold improvementg lestimated useful lives between
and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals atitments that extend the useful lives are capéighl Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costisetsaasold or abandoned and the related accumuefedciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditectén the accompanying consolidated statememanfime of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FASB ASC 350,ntangibles- Goodwill and Otheraddresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB ASC :
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite Bvare no longer amortized, but reviewed on an dnmasis for impairment. Definite live
intangible assets are amortized on a straightdia&is over their estimated lives. Fully amortizedets are writteoff against accumulat
amortization.

18




Impairment of LonelLived Assets

In accordance with ASC 205, loriged assets, such as property, plant, and equipraed purchased intangible assets subject to @ation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or gharin circumstances indicate that the carryinguamof an asset may not be recover:
Recoverability of assets to be held and used issoved by a comparison of the carrying amount ochsset to estimated undiscounted ft
cash flows expected to be generated by the agsbie lcarrying amount of an asset exceeds its agtinfuture cash flows, an impairm
charge is recognized by the amount by which theyiray amount of the asset exceeds the fair valubehsset. Assets to be disposed of w
be separately presented in the balance sheet poded at the lower of the carrying amount or faitue less costs to sell, and are no lo
depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a delpgoup classified as held for sale would be presk separately in the appropriate asse
liability sections of the balance sheet.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have indefingeful lives are tested annually for impairment are tested for impairment more freque
if events and circumstances indicate that the amfgit be impaired. An impairment loss is recogdizo the extent that the carrying amc
exceeds the asset’s fair value.

For goodwill, the impairment determination is made¢he reporting unit level. The implied fair valoegoodwill is determined by allocating
fair value of the reporting unit in a manner simila a purchase price allocation. The residualalue after this allocation is the implied
value of the reporting unit goodwil. The Compangisnual evaluation for goodwill and indefinifged intangible assets was performed &
September 30, 2014. The Company recognized intenggset impairments in the year ended Septemhe203@ related to specific report
units. See Note O, Impairment of Assets. The Ceammid not recognize impairment for the years enSegtember 30, 2013 and 2012. A
the Companys goodwill and intangible assets relate to the telghs, except for $567,000 related to the acqaisibf the media divisio
Definite lived intangible assets are amortized ostraight-line basis over their estimated livesllyFamortized assets are writt@ff agains
accumulated amortization.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other tmgand services at the pointsatle
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertigsintent are recognized when the issue is publisinedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo odioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.
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Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiaimethod in accordance with FASB ASC 746come Taxes. Deferred tax assets
liabilities are recognized for the future tax cansences attributable to differences between thanfiral statement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebaBeferred tax assets and liabilities are medsusiang enacted tax rates expected to apj
taxable income in the years in which those tempodéferences are expected to be recovered oredeflihe effect on deferred tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized@come in the period that includes the enactnueié. In addition, a valuation allowanc
established to reduce any deferred tax asset farhwhis determined that it is more likely thantribat some portion of the deferred tax &
will not be realized.

GAAP creates a single model to address accountingificertainty in tax positions by prescribing anmium recognition threshold a 1
position is required to meet before being recoghizethe financial statements. There are no unmized tax benefits to be recordec
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated findrstédements.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company has issued icestr common shares as partial consideration fquiations of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtiverning acquisition agreements, the holderughsshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrgls or, if management elects not to do so, theéehalan sell the monthly shares in the ¢
market, and any deficiency between the amount wtietholder receives from the sale of the monthlres and the agreed fixed price ol
shares will be paid by the Company. The Compansydtaounted for these shares in accordance witguitkance established by FASB A
480, Distinguishing Liabilities From Equityas a reclassification of the value of the sharesifpermanent to temporary equity. As the st
become due, the Company transfers the value adltaees back to permanent equity, less any amoiohtg#he holder. Also sederivative
Financial Instrumentsabove. We finished liquidating the put optiongidg the quarter ended March 31, 2013 and we havenaore
obligations under the put options.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per shareciordance with FASB ASC 26&arnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per sHBasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniamdmputed by dividing income availabl
common stockholders by the weighted average nurmbeommon shares outstanding for the period. Ddutarnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shardghe earnings of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of sharasihg arise from outstanding dilutive common stogkions and warrants (the numbe
which is computed using the “treasury stock methadit from outstanding convertible debentures (thabar of which is computed using
“if converted method”). Diluted EPS considers thaemtial dilution that could occur if the Compasydutstanding common stock optic
warrants and convertible debentures were conventedcommon stock that then shared in the Commargrnings (loss) (as adjusted
interest expense, that would no longer occur ifdleentures were converted).

Stock Options

The Company recognizes all employee stock-basegensation as a cost in the consolidated finantadéments. Equitglassified awards a
measured at the grant date fair value of the awilrd. Company estimates grant date fair value usiadlack-Scholes optiopricing model.
The critical estimates are volatility, expecteeé iind risk-free rate.

The compensation cost recognized for the years cer@&ptember 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $282,30%/,#83 and $314,7¢
respectively. There were 369,665, zero and zexkgiptions exercises for the years ended Septedih@014 and 2013 and 2012.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

Results of Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended Sépmber 30, 2014 as Compared to the Fiscal Year Endi&eptember 30, 2012

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014, wecbasolidated total revenues of $129.2 milliormpared to consolidated total revenue
$112.2 million for the year ended September 30,320his was an increase of $17.0 million or 15.1Re increase in total revenues
primarily due to revenues generated in our newsuaitquired in 2014, a full year of revenues frontsupurchased in 2013 and increase

revenues from certain of our existing units, esgplcfrom our Jaguars Odessa, XTC Austin and Dadlad Ricks New York, San Antonio a
Minnesota locations. Revenues from nightclub aj@ma for same-location same-period increased 8%02.
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Our operating margin (income (loss) from operatidivided by total revenues) was 14.6% for the yaated September 30, 2014 compart
19.5% for the prior year. The decrease is printipduie to the settlements of lawsuits and othertome costs in 2014.

Our income from operations for our nightclub opiera for the same-location-same-period decreasead.

Our net income was $11.2 million for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2014 compared to $9.2 miiliothe previous year. The increas
our net income is explained in the following paegirs.

Following is a comparison of the Compasiyicome statement for the years ended Septemb@02@ and 2013 with percentages compar
total revenue:

(in thousands) 2014 % 2013 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 51,768 40.1% $ 43,18¢ 38.5%
Sales of food and merchand 15,84" 12.3%  12,24¢ 10.9%
Service Revenue 54,66¢ 42.3%  49,97¢ 44.5%
Other 6,89¢ 5.3% 6,79¢ 6.1%

Total Revenue 129,17: 100.% 112,20¢ 100.(%
Cost of Goods Sol 16,42¢ 12.%  14,15: 12.6%
Salaries & Wage 28,18: 21.6% 25,14t 22.%
Stoclk-based Compensatic 282 0.2% 847 0.8%
Taxes and permit 20,05¢ 15.5% 17,61: 15.7%
Charge card fee 1,79( 1.4% 1,482 1.23%
Rent 4,80¢ 3. ™% 3,64: 3.2%
Legal & professiona 3,41¢ 2.6% 2,59¢ 2.3%
Advertising and marketin 5,57¢ 4.3% 4,611 4.1%
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,31¢ 4.9% 5,33 4.8%
Insurance 3,99¢ 3.1% 2,20¢ 2.C%
Utilities 2,68¢ 2.1% 2,241 2.C%
(Gain) loss on sale of assets and o 27¢ 0.2% 18 0.C%
Impairment of asse 2,29/ 1.8% - 0.C%
Settlements of lawsuits and other -time costs 3,69¢ 2.9% 707 0.€%
Other 10,50: 8.1% 9,72% 8.7%
Total operating expenses 110,29¢ 85.&%  90,32¢ 80.5%

Income from operatior 18,87¢ 14.€% 21,88: 19.5%
Interest incom 14¢ 0.1% 10 0.C%
Interest expens (7,357 -5.8%  (6,53¢) -5.8%
Interest expens- loan origination cost (395) -0.2% (539 -0.5%
Gain on contractual debt reduction 5,64 4.4% - 0.C%
Income before income taxes $ 16,91 13.1% $ 14,81 13.2%

Following is an explanation of significant variasda the above amounts.

Other revenues include ATM commissions earned,ovigiimes and other vending and certain promotios daarged to our entertainers.
Company recognizes revenue from other revenueseamites at the point-of-sale upon receipt of cabbgk, or credit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic and-@coholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/binding i
media. Our cost of goods sold for the nightcluleragions for the year ended September 30, 20141&a%6 of our total revenues from c
operations compared to 12.6% for the year endeteBdyer 30, 2013. Cost of goods sold for same-lonsgameperiod decreased to 12.1%
the year ended September 30, 2014 compared to 13#ie year ended September 30, 2013. We cordioue efforts to achieve reductic
in cost of goods sold of the club operations thioirgproved inventory management. We are continaiqgogram to improve margins fri
liquor and food sales and food service efficiency.
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The increase in payroll and related costs, stasetBalaries & Wagesabove, was primarily due to the addition of the nevits in 2014 ar
2013. Payroll for same-location-samperiod of club operations decreased to $19.2 milfr the year ended September 30, 2014 from !
million for the previous year. Management currgiitlieves that its labor and management staffi$eanee appropriate.

The decrease in stoddased compensation in 2014 results from the issuahoptions in June and July 2012 to employees Board o
Directors. These options vested after one yedy thuis, the cost of these options were principatiyensed in the 2013 fiscal year.

Taxes and permits consists principally of payrales, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxegisiseand permits and the patron tax ir
nightclubs in Texas. The increase in 2014 reguitscipally from the new units acquired. Patrorets amounted to $3.1 million and ¢
million for the years ended September 30, 2014281, respectively.

Rent increased principally due to increased ramtsoth of our New York clubs, our Los Angeles chuld our restaurants opening in le:
locations.

Legal and professional expenses increased prigigaé to increased activity in the New York latewsuit.

Insurance expense increased due to the new unitdmdue to a general increase in the insuramceur industry and due to our loss his
for general liability insurance. Also see Note &n@nitments and Contingencies, of Notes to Conswiidinancial Statements for m
information regarding our former general liabilibsurer.

Depreciation and amortization increased approxitp&i#.0 million from the year ended September 3.2 due to the new units purchs
and opened during 2014 and 2013.

Utilities increased principally due to new units.
See Note O, Impairment of Assets, of Notes to Clitested Financial Statements for an explanatiothefimpairment of assets.

Settlement of lawsuits and other time costs in 2014 consists principally of settletn@&f suits relating to the bankruptcy of our gethdinbility
insurance carrier, as explained in Note J, Commitmand Contingencies of Notes to Consolidatedrfeiiah Statements.

Other expenses increased due to the new unitsradqui

See Note P, Gain on Contractual Debt ReductionNaties to Consolidated Financial Statements, foregplanation of the $5.6 millic
contractual debt reduction item.

We added more debt from acquisitions while we pdiidiebt as we amortize the loans. As of SepterBbeR014, the balance of lortgrm dek
was $70.4 million compared to $78.6 million a yearlier.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our financial information presentiedaccordance with GAAP, management uses certan-®AAP financial measuresvithin
the meaning of the SEC Regulation G, to clarify antlance understanding of past performance anggutssfor the future. Generally, a non
GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure abmpanys operating performance, financial position or clslws that excludes
includes amounts that are included in or excludedhfthe most directly comparable measure calculateti presented in accordance
GAAP. We monitor norGAAP financial measures because it describes teeatipg performance of the company and helps maneagean
investors gauge our ability to generate cash flexeluding some recurring charges that are inclidede most directly comparable meas
calculated and presented in accordance with GAA#atRe to each of the ndBAAP financial measures, we further set forth ationale a
follows:

Nor-GAAP Operating Income and Non-GAAP Operating Mar§fi’e exclude from non-GAAP operating income and @#HAP operatin
margin amortization of intangibles, patron taxee-g@pening costs, gains and losses from asset, sitmkbased compensation charg
litigation and other onéme legal settlements, gain on contractual dethticBon and acquisition costs. We believe thatwiclg these iten
assists investors in evaluating period-operiod changes in our operating income and opeyatiargin without the impact of items that are
a result of our day-to-day business and operations.

Nor-GAAP Net Income and Non-GAAP Net Income per Baiséze and per Diluted ShardVe exclude from non-GAAP net income and nor
GAAP net income per diluted share and per basiceshaortization of intangibles, patron taxes, @pening costs, income tax expel
impairment charges, gains and losses from asses,ssiock-based compensation, litigation and otimextime legal settlements, gain
contractual debt reduction and acquisition cogtsl iaclude the Non-GAAP provision for income taxealculated as the teeffect at 359
effective tax rate of the pre-tax non-GAAP incomefdoe taxes less stodlased compensation, because we believe that emglulicl
measures helps management and investors bettenstanttb our operating activities.
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Adjusted EBITDA. We exclude from earnings before interest, taxdepreciation andamortization (EBITDA) depreciation exper
amortization of intangibles, income tax, interegtense, interest income, gains and losses front sakss, acquisition costs, litigation and o
onetime legal settlements, gain on contractual detfticBon and impairment charges because we belleateadjusting for such items he
management and investors better understand opgietiivities. Adjusted EBITDA provides a core og&naal performance measurement
compares results without the need to adjust foreFdd state and local taxes which have considerablgation between domes
jurisdictions. Also, we exclude interest cost iar @alculation of Adjusted EBITDA. The results atberefore, without consideration
financing alternatives of capital employed. We ésiusted EBITDA as one guideline to assess ouruariged performance return on
investments. Adjusted EBITDA is also the targetdienark for our acquisitions of nightclubs.

The following tables present our non-GAAP meastweshe periods indicated (in thousands, excepspare amounts):

For the Year Ende

September 3(

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Reconciliation of GAAP net income to Adjusted EBITDA
GAAP net income $ 11,24C $ 9,191 $ 7,57¢
Income tax expens 5,91¢ 5,41¢ 4,29;
Interest expense and income and gain on deriv 7,752 7,06 4,17
Litigation and other or-time settlement 3,69¢ 707 2,53
Impairment of asse’ 2,29¢ - -
Pre-opening cost 80C 66C -
Acquisition costs 124 16€ 462
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,31¢ 5,33 4,96¢
Gain on contractual debt reduction (5,64%) - -
Adjusted EBITDA $ 32,49¢ $ 28,54: $ 24,00
Reconcilation of GAAP net income (loss) to non-GAARet income
GAAP net income $ 1124 $ 9,191 $ 7,57¢
Patron tay 3,121 3,23¢ 3,01¢
Amortization of intangible: 33€ 40¢ 463
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatimstiument: - @ (119
Stoclk-based compensatic 282 847 31t
Litigation and other or-time settlement 3,69¢ 707 2,53
Income tax expens 5,91¢ 5,41¢ 4,29;
Impairment of asse 2,29¢ - -
Pre-opening cost 80C 66C -
Acquisition costt 124 16€ 462
Gain on contractual debt reducti (5,647 - -
Non-GAAP provision for income taxes (7,660 (6,922) (6,38))
Non-GAAP net income $ 14507 $ 13,70t $ 12,16:
Reconciliation of GAAP diluted net income per shareo non-GAAP
diluted net income per share
Fully diluted shares 10,63’ 9,61°F 9,697
GAAP net income $ 11T $ 09 $ 0.7¢
Patron tay 0.2¢ 0.34 0.31
Amortization of intangible: 0.0z 0.04 0.0t
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatinstiument: - (0.00 (0.03)
Stoclk-based compensatic 0.0z 0.0¢ 0.0:
Litigation and other or-time settlement 0.3t 0.07 0.2¢
Impairment of asse 0.22 - -
Income tax expens 0.5€ 0.5€ 0.44
Pre-opening cost 0.0¢ 0.07 -
Acquisition costs 0.01 0.0z 0.0t
Gain on contractual debt reducti (0.53 - -
Non-GAAP provision for income taxes (0.72) (0.72) (0.66€)
Non-GAAP diluted net income per share $ 144 $ 1.4 $ 1.2t
Reconciliation of GAAP operating income to no-GAAP operating
income
GAAP operating incom $ 18,87 $ 21,88: $ 16,51
Patron tay 3,121 3,23¢ 3,01¢

Amortization of intangible: 33€ 40¢ 465
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Results of Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended Sépmber 30, 2013 as Compared to the Fiscal Year Endi&eptember 30, 2012

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2013, Wecbasolidated total revenues of $112.2 milliormpared to consolidated total revenue
$95.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2012s was an increase of $17.0 million or 17.8%e Tincrease in total revenues
primarily due to revenues generated in our newsckdyuired in 2013 ($3.5 million in 2013), a fullar of revenues from clubs purchase
2012 (increase of $14.2 million) and increasesirenues from certain of our existing clubs, esplgdieom our XTC Austin, Ricks DFW ani
Rick’s Minnesota locations. Revenues from nigHichperations for same-location saperiod decreased by 1.2%. Our operating m;
(income (loss) from operations divided by totaleewes) was 19.7% for the year ended September033, @mpared to 17.3% for the p
year.

Our income from operations for our nightclub opiera for the same-location-same-period decreaseld19.

Our net income was $9.2 million for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2013 compared to $7.6 milliothe previous year. The increas
our net income is explained in the following paggirs.

Following is a comparison of the Compasiyhcome statement for the years ended Septemb@038 and 2012 with percentages compar
total revenue:

(in thousands) 2013 % 2012 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 43,18¢ 38.2% $ 38,68 40.6%
Sales of food and merchand 12,24¢ 10.% 8,81( 9.2%
Service Revenue 49,97 44.5% 41,94 44.(%
Other 6,79¢ 6.1% 5,781 6.1%

Total Revenue 112,20¢ 100.%  95,22( 100.(%
Cost of Goods Sol 14,15: 12.6% 12,64« 13.2%
Salaries & Wage 25,14t 22.4% 20,85 21.¢%
Stoclk-based Compensatic 847 0.8% 31t 0.2%
Taxes and permit 17,61: 15.7% 14,75¢ 15.5%
Charge card fee 1,482 1.3% 1,352 1.4%
Rent 3,64 3.2% 2,87 3.C%
Legal & professiona 2,59¢ 2.2% 3,42¢ 3.6%
Advertising and marketin 4,611 4.1% 4,04¢ 4.2%
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,331 4.8% 4,96¢ 5.2%
Insurance 2,20¢ 2.L% 1,43¢ 1.5%
Utilities 2,241 2.C% 1,74¢ 1.8%
Gain (loss) on sale of assets and o 18 0.C% 332 0.2%
Impairment of asse - 0.C% - 0.C%
Settlements of lawsuits and other -time costs 707 0.€% 2,53t 2.7%
Other 9,72: 8.7% 7,67¢ 8.1%
Total operating expenses 90,32¢ 80.5% 78,96 82.¢%

Income from operatior 21,88: 19.5% 16,25¢ 17.1%
Interest incom 9 0.C% 19 0.C%
Interest expens (6,539 -5.8% (4,009 -4.2%
Interest expens- loan origination cost (539) -0.5% (310) -0.2%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatinstiuments 1 0.C% 117 0.1%
Income from continuing operations before incomesax $ 14,81¢ 13.2% $ 12,08: 12.7%
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Following is an explanation of significant variasda the above amounts.

Other revenues include ATM commissions earned,ovigiimes and other vending and certain promotios daarged to our entertainers.
Company recognizes revenue from other revenueseamites at the point-of-sale upon receipt of cabbgk, or credit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic and-@coholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/binding i
media. Our cost of goods sold for the nightcluleragions for the year ended September 30, 201312#&86 of our total revenues from c
operations compared to 13.3% for the year endeteBdyer 30, 2012. Cost of goods sold for same-lonsgameperiod decreased to 12.8%
the year ended September 30, 2013 compared to 1f8d3the year ended September 30, 2012, princighlly to the addition of the Jagt
locations, which are BYOB (Bring Your Own Boozelthwiower costs, for the entire year. We continuadedforts to achieve reductions in ¢
of goods sold of the club operations through imprbinventory management. We are continuing a progeaimprove margins from liquor a
food sales and food service efficiency.

The increase in payroll and related costs, stasetBalaries & Wagesabove, was primarily due to the addition of the reubs in 2013 ar
2012. Payroll for same-location-sameriod of club continuing operations decreased8siigo $16.78 million for the year ended Septenti@
2013 from $16.84 million for the previous year. Mgement currently believes that its labor and mement staff levels are appropriate.

The increase in stodkased compensation in 2013 results from the issuafi®ptions in June and July 2012 to employees Board o
Directors. These options vested after one yedy thus, the cost of these options were principatiyensed in the 2013 fiscal year.

Taxes and permits consists principally of payrales, property taxes, sales and alcohol taxegisiseand permits and the patron tax ir
nightclubs in Texas. The increase in 2013 requiitscipally from the new clubs acquired. Patroret amounted to $3.2 million and ¢
million for the years ended September 30, 2013281, respectively.

Legal and professional expenses decreased prihciha to certain onéme lawsuit and other legal settlements amourtiing2.5 million an
$462,000 in legal fees related to new acquisitioriz012.

Insurance expense increased due to the new clutaEdaudue to a general increase in the insurasrceur industry and due to our loss his
for general liability insurance.

Depreciation and amortization increased approxim&@.4 million from the year ended September 3M2 due to the new clubs purche
during 2013 and 2012.

Utilities increased principally due to new clubs.
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Other expenses increased due to the new clubsradqui

We added more debt from acquisitions while we pdiidiebt as we amortize the loans. As of SepterBbeR013, the balance of lorigrm dek
was $78.6 million compared to $63.5 million a yearlier. The increase is principally attributatdeadding $24.8 million in debt in the 2(
acquisitions, principally real estate.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe our ability to generate cash from opegadctivities is one of our fundamental finanagtengths. Refer to the heading "Cash F
from Operating Activities" below. The neterm outlook for our business remains strong, aadcexpect to generate substantial cash flows
operations in 2015. As a result of our expectedh ¢esvs from operations, we have significant flakth to meet our financial commitmen
The Company has not recently raised capital thrahghssuance of equity securities. Instead, wedase financing to lower our overall cos
capital and increase our return on shareowner#yedrefer to the heading "Cash Flows from Finagdtivities" below. We have a history
borrowing funds in private transactions and froifesg in acquisition transactions and continuedwehthe ability to borrow funds at reason
interest rates in that manner. We have historiaailized these cash flows to invest in propertd aquipment and adult nightclubs. Refer tc
heading “Cash Flows from Investing Activities” belo

As of September 30, 2014, excluding the Patron liEdoility, we had a working capital deficit of $0million compared to working capital
$4.8 million as of September 30, 2013. The decreapencipally due to the cash utilized for invagtactivities. Because of the large volt
of cash we handle, stringent cash controls have eplemented. At September 30, 2014, our cashcastl equivalents were $10.0 mill
compared to $10.7 million at September 30, 2013.

Our depreciation for the year ended September @D} 2vas $6.0 million compared to $4.9 million fbetyear ended September 30, 2013.
amortization for the year ended September 30, 2241$336,000 compared to $409,000 for the yeardeS8dptember 30, 2013.

Sources and Use of Funds
Cash flows from operating activities are genertllly result of net income adjusted for depreciatind amortization expenses, deferred t:
(increases) decreases in accounts receivable, tories) and prepaid expenses and increases (desyegasaccounts payable and acci

liabilities. See a summary of these activities telo

Cash flows used in investing activities generadiffect payments relating to acquisitions of busgas, property and equipment and marke
securities. See a summary of these activities helow

Cash flows from financing activities generally egfl proceeds from issuance of shares and femg-debt, and payments on debt anc
options and purchase of treasury stock. See a syynohthese activities below.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Following are our summarized cash flows from opegaactivities:

(in thousands Year Ended September &
2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 10,997 $ 9,40z $ 7,79(
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,31¢ 5,33i 4,96¢
Deferred taxe 937 261 1,85¢
Stock compensation exper 282 847 31t
Contractual debt reductic (5,647) - -
Impairment of asse 2,29¢ - -
Change in operating assets and liabili 4,90( 2,231 3,08¢
Other 351 282 40¢

$ 20,43t $ 18,36( $ 18,42:
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Following are our summarized cash flows from inegsactivities:

(in thousands Year Ended September @
2014 2013 2012
Net activities in marketable securities and otleset $ 43¢ $ 40 $ 74E
Acquisition of development rights in New York Buirhdj (5,325 - -
Additions to property and equipme (16,039 (9,675 (6,89¢)
Additions of businesses, net of cash acquired (500) (1,790 (4,882)

$  (21,42) $ (11,429 $§ (11,03

Following is a reconciliation of our additions tooperty and equipment for the years ended Septegther014, 2013 and 2012:

(in thousands) Year Ended September &
2014 2013 2012
Acquisition of real estat $ 3,34¢ $ 16,91 $ 6,154
Capital expenditures funded by d (4,879 6,43 (6,23¢€)
New capital expenditure in new clubs and purchdséroraft 15,86¢ (14,880) 4,632
Maintenance capital expenditures 1,701 1,207 2,34¢
Total capital expenditures in consolidated stateménash flows $ 16,03¢ $ 9,67t $ 6,89¢

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

(in thousands Year Ended September @
2014 2013 2012
Proceeds from lor-term debt $ 7,028 $ 9,49¢ $ =
Purchase of put options and payments on deriv - (13¢) (1,895
Payments on lor-term debt (8,479 (9,34)) (8,40¢)
Purchase of treasury sto (1,150 (1,629 (2,099
Exercise of stock options and warra 3,12¢ - 1,04(C
Distribution of minority interests (21€) (21€) (215)
$ 31z $ (1,820 (11,56¢)
The following table presents a summary of our dashs from operating, investing, and financing sitigs:
(in thousands Year Ended September @
2014 2013 2012
Operating activitie! $ 20,43 $ 18,36( $ 18,42:
Investing activities (21,42) (11,42Y (11,039
Financing activities 31z (1,820 (11,569
Net increase (decrease) in ci $ (674) $ 511t § (4,18

We require capital principally for the acquisitiohnew units, renovation of older units and invesstiis in technology. We may also utilize
capital to repurchase our common stock as partiobare repurchase program.

Debt Financing:
See Note F, Long-term Debt, of Notes to Consolidi&i@ancial Statements for detail regarding ouglterm debt activity.

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primaitiythe form of operating leases and debt obligetiorhe following table summarizes
contractual obligations and their aggregate maggrias well as future minimum rent payments. Fuinterest payments related to varii
interest rate debt were estimated using the inteaés in effect at September 30, 2014.

27




Payments Due by Peric

(in thousands) Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafte
Long-term debt $ 7035 $ 1231t $§ 986« $ 1349 $ 835 $ 7531 $ 18,79
Interest payment 18,907 5,61¢ 4,58¢ 3,46¢ 2,47¢ 1,81 95(
Operating lease 34,06: 3,99¢ 3,917 3,68¢ 3,30¢ 2,15¢ 17,007
Put Options

In certain situations, the Company issues resttictemmon shares as partial consideration for aitopuis of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtverning acquisition agreements, the holderush sshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrgls or, if management elects not to do so, the@ehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wthiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhfse shares in accordance with the guidance lisbid by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities From Equityas a reclassification of the value of the sharemifpermanent to temporary equity. As the st
become due, the Company transfers the value adlthees back to permanent equity, less any amoishtg#he holder. Also sedtrivative
Financial Instruments” above. We finished liquidg these put options during the quarter endedcm&d, 2013.

Other than the potential loss of the Patron Tandssith the State of Texas (see Note J of Note3awsolidated Financial Statements) we
not aware of any other event or trend that woulepiially affect liquidity. In the event such arnedevelops, we believe our working cag
and capital expenditure requirements will be adegjyanet by cash flows from operations. We alstieve that, in the event of loss of
Patron Tax issue, the State of Texas would waiyepamalties and allow us to pay out any liabilixepa reasonable amount of time. In
opinion, working capital is not a true indicatoranfr financial status. Typically, businesses in imgiustry carry current liabilities in excess
current assets because businesses in our indestive substantially immediate payment for saléty mominal receivables, while inventor
and other current liabilities normally carry longeyment terms. Vendors and purveyors often rerfiaiible with payment terms, providi
businesses in our industry with opportunities tjusidto shortterm business down turns. We consider the primadicators of financial stat
to be the long-term trend of revenue growth, the ofisales revenues, overall cash flow, profitépiiiom operations and the level of lotepr
debt.

The following table presents a summary of suchciaigdirs:

Increase Increase
2014 (Decrease 2013 (Decrease 2012

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 51,76: 19.9% $ 43,18¢ 11.€% $ 38,68:
Sales of food and merchand 15,84% 29.4% 12,24¢ 39.(% 8,81(
Service Revenue 54,66¢ 9.4% 49,97 19.2% 41,94;
Other 6,89¢ 1.5% 6,79¢€ 17.€% 5,781

Total Revenues 129,17 15.1% 112,20¢ 17.€% 95,22(
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 2043t 11.2% $ 18,36( -0.3% $ 18,42
Adjusted EBITDA $ 32,34¢ 53% $ 28,54. 18.9% $ 24,00
Long-term debt $ 70,35 -10.% $  78,59: 23.7% $ 63,52¢

* See definition of adjusted EBITDA above under &esof Operations.

We have not established lines of credit or finagoother than the above mentioned notes payableoanexisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlhtshould the need arise.

Share repurchase

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors ai#td us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of common stock in the open market.
of April, 2013, we completed the repurchase of$alimillion in stock authorized under this plan. @pril 25, 2013, our Board of Directc
authorized us to repurchase up to an additionah#i®n worth of our common stock in the open markein privately negotiated transactic
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014pwehased 101,330 shares of common stock in the aparket at prices ranging fr
$10.45 to $12.00 and during the fiscal year endegte3nber 30, 2013, we purchased 179,955 sharesmohon stock in the open marke
prices ranging from $7.84 to $8.95. Under the Bsaadthority, we have $8.8 million remaining to ghase additional shares.
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IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impamnfinflation in our operations during the pastesal years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increassis through price increases and may continue sndblowever, there can be no assur
that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasamabfs. Historically, we have experienced redueamues from April through Septem
with the strongest operating results occurringmy®ctober through March.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can caito grow organically and through careful entripimarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy (&) to open new units after market analysis, gbddquire existing units in locations that
consistent with our growth and income targets ahéckvappear receptive to the upscale club formutahave developed, (c) to form jc
ventures or partnerships to reduce stigrtand operating costs, with us contributing equitghe form of our brand name and manage
expertise, (d) to develop new club concepts thatcansistent with our management and marketindgsskihd/or (e) to acquire real estat
connection with club operations, although somesumiay be in leased premises.

Additionally, we believe that our bar/restauraras @lso grow organically and through careful eimitp markets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategytisdiversify our operations with these units whi not require SOB licenses, which
sometimes difficult to obtain. While we are seanchior adult nightclubs to acquire, we are ablalsw search for bar/restaurant locations
are consistent with our income targets.

During fiscal 2012, we acquired eleven existinghtdgub operations and two other licensed locationder development for a total cos
approximately $35.4 million, including real propentf approximately $7.6 million. These acquisitionsre funded primarily with cash
approximately $4.9 million, debt of $22 million amdal property debt of approximately $9.0 milliofhese nightclub operations had t
revenues of approximately $18.5 million and $4.3iam and net income before taxes of approximat&2y9 million and $620,000 for fisc
years 2013 and 2012, respectively. These amountotiinclude the acquisition of approximately $1énillion of real estate relating to 1
Jaguars acquisition (see Note M, Long-term DebNates to Consolidated Financial Statements) whiak closed on October 16, 2012.

During fiscal 2013, in addition to the real estatglained in the previous paragraph, we have aeduam existing licensed location
$3,000,000 ($1.5 million in cash and the balanggramissory notes). This location was being remedi@ind opened in 2013. We also acqt
the remaining 50% of an unopened club for $863 @0 mmon stock in May 2013. We also acquired agrottub for $300,000 in cash. \
previously had acquired the real estate for thiation. We also opened two bar/restaurants in 2013.

During fiscal 2014, we acquired 49% of an adult¢clincluding the building in which it operates, 8500,000. We also opened two
bar/restaurants in fiscal 2014 and opened anothidoivember 2014.

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquing nagghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatitimet fit our business model as we
done in the past. The acquisition of additionabslwill require us to obtain additional debt owigsce of our common stock, or both. There
be no assurance that we will be able to obtaintiaail financing on reasonable terms in the futifraf all, should the need arise. An inab
to obtain such additional financing could have dwvesse effect on our growth strategy.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

The items in our financial statements subject taketarisk are debt instruments with variable inséreates, aggregating $6.7 million
September 30, 2014. The notes bear interest atte prime with a floor of 7.5%. Thus, the floate for our debt is 2.25% in excess of
applicable “floating rate”. If the prime rate were to rise, the effect on datement of income would be $69,000, before takesgach 1% ris
above a prime rate of 5.5%.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item begins on &afj.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. (formerly Rick’'s Calet International, Inc.)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. (forgeRRick’s Cabaret International, In
and subsidiaries (the “Company’ds of September 30, 2014 and 2013, and the retatesiolidated statements of income, comprehe
income, changes in permanent stockholders’ eqaity, cash flows for each of the years in the tlyese-period ended September 30, 2
The Companys management is responsible for these consolidatadcial statements. Our responsibility is to egs an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the congalitiatincial statements are free of mat
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on & lb@sis, evidence supporting the amounts and disds in the consolidated finan
statements. An audit also includes assessing twuating principles used and significant estimatesle by management, as well as evalu
the overall financial statement presentation. Wete that our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetmemeferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position of
Company, as of September 30, 2014 and 2013, ancesdts of their operations and their cash floasdach of the years in the threea
period ended September 30, 2014, in conformity witounting principles generally accepted in théddnStates of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of &apber 30, 2014, based on criteria establishédt@mnal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission, and our report datedeinber 15, 2014, expressed
an unqualified opinion.

/sl Whitley Penn LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 15, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. (formerly Rick’'s Calet International, Inc.)

We have audited RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. (farly Rick’'s Cabaret International, Inc.) and sdizies’ (the “Company”)nternal contrc
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2@ib4ed on criteria establishediimernal Control—Integrated Framework (1998%ued by th
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission. The Comparsymanagement is responsible for maintaining effe
internal control over financial reporting and fte assessment of the effectiveness of internalraloaver financial reporting included in 1
accompanyingManagement’s Report on Internal Control Over FinahdReporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
Company’s internal control over financial reportingsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight @ nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditnééinal control over financial reporting includeist@ining an understanding of internal cor
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evalyi#iie design and operating effectivene:
internal control based on the assessed risk. Odit also included performing such other procedwumeswe considered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeliregthe reliability of financie
reporting and the preparation of financial stateimidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgddose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalsurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of September 30, 2(
based on criteria establishedlimernal Control—Integrated Framework (199@sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafnthe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolids
balance sheets and the related consolidated statemiincome, comprehensive income, changes imgent stockholdergquity and cas
flows of the Company, and our report dated DeceribeP014, expressed an unqualified opinion ondlassolidated financial statements.

/sl Whitley Penn LLP

Dallas, Texas
December 15, 2014
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CAB ARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 3(
(in thousands, except per share d 2014 2013

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 9,96/ $ 10,63¢
Accounts receivable

Trade, ne 1,06( 1,38

Other, ne 68t 327
Marketable securitie 59¢ 55E
Inventories 1,87¢ 1,47
Deferred tax asst 5,37¢ 4,61¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,78¢ 1,66¢
Total current asse 23,35: 20,66(
Property and equipment, r 113,96. 98,62¢
Other asset:
Goodwill 43,37« 43,981
Indefinite lived intangibles, ne 53,96¢ 54,96¢
Definite lived intangibles, ne 67% 1,06t
Other 3,81: 3,79:
Total other assets 101,82¢ 103,81:
Total assets $ 239,14: $ 223,10(
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equi
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,19t % 1,81¢
Accrued liabilities 9,19¢ 5,23:
Texas patron tax liabilit 15,48¢ 13,03t
Current portion of long-term debt 12,31¢ 8,83(
Total current liabilities 39,19 28,91
Deferred tax liability 27,68t¢ 26,35¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 924 95¢€
Long-term debt 58,03’ 69,76:
Total liabilities 125,84 125,98!
Commitments and contingenci
PERMANENT STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000 shares authorimatk issued and outstand - -
Common stock, $.01 par, 20,000 shares authoriZ&66Z and 9,504 shares issued and outstanding,

respectively 101 95
Additional paic-in capital 66,72’ 61,50¢
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 91 5C
Retained earnings 43,37( 32,13(
Total RCIHH permanent stockhold’ equity 110,28 93,78:
Noncontrolling interest 3,01( 3,33¢
Total permanent stockholders’ equity 113,29¢ 97,11!
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 239,14: $ 223,10(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CAB ARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended September &

(in thousands, except per share d 2014 2013 2012

Revenues
Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 51,76: $ 43,18¢ $ 38,68’
Sales of food and merchand 15,84" 12,24¢ 8,81(
Service revenue 54,66¢ 49,97 41,94
Other 6,89¢ 6,79¢ 5,781
Total revenue 129,17 112,20¢ 95,22(
Operating expense
Cost of goods sol 16,42¢ 14,15: 12,64«
Salaries and wagt 28,18: 25,14¢ 20,857
Stoclk-based compensatic 282 847 31t
Other general and administrati
Taxes and permil 20,05¢ 17,61 14,75¢
Charge card fee 1,79(C 1,482 1,352
Rent 4,80¢ 3,64 2,87
Legal and profession: 3,41¢ 2,59¢ 3,42¢
Advertising and marketin 5,57¢ 4,611 4,04¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,31¢ 5,331 4,96¢
Insurance 3,994 2,20¢ 1,43¢
Utilities 2,68¢ 2,241 1,74¢
Loss on sale of property and otl 27¢ 18 332
Impairment of asse’ 2,29¢ - -
Settlement of lawsuits and other -time costs 3,69¢ 707 2,53:
Other 10,50: 9,72: 7,67¢
Total operating expenses 110,29¢ 90,32¢ 78,96
Income from operation 18,87¢ 21,88: 16,25¢
Other income (expense
Interest incom 14¢ 9 19
Interest expens (7,357 (6,539 (4,009
Interest expens— loan origination cost (39%) (539) (310
Gain on change in fair value of derivative instrums - 1 117
Gain on contractual debt reduction 5,64 - -
Income before income tax 16,91 14,81¢ 12,08:
Income taxes 5,91¢ 5,41 4,29:
Net income 10,997 9,40z 7,79(
(Net income) loss attributable to noncontrollingeiests 243 (211) (212
Net income attributable to RCI Hospitality Holdindsc. $ 11,240 $ 9,191 $ 7.57¢
Basic earnings per share attributable to RCIHHedalders

Net income $ 115 $ 097 $ 0.7¢
Diluted earnings per share attributable to RCIHHreholders

Net income $ 1.1 $ 0.9¢ $ 0.7¢
Weighted average number of common shares outsigr
Basic 9,81¢ 9,51¢ 9,691
Diluted 10,63’ 9,61¢ 9,69

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CAB ARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended September &

(in thousands, except per share d 2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 10,997 $ 9,40 $ 7,79(
Other comprehensive incorr
Unrealized holding gain (loss) on securities adddor sale 41 (9) 49
Comprehensive incorr 11,03¢ 9,39: 7,83¢
Less net (income) loss attributable to noncontrglinterests 243 (211) (212)
Comprehensive income to common stockholders $ 11,28, $ 9,18 $ 7,621

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CAB ARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STO CKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years Ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012

(in thousands)

Accumulatec

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Stockholder’
Equity

$ 3,34:

(215)

21z

$ 80,25¢

502
(2,09

31E
1,04(

(215)
48
7,79

87,64¢
73
(1,629

847
862
33
10C

(216)

(9)
9,40Z

Common Stocl Additional Other

Number Paic-In Comprehensiv

of Share: Amount Capital Income (Loss
Balance at September 30, 2( 9,60¢ $ % $ 61,44t $ 1c
Change in temporary equi - - 502 -
Purchase of treasury sha - - - -
Cancelled treasury shat (14C) (1) (2,09)) -
Stocl-based compensatic - - Sl -
Warrants exercise 12C 1 1,03¢ -
Payments to noncontrolling intere - - - -
Change in marketable securit - - - 48
Net income - - -
Balance at September 30, 2( 9,58¢ 9€ 61,21 58
Change in temporary equi - - 73 -
Purchase of treasury sha - - - -
Cancelled treasury shat (18C) 2 (1,62)) -
Stocl-based compensatic - - 841 -
Stock issued in business combinat 10C 1 862 -
Beneficial debt conversion featL - - 33 -
Issuance of warran - - 10C -
Payments to noncontrolling intere - - - -
Change in marketable securit - - - (9)
Net income - - - -
Balance at September 30, 2( 9,50« 95 61,50¢ 5C
Purchase of treasury sha - - - -
Cancelled treasury shar (103) ) (1,149 -
Stock options exercise 37C 4 3,122 -
Common stock issued for debt and inte 294 3 2,96¢€ -
Stocl-based compensation and issuance of warrants feices - - 28z -

Payments to noncontrolling intere - - - -
Noncontrolling interests at acquisition of busin - - - -
Change in marketable securit - - - 41
Net income (loss - - - -

97,11
(1,150

3,12¢

10,99:

Balance at September 30, 2014 10,067 $ 101 $ 66,727 $ 91

$ 113,29¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financi&sients.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CA BARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended September :

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 10,99° $ 9,40 $ 7,79(
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigen by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,31¢ 5,331 4,96¢
Deferred taxe 937 261 1,85¢
Loss on sale of property and otl 27¢ 18 332
Gain on contractual debt reducti (5,647) - -
Impairment of asse 2,29¢ - -
Amortization of note discout 7€ 157 14t
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatinstiument: - Q) (1179)
Amortization of beneficial conversic 11 2 -
Deferred rent: (15 10¢€ 49
Stock compensation exper 282 847 31t
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (36) 331 (80)
Inventories (407) (195) (39
Prepaid expenses and other as (2,25€) (1,94%) (1,22¢)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,59¢ 4,04( 4,43(
Net cash provided by operating activit 20,43t 18,36( 18,42:
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of prope 43¢ 14C 1,24t
Purchase of investmer - (600) (500
Proceeds from sale marketable secur 50C -
Acquisition of development rights in New York buiid (5,325 - -
Additions to property and equipme (16,039 (9,675 (6,899
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (500) (1,790 (4,887)
Net cash used in investing activiti (21,427 (11,425 (11,039

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from lor-term debt 7,02¢ 9,49¢ -
1,04(

Warrants exercise - -

Purchase of put options and payments on derivatateument - (13¢) (1,895
Exercise of stock optior 3,12¢ - -
Payments on lor-term debt (8,477%) (9,34)) (8,40¢)
Purchase of treasury sto (1,150 (1,629 (2,092
Distribution to noncontrolling interests (216) (216) (215)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activitiecohtinuing operations 312 (1,820) (11,56¢)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT (674) 5,11¢ (4,18))
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 10,63¢ 5,52: 9,70¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD $ 9,96/ $ 10,63t $ 5,528
CASH PAID DURING PERIOD FOR

Interest $ 7,31 $ 6,55¢ $ 3,83
Income taxes $ 395! $ 493 $ 2,56¢
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Non-cash transactions:

Years Ended September :

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Issue of shares of common stock for debt and ist
Number of share 294 - -
Value of share $ 2,96¢ $ - % -

Issue of detachable warrants in conjunction withtdelassified as discount on debt
with offset to additional pa-in capital)

Number of share - -
10C

Value of warrant: $ - % $ -
Debt incurred with seller in connection with acquirbusinesses and other as: $ 487¢ $ 14,88( $ 36,23¢
Reduction of debt in sale of aircraft and prop: $ 3,12¢  $ - $ -
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable secur $ 41 $ 9 $ 49
Beneficial debt conversion feature on convertilgbt $ - $ 33 % -
Issue of shares of common stock for acquiring aness

Number of share - 10C -

Value of share $ - 8 86z $ =

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsients.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

A. Nature of Business

RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. (formerly Rick’s Cakbet International, Inc.) (the “Companyl§ a Texas corporation incorporated in 1!
Through its subsidiaries, the Company currently ®wnd operates establishments that offer live aghiértainment, restaurant, and/or
operations. These establishments are located istdpuAustin, San Antonio, Dallas, Fort Worth, Galgd_ubbock, Longview, Tye, Edinbu
El Paso, Harlingen, Lubbock and Beaumont Texasyedsas Minneapolis, Minnesota, Philadelphia, Pgivamia, Charlotte, North Carolir
New York, New York, Miami Gardens, Florida, Phoenitizona, Sulphur, Louisiana and Indianapolis,iémd. The Company also owns
operates a media division. The Company’s corpaitees are located in Houston, Texas.

At the Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholdersfargust 6, 2014, its name was officially change® @l Hospitality Holdings, Inc.
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidabedidial statements have been prepared using theahdasis of accounting in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America (‘US GAAP”).

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tleeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries in kwhic controlling interest
owned. Significant intercompany accounts and tretitaas have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statem@ntonformity with US GAAP requires managementniake estimates and assumptions
affect certain reported amounts in the consoliddieancial statements and accompanying notes. B#tgnand assumptions are base
historical experience, forecasted future eventsvamitus other assumptions that we believe to bsarable under the circumstances. Estir
and assumptions may vary under different assumptaynconditions. We evaluate our estimates andngssons on an ongoing basis.
believe the accounting policies below are critioahe portrayal of our financial condition anduks of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasg to be cash equivalents.
Company maintains deposits in several financidititgons, which may at times exceed amounts cal/éxe insurance provided by the L
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").eT@ompany has not experienced any losses relateddants in excess of FDIC limits.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub openat primarily comprised of credit card chargehijol are generally converted to cash in

to five days after a purchase is made. The medisiah’s accounts receivable is primarily comprised otnegbles for advertising sales
Expo registration. The Company’s accounts recegjaither is comprised of employee advances and otiseellaneous receivables. The long
term portion of notes receivable are included Imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakhrersts. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termseadigheement and based upon managesientiluation that the notes receivable and ini
income will be collected. The Company recognizdsvances for doubtful accounts or notes when, basednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaisle will not be collected.

Inventories
Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @uwinpany merchandise. Inventories are carried atativer of cost (on a first-in, firstui

(“FIFO”) basis), or market.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Praxgsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrajghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasmsléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 yeBkrsniture, equipment and leasehold improvemente lestimated useful lives between
and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals atigtments that extend the useful lives are capéiel Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The cosisetsaasold or abandoned and the related accumuefgdciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditettén the accompanying consolidated statememanfime of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite bvare not amortized, but reviewed on an annuasbasimpairment. Definite lived intangit
assets are amortized on a straight-line basistbearestimated lives. Fully amortized assetsnaitien-off against accumulated amortization.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with ASC 205, loriged assets, such as property, plant, and equipraed purchased intangible assets subject to &atioin
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or ghaiin circumstances indicate that the carryinguarhof an asset may not be recover:
Recoverability of assets to be held and used isored by a comparison of the carrying amount odsset to estimated undiscounted fu
cash flows expected to be generated by the asdtie lcarrying amount of an asset exceeds its astanfuture cash flows, an impairm
charge is recognized by the amount by which theyitay amount of the asset exceeds the fair valub@bsset. Assets to be disposed of w
be separately presented in the balance sheet poded at the lower of the carrying amount or faitue less costs to sell, and are no lo
depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a depgoup classified as held for sale would be presk separately in the appropriate asse
liability sections of the balance sheet.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have indefingeful lives are tested annually for impairment are tested for impairment more freque
if events and circumstances indicate that the amfgit be impaired. An impairment loss is recogdizo the extent that the carrying am«
exceeds the asset’s fair value.

For goodwill, the impairment determination is made¢he reporting unit level. The implied fair valoegoodwill is determined by allocating -
fair value of the reporting unit in a manner simiila a purchase price allocation. The residualalue after this allocation is the implied
value of the reporting unit goodwill. The Compangisnual evaluation for goodwill and indefiniteed intangible assets was performed &
September 30, 2014. The Company recognized intEngset impairments in the year ended Septemh&t(3@ related to specific report
units. See Note P, Impairment of Assets. The Camppigd not recognize impairment for the years enSepgtember 30, 2013 and 2012. A
the Companys goodwill and intangible assets relate to the telghs, except for $567,000 related to the acqaisiof the media divisio
Definite lived intangible assets are amortized astraight-line basis over their estimated livesllyramortized assets are writteff agains
accumulated amortization.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its assetkliabilities which qualify as financial instremis and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemertierwthe fair value is different than the carryirgue of these financial instruments.
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbairying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryialyg of notes receivable and short and Itarga debt also approximates fair value since
instruments bear market rates of interest. Norteade instruments are held for trading purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 8Dgrivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity's Olquity. Under certain circumstant
that would require the Company to settle thesetgdteims in cash, and without regard to probabhilibe classification of all or part of the it
as a liability and the adjustment of that reclasdifimount to fair value at each reporting datéh wiich adjustments reflected in the Compsany
consolidated statements of Income. The first ims&nt for
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued

derivative accounting occurred in the quarter entlete 30, 2009 when the Company renegotiated Yigaphk terms of certain put options i
agreed to pledge as collateral to certain holdeesxand lien on certain property.

The fair value of the derivative liabilities whehet securities became derivatives were estimatduet® 3.8 million using a Blackechole
option-pricing model using the following weightedeaage assumptions:

Volatility 73%
Expected life 3.42 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.3%%

The related put options were recognized in temgyogguity in the amount of $ 5.2 million at the tintey were issued. The difference betv
that amount and the value of the derivative of8r8illion, amounting to $ 1.4 million, was includedadditional paidn capital. The fair valt
of the derivative liabilities as of September 3012 were estimated to be $ 75,000, using a Blatlo!®s optionpricing model using tt
following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 32%
Expected life .17 yea
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.0€%

We finished liquidating these put options during tjuarter ended March 31, 2013. The gain for tlaesyended September 30, 2013 and
recognized in earnings amounted to $ 1,489 and,$20, respectively.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income (losagaordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 2R@porting Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is the total of (1) net incqius (2) all other changes in net assets arigioig fnonewner sources, which are refer
to as items of other comprehensive income. An amalyf changes in components of accumulated ott@prehensive income is presente
the statement of comprehensive income.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other tmgeand services at the pointsaiie
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and adverttsintent are recognized when the issue is publisinedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo otioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.

Sales and Liquor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxesgsaidvenues and an equal amount in taxes and pexpiense in accordance with FASB
ASC 605,Revenue RecognitionTotal sales and liquor taxes aggregated $101®mi$ 8.5 million and $ 6.8 million for the yeaended
September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyjngosed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used

promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing eerges are expensed as incurred and are includempérating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of Income.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thdlitiabmethod. Deferred tax assets and liabilitie® aecognized for the future |
consequences attributable to differences betweefiiiancial statement carrying amounts of existisgets and liabilities and their respec
tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesra@sured using enacted tax rates expected to &pfayable income in the years in which tf
temporary differences are expected to be recovereskttled. The effect on deferred tax assets @tiliies of a change in tax rates
recognized in income in the period that includesehactment date. In addition, a valuation allowascestablished to reduce any deferre:
asset for which it is determined that it is mokely than not that some portion of the deferredasset will not be realized.

Income Taxes - continued

US GAAP creates a single model to address accaufdinuncertainty in tax positions by prescribingnanimum recognition threshold a -
position is required to meet before being recoghimethe financial statements. There are no unneizeg tax benefits to disclose in the note
the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Investments

Investments in companies in which the company H&3% to 50% interest are accounted for using thétyqethod and carried at cost and
adjusted for the Company's proportionate sharbef tuindistributed earnings or losska/estments in Companies in which the Company «
less than a 20% interest are accounted for atarwbteviewed for any impairmenthe 40% investment in one company at Septembe2BG
was recorded in other assets and was a nominalrambloe remaining 40% was sold during the year érfsieptember 30, 2013. During
year ended September 30, 2012, the Company alagredga 50% investment in a nightclub for $ 600,0@Mich was not yet open
September 30, 2012. This investment was also redordother assets at September 30, 2012. Durimgdhr ended September 30, 2013
Company acquired the remaining 50% of this opematind is now consolidated see Note M, Acquisitions. Also during the year &
September 30, 2013, the Company acquired approgiyna2% of another entity for $600,000. This amowas included in other assets a
September 30, 2013. This investment was increasd&% during the year ended September 30, 2014abi% in October 2014, at wh
time the subsidiary became part of the consolidgtedp.

Put Options

In certain situations, the Company has issuedicestr common shares as partial consideration fouiattions of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtdverning acquisition agreements, the holderush sshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrgls or, if management elects not to do so, th@ehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wthiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhfse shares in accordance with the guidance lisbid by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equitas a reclassification of the value of the shares fpermanent to temporary equity. As the sharesrhe
due, the Company transfers the value of the shm@sto permanent equity. Also see “Derivativeafitial Instruments” above.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings per share includes no dilution ancbmputed by dividing income available to commtatisholders by the weighted aver
number of common shares outstanding for the peBddted earnings per share reflect the potentiatidn of securities that could share in
earnings of the Company. Potential common stockesheonsist of shares that may arise from outstgndilutive common stock options ¢
warrants (the number of which is computed using“theasury stock methodand from outstanding convertible debentures (thmber o
which is computed using the “if converted methodjluted earnings per share (“EPS9nsiders the potential dilution that could ocduhée
Companys outstanding common stock options, warrants andertible debentures were converted into commookstioat then shared in 1
Company’s earnings (loss) (as adjusted for intexegénse, that would no longer occur if the debestwere converted).

42




RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — caimued

Earnings Per Common Share - continued

Net earnings applicable to common stock and thehwed average number of shares used for basic &uneéddearnings (loss) per sh
computations are summarized in the table thatviclo

(in thousands, except per share d FOR THE YEAR ENDELC
SEPTEMBER 30
2014 2013 2012

Basic earnings per shal
Net income attributable to RCIHH sharehold $ 11,24( $ 9,191 $ 7.57¢
Average number of common shares outstanding 9,81¢ 9,51¢ 9,691
Basic earnings per share $ 118 $ 097 $ 0.7¢

Diluted earnings per shar
Net income attributable to RCIHH sharehold $ 11,24( $ 9,191 $ 7,57¢
Adjustment. to net earnings from assumed convecialebentures (1) 821 57 -
Adjusted net income attributable to RCIHH sharebd $ 12,06: $ 9,24t $ 7,57¢
Average number of common shares outstanc
Common shares outstandi 9,81¢ 9,51¢ 9,691
Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercigarrants and options (. 9 4 6
Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversiéniebentures (1) 81z 93 -
Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilution 10,63 9,61°F 9,697
Diluted earnings per shar
Net income attributable to RCIHH sharehold $ 1.1 $ 0.9¢ $ 0.7¢

*EPS may not foot due to rounding.

Additional shares for options, warrants and deb@stamounting to 234,189, 821,440 and 1,122 foy#ae ended September 30, 2014, :
and 2012 were not considered since they would bdilaive.

(1) Represents interest expense on dilutive caitdeisecurities that would not occur if they wassumed converted.

(2) All outstanding warrants and options were ddered for the EPS computation.

Convertible debentures (principal and accrued @st@routstanding at September 30, 2014, 2013 ahd ®faling $9,277, $7,790 and $3,t
respectively, were convertible into common stoclprates ranging from $10.00 to $12.50 in each y€anvertible debentures amounting
$9,277 and $1,444 were dilutive in 2014 and 20&8pectively.

Stock Options

At September 30, 2014, the Company has stock aptobstanding, which are described more fully irteNlp Stock Options. The Comp:
recognizes all employee stock-based compensati@ncast in the consolidated financial statemendglitif-classified awards are measure
the grant date fair value of the award. The Compestymates grant date fair value using the Bladke®xs optionpricing model. The critic
estimates are volatility, expected life and rigée rate. The compensation cost recognized forydae ended September 30, 2014, 201z
2012 was $282,305, $847,183 and $314,761, respéctiThere were 369,665, zero and zero stock opdxercises for the years en
September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Discontinued Operations
In prior consolidated financial statements, the @any has disclosed certain discontinued operatiarightclubs that the Company has clc

or sold. Those discontinued operations have nowrbhedmmaterial; therefore, the Company has elineithdhe disclosure in the accompan
consolidated financial statements.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Fair Value Accounting

The Company utilizes valuation techniques that méze the use of observable inputs and minimizeueeof unobservable inputs to the ex
possible. The Company determines fair value basedssumptions that market participants would uspricing an asset or liability in t
principal or most advantageous market. When cornisiglenarket participant assumptions in fair valueasurements, the following fair va
hierarchy distinguishes between observable andserglble inputs, which are categorized in one efdfiowing levels.

US GAAP establishes a three-tier fair value hidrgrevhich prioritizes the inputs used in the valiatmethodologies in measuring fair value:

Level 1- Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (urstdfl) for identical assets or liabilities in aetimarkets
Level 2- Include other inputs that are directly or indirgaibservable in the marketpla
Level 3— Unobservable inputs which are supported by littlea@ market activity

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entitynaximize the use of observable inputs and minintiseuse of unobservable inputs w
measuring fair value.

The Company'’s derivative liabilities have been nuead principally utilizing Level 2 inputs.

We classify our marketable securities as availédiesale, which are reported at fair value. Unmadi holding gains and losses, net of the
related income tax effect, if any, on available-$ate securities are excluded from income and g@rted as accumulated other compreher
income in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains sdes from securities classified as availablestde-are included in comprehensive income.
We measure the fair value of our marketable seearitased on quoted prices for identical secuiitiestive markets, or Level 1 inputs. As of
September 30, 2014, available-for-sale securitesisted of the following:

Gross
(in thousands Cost Unrealized Fair
Available for Sale Basis Gains Value
Tax-Advantaged Bond Fund $ 50t $ 91 $ 59€

In accordance with ASC Topic 32Bivestments — Debt and Equity Securifie® review our marketable securities to determihether a
decline in fair value of a security below the doasis is other than temporary. Should the declinedmsidered other than temporary, we write
down the cost basis of the security and includddbe in current earnings as opposed to an uneghlinlding loss. No losses for other than
temporary impairments in our marketable securjti@tfolio were recognized during the year ended@&aper 30, 2014.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at faluer on a recurring basis are summarized below:

(in thousands Carrying
September 30, 201 Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securitie $ 59¢ $ 59¢ $ - $ =
(in thousands Carrying
September 30, 201 Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securitie $ 55 $ 55 $ - $ =

44




RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standargdatie No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with @unets (“ASU 2014-09")which
supersedes nearly all existing revenue recogngiodance under US GAAP. The core principle of UAB 209 is to recognize revenues w
promised goods or services are transferred to metin an amount that reflects the considerationtich an entity expects to be entitled
those goods or services. ASU 2009-defines a five step process to achieve this poreiple and, in doing so, more judgment andneste:
may be required within the revenue recognition psscthan are required under existing US GAAP. Téredsird is effective for annual peri
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interimgasrtherein, using either of the following trarmitimethods: (i) a full retrospective appra
reflecting the application of the standard in epdbr reporting period with the option to electteém practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospec
approach with the cumulative effect of initiallyguding ASU 201409 recognized at the date of adoption (which inetuddditional footno
disclosures). The Company is currently evaluathmgimpact of our pending adoption of ASU 2(3ton its consolidated financial statem:
and have not yet determined the method by whiulilliadopt the standard in fiscal year 2018.

C. Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiesbbhform to the current year presentation.
D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

(in thousands, except per share d September 3(
2014 2013
Buildings and lanc $ 87,81¢ $ 79,18¢
Leasehold improvemen 25,42¢ 18,41(
Furniture 7,27 6,15¢
Equipment 24,11 20,58:
Total property and equipme 144,63t 124,33t
Less accumulated depreciation (30,679 (25,707
Property and equipment, net $ 113,96: $ 98,62¢
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012
E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thiofghg:

(in thousands

September 3(
2014 2013

Indefinite useful lives

Goodwill $ 43,37: $ 43,98’

Licenses 53,96¢ 54,96¢

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives

Discounted lease 18 & 6 years 15¢ 16¢

Unamortized non-compete agreements 5 years 517 897
Total goodwill and intangible assets $ 98,017 $ 100,01¢

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Licenses Goodwill Licenses Goodwill

Beginning balanc $ 54,96t $ 43987 $ 50,60¢ $ 43,42:
Intangibles acquire 265 - 4,35¢ 997
Impairment (1,269 (613 - -
Other - - - (431)
Ending balance $ 53,96¢ $ 43,37« $ 54,96t $ 43,98’

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization atedeiper 30, 2014 is (in thousands): 2015
$250, 2016 - $196, 2017 - $101, 2018 - $10, 208B0-and thereafter - $108.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets sish of sexually oriented business licenses or gilhdvhich were obtained as part of
acquisitions. These licenses are the result ofrgpardinances, thus are valid indefinitely, subjecfiing annual renewal applications, wh
are done at minimal costs to the Company. The digedl cash flow method of income approach was usedlculating the value of the
licenses in a business combination. The Comparmaiirad two reporting units during the year endegt&aber 30, 2014 in the aggrec
amount of $2,294,000, including impairment of adkets (Note O, Impairment of Assets). There wasmmmairment for the years enc
September 30, 2013 and 2012.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

F. Long-term Debt
Long-term debt consisted of:

(in thousands)

Notes payable at ~11%, mature August 2015 and July 2(
Notes payable at 9.6%, mature December :

Note payable at 7%, matures December 2

Note payable at 7.25%, matures May 2!

Notes payable at 14%, mature September 30, 20R8tezalized by stocks of Miami Gardens Squ

One, Inc. and Stellar Management, |

Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime&%7(7.5% at September 30, 2014), matures /

2017

Note payable at the greater of 2% above prime%%7(7.5% at September 30, 2014), matures

2017
Note payable at 8%, matures January z
Notes payable at 5.5%, matures January :
Notes payable at 5.5%, matures January :
8.15% note payable secured by aircraft, maturesuaep 2017
Note payable refinanced at 6.25%, matures July ;
Note payable at 6.3%, matures June 2030, collaedaby aircraf
Notes payable at 4.75-7.25%, mature December 2014 and September
10% convertible debentur
Note payable at 9.5%, matures August 2
Notes payable at 9.5%, mature September .
6% convertible debentures, mature March 2
Note payable at 13%, matures March 2
Notes payable at-7%, mature from 2018 to 20:
Note payable at 11%, matures June 2

Convertible note payable from a related party & 1thatures August 1, 20:

10% convertible debentur

7.45% note payable collateralized by aircraft, meg2019
Total debt

Less current portion

Total long-term debt

* Collateralized by real estate
** Collateralized by stock in subsidiary

Following is a summary of loi-term debt at September &
(in thousands

Secured by real este
Secured by stock in subsidic
Secured by other asst
Unsecured
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September 3(
2014 2013
*$ 2,19 $ 2,381
* 2,14( 2,251
* 201 23z
* 564 88(
* 1,91( 5,28¢
* 3,021 3,14:
3,63: 3,77¢
2,60¢ 2,89:¢
1,38¢ 1,45¢
* 6,01: 6,31(
- 2,571
* 1,42: 1,512
457 97C
* 49z 95¢
2,641 4,991
** 14,09: 20,967
* 8,76: 9,261
* 1,32¢ 1,444
* 4,00( 1,50(
* 2,73( 2,55¢
* 2,50( 2,50(
75C 75C
4,001 -
3,501 -
70,35: 78,59:
12,31t 8,83(
$ 58,037 $ 69,76:
2014 2013

$ 36,277 $ 38,65¢

21,33: 29,19t

3,95¢ 3,541

8,78¢ 7,191

$ 70,35 $ 78,59:




RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

F. Long-term Debt — continued

On April 29, 2009, the Company entered into a micdifon to two secured promissory notes wherebydhe date for the $ 5 million
principal due and payable by the Company under eath was extended by two years from November 2018ovember 2012. All oth
terms and conditions of the promissory notes rentaé same. The Company paid a total of $150,006héoholders of the notes
consideration for their agreement to extend thesidor two years through November 2012. The $X®D0aid will be amortized as
adjustment of interest expense over the remairfie@f the notes.

On September 30, 2010, the two secured promissaasmwere modified again. Under the modified tetinespromissory notes become 10
amortized facilities that provides for equal moptplayments of $77,633 each and will be fully pard September 30, 2020, rather th¢
balloon payment for the entire amount that wouldehdbeen due on November 30, 2012. Interest onntbdified note remains at
percent. The Company paid each holder $ 50 ,0@@sideration for entering into the extension. $iE00,000 paid will be amortized as
adjustment of interest expense over the remairfegf the notes. The Company accounted for tlsisdaction in accordance with FASB A
470,Debt.

As part of the acquisition of the Platinum CluhiflDallas, the Company acquired the Real PropedmfWire Way, LLC, a Texas limitt
liability company (“Wire Way”). Pursuant to a Rdzdtate Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “RealeEstaeement”dated May 10, 2008, t
Company paid total consideration of $ 6 million,igéhwas paid $ 1.6 million in cash and $ 4.4 millitnrough the issuance of a promis:
note (the “Promissory Note"J.he Promissory Note bears interest at a varyirgatthe greater of (i) two percent (2%) aboveRfime Rate ¢
(ii) seven and one-half percent (7.5%), which isrgnteed by the Company and by Eric Langan, thep@ogis Chief Executive Office
individually . The note is payable in monthly inkteents of $ 34,999 until June 2017.

In connection with the acquisition of Joy Club afigtin (now Ricks Cabaret) in December 2009 (Note M, Acquisitiottsd, Company assum
and entered into certain notes payable aggreg&i@d million. These notes bear interest at rateging from 4.75 % to 7.25 % and
payable in monthly installments aggregating $42,4@dluding interest. The notes mature in Decen28d¥ and September 2019.

In April 2010, the Company acquired the real estatethe club in Austin, Texas formerly known asiRs Cabaret. In connection with

purchase, the Company executed a note to the sefleanting to $ 2.2 million. The note was collalieel by the real estate and was payat
monthly installments through April 2025 of $19,7¥luding principal and interest at the prime ralies 4.5% with a minimum rate of 7%.
of September 30, 2012, the effective rate was THBé. Company refinanced this debt in 2013 with a&mdt$ 1.5 million, payable in montt
installments of $ 15,090 through July 2018, inchgdprincipal and interest at 6.25%.

In June 2010, the Company borrowed $518,192 fréemder. The funds were used to purchase an airdifadt debt bears interest at 6.30%
monthly principal and interest payments of $ 3,888inning July 2010. The note matures in June 2030.

On June 25, 2010, the Company completed the sade afjgregate of approximately $ 9.2 million in 10%nvertible Debentures (th@01(
Debentures”) to certain accredited investors (2@10 Holders”). The 2010 Debentures bore interest at the rate %@f A€ annum and matul
and were paid on June 25, 2013. The 2010 Debentere payable with one initial payment of intereaty due December 26, 2010, &
thereafter in ten equal quarterly principal payrsesft$ 920,000 plus accrued interest thereon.hétdption of the 2010 Holders, the princ
amount of the 2010 Debentures and the accruednpatidi interest thereon could be converted intoeshaf the Compang’common stock at
10.25 per share. The 2010 Debentures were reddelmathe Company at any time if the closing poéés common stock for 20 consecu
trading days is at least $13.47 per share. Ceriniglthe cost of the associated warrants and isssis explained below, the effective inte
rate on the 2010 Debentures was 13.1 %.

In connection with the sale of the 2010 Debentinehine 2010, the Company also issued an aggref/a#9,513 warrants (the “Warrants9
the 2010 Holders, on a prata basis. The Company issued each Holder a nuofb&/arrants equal to 20 % of the number of shai
common stock into which each Holde2010 Debenture is convertible. The Warrantsaradxercise price of $ 10.25 and expired on Jur,
2013. The Warrants provided that the Company hadight to require exercise of the Warrants if thesing price of the Comparsg/commo
stock for 20 consecutive trading days was at I884135.

The conversion price for the 2010 Convertible Débers was determined by negotiation with the ceeditThe $ 10.25 conversion price wa
excess of the market price at date of issuance87& The beneficial conversion was calculated¢dmparing the “effective conversion price’
of the debenture to the actual stock price atriduestction date. The “effective conversion prie&s calculated by dividing the fair value of
debt, after deducting the fair value of the delstcdunt due to the issuance of warrants with the gethe amount of $ 462,724, by
convertible shares. The resulting $ 9.74 was alfeeatock price at the transaction date; theretbere was no beneficial conversion feature.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

F. Long-term Debt — continued

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t& B&4,571using a Black-Scholes optioreing model using the following weighted aver
assumptions:

Volatility 68%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 1.1&%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and was amortizedtéoent expense over the life of the debt.

The proceeds from the sale of the 2010 Debenturdsarrants in June 2010 were intended to be etilto make future acquisitions,
could be utilized for working capital and generafgorate purposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatidghéramount of $460,000, which was capitalized as larigination cost and was amorti
over the life of the debt, in connection with adwisthe Company regarding the June 2010 sale d2@i® Debentures and Warrants.

In August 2011, the Company borrowed $750,000 femmemployee. The note bears interest at the ral®%f per annum and matured
August 1, 2014. The note was payable with onéirpayment of interest only due January 1, 2008, ghereafter in ten interestly quarterl
payments. The principal was payable on August 1,420’he note was extended in 2014 under the sames tentil maturity in Janua
2016. At the option of the holder, the principaiaunt of the note and the accrued but unpaid isteéhereon may be converted into share
the Companys common stock at $ 10.00 per share. The notdisemable by the Company after six months at amy ifi the closing price |
its common stock for 20 consecutive trading dayat Ieast $13.00 per share.

On December 2, 2011, RCI Holdings entered into al Estate Sales Agreement with Bryan S. Fostewnigireg for RCI Holdings to purcha
from Mr. Foster the real properties located at B282lloway Cemetery Road, Fort Worth, Texas andl2#anana Drive, Dallas, Texas,
the aggregate purchase price of $5,500,000, imofu#li2,000,000 cash and $ 3,500,000 in the formno8 % promissory note that is pay:
over 10 years at $ 42,465 per month including @derThe Fort Worth property represents the landClbaret East, one of our clubs, anc
Dallas property represents the land at anothettegaen’s club. This transaction closed on Januan2@32.

In connection with the acquisition of Silver City January 2012, the Company executed notes tcetlee ;1 the amount of $ 1.5 million. T
notes are payable over eleven years at $12,25@peth including interest and have an adjustablerést rate of 5.5%. The rate adjust
prime plus 2.5% in the 61 st month, not to exce®d B the same transaction, the Company also asdjtiire related real estate and exec
notes to the seller for $ 6.5 million. The notes also payable over eleven years at $53,110 pethmocluding interest and have the si
adjustable interest rate of 5.5%.

In February 2012, the Company borrowed $ 2.7 nnilfiom a lender. The funds were used to purchaseraraft. The debt bore interest at ¢
% with monthly principal and interest payments &@$386 beginning March 2012. The aircraft was soid the debt retired in July 2014.

As consideration for the purchase of the Fosteb€IINote M, Acquisitions), a subsidiary paid to tetlers at closing $ 3,500,000 cash a
22,000,000 pursuant to a secured promissory noge“@lub Note”).The Club Note bears interest at the rate of 9.5%@apaum, is payable
144 equal monthly installments of $ 256,602 per tha@md is secured by the assets purchased fro@dtmpanies.

The Company acquired a second adult business itomidManhattan in March 2013. The Company paid $Bam for the business, with $1
million paid in cash and the remaining $1.5 millionsix percent promissory notes convertible irtiares of Ricks Cabaret common stock ¢
conversion price of $ 10.25. The notes are payabd ten years at $16,653 per month, includinggiped and interest and have a 6% inte
rate.

In connection with the acquisition of the Fosteulfd, as explained above, the Companyholly owned subsidiary, Jaguars Holdings,
(“JHI"), entered into a Commercial Contract (theed® Estate Agreementjyhich agreement provided for JHI to purchase tla¢ @state whe
the Foster Clubs are located. The transactioneoglaited by the Real Estate Agreement closed oob®ctl6, 2012. The purchase price o
real estate was $ 10.1 million (discounted to $filion as explained below) and was paid with $880, in cash, $9.1 million in mortge
notes, and an agreement to make atone-payment of $650,000 in twelve years that beargiterest. The note bears interest at the fa®es
%, is payable in 143 equal monthly installments @ndecured by the real estate properties. The @oynpas recorded a debt discour
$431,252 related to the one-time payment of $64%0,00
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

On January 24, 2013, we sold to an investor (iD% Lonvertible Debenture with a principal amoun®8f000,000 (the “Debenture’ynde
the terms and conditions set forth in the Debentame (ii) a warrant to purchase a total of 60,808res of our common stock (the “Warrdnt”
under the terms and conditions set forth in therdrdr The Debenture has a term of two years, isaxible into shares of our common stoc
a conversion price of $10.00 per share (subjeetfaostment), and has an annual interest rate of, ¥ one initial payment of interest o
due July 24, 2013, and thereafter, the principadamis payable in six equal quarterly principaympants of $500,000 plus accrued and un
interest. Six months after the issue date of thieeDture, we have the right to redeem the Debeiiftore common stock has a closing prict
$13.00 (subject to adjustment) for 20 consecutiadinhg days. The Warrant has an exercise pricd @f0B per share (subject to adjustment)
expires on January 24, 2015. In the event theanigffective registration statement registering ghares of common stock underlying
Warrant, we have the right to require exercisehef\Warrant if our common stock has a closing poic813.00 (subject to adjustment) for
consecutive trading days. We sold the DebentureVdadant to the investor in a private transactiod eeceived consideration of $3,000,(
Brean Capital, LLC acted as exclusive placementizige the transaction and received a placemenofé&do of the gross proceeds raised.

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t&8®&,256 in accordance with FASB ASC 8Hair Value Measurementsusing a Black-
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigiged average assumptions:

Volatility 35%
Expected life 1.0 yea
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.23%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and will be amortizeihterest expense over the life of the debit.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debenture andamarin January 2013 are intended to be utilipechake future acquisitions, and may
utilized for working capital and general corporpteposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatiothénamount of $165,000, which was capitalized @ lorigination cost and will |
amortized over the life of the debt, in connectidgth advising the Company regarding the debt.

In March 2013 the Company borrowed $1,500,000 feomindividual. The note is collateralized by a setdien on the Compang’Miami
nightclub, bears interest at 13% and interest @npayable monthly until the principal matures iafgh 2016.

During the year ended September 30, 2013, the Caynpequired four parcels of real estate at a aggtesyating $3,230,000 and incurred ¢
aggregating $2,600,000 in connection therewith. idtes bear interest at rates ranging fronY%-and are payable $25,660 monthly, inclu
principal and interest. The notes mature from 2013028.

On August 24, 2013, we sold to an investor (0?4 Convertible Debenture with a principal amouin$®,500,000 (the “Debentureynde
the terms and conditions set forth in the Debentame (ii) a warrant to purchase a total of 48,388res of our common stock (the “Warrgnt”
under the terms and conditions set forth in therdrdr The Debenture has a term of two years, isaxible into shares of our common stoc
a conversion price of $10.25 per share (subjeedfastment), and has an annual interest rate of, Wi#h one initial payment of interest ol
due February 28, 2014, and thereafter, the prih@peunt is payable in six equal quarterly printipayments of $250,000 plus accrued
unpaid interest. Six months after the issue dath@Debenture, we have the right to redeem theeteibe if our common stock has a clo:
price of $13.33 (subject to adjustment) for 20 emotive trading days. The Warrant has an exeraime pf $10.25 per share (subjec
adjustment) and expires on August 28, 2016. Inetent there is an effective registration statenmegistering the shares of common s
underlying the Warrant, we have the right to reguexercise of the Warrant if our common stock hatoaing price of $13.33 (subject
adjustment) for 20 consecutive trading days. Weal sbe Debenture and Warrant to the investor in igaf@ transaction and recei
consideration of $2,500,000.
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t&®®&,735 using a Black-Scholes optipricing model using the following weighted aver
assumptions:

Volatility 26%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.38%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and will be amortizeihterest expense over the life of the debt.

The Debenture also had a beneficial conversiomufeavalued at $32,467, which has been recognigeddiscount on the related debt and
be amortized to interest expense over the lifdnefdebt.

The proceeds from the sale of the Debenture andamarin August 2013 are intended to be utilizedhttke future acquisitions, and may
utilized for working capital and general corporpteposes.

An adviser to the Company received compensatiothénamount of $150,000, which was capitalized @ lorigination cost and will |
amortized to interest expense over the life ofdélet, in connection with advising the Company rday the debt.

On October 15, 2013, the Company sold to certairstors (i) 9% Convertible Debentures with an agate principal amount of $4,525,(
(the “Debentures”)under the terms and conditions set forth in the ddélres, and (ii) warrants to purchase a total#Q0 shares of tl
Company’s common stock (the “Warrantdijder the terms and conditions set forth in therdrdas. Each of the Debentures has a term of
years, is convertible into shares of our commomwlstt a conversion price of $ 12.50 per share éthip adjustment), and has an an
interest rate of 9%, with one initial payment diirest only due April 15, 2014. Thereafter, thexgipal amount is payable in 10 equal quar
principal payments, which amounts to a total of 880, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Six moattes the issue date of the Debentt
we have the right to redeem the Debentures if tbenganys common stock has a closing price of $16.25 (stibife adjustment) for £
consecutive trading days. The Warrants have arciseeprice of $12.50 per share (subject to adjustyand expire on October 15, 2016. In
event there is an effective registration statemegistering the shares of common stock underlyirggWarrants, we have the right to req
exercise of the Warrants if our common stock hadoaing price of $16.25 (subject to adjustment) 26r consecutive trading days. -
Company sold the Debentures and Warrants to thestoxs in a private transaction and received cenaitbn of $4,525,000. An adviser to
Company received compensation in the amount of $8Dlin connection with advising the Company regaydhe sale of the Debentures
Warrants.

The fair value of the warrants was estimated t$1@5,318 using a Black-Scholes optioreing model using the following weighted aver
assumptions:

Volatility 28%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.32%

The cost of the warrants has been recognized ssautht on the related debt and will be amortizeihterest expense over the life of the debt.

In December 2013, the Company borrowed $3.6 milfiom a lender. The funds were used to purchasararaft. The debt bears interes
7.45% with monthly principal and interest paymenft$40,653 beginning March 2014. The note maturelanuary 2019.
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F. Long-term Debt — continued

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of fibllowing, net of debt discount: (in thousands)

2015 $ 12,31t
2016 9,86¢
2017 13,49:
2018 8,35¢
2019 7,531
Thereaftel 18,79:
Total maturities of lon-term debt, net of debt discot $ 70,35:
G. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes on continuing ogderet consisted of the following for the years en8egtember 30:

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Current $ 497¢ $ 515: % 2,43
Deferred 937 261 1,85¢
Total income tax expen: $ 591t $ 541< $ 4,29:

Income tax expense on continuing operations diffiens1 the “expectedincome tax expense computed by applying the U&eréd statutor
rate of 34 % to earnings before income taxes ferytars ended September 30 as a result of thevintio

(in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Computed expected tax expel $ 5,75 $ 5,037 $ 4,10¢
State income taxes, net of federal ber 242 14¢€ 14C
Stock-based compensation and other permanent
differences (76) 231 44
Total income tax expen $ 591t § 541 % 4,29:

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effefteemporary differences between the carrying ant®woif assets and liabilities
financial reporting purposes and the amounts useéhtome tax purposes. The significant componehthie Companys deferred tax ass
and liabilities at September 30 were as follows:

(in
thousands 2014 2013
Deferred tax assets (liabilities
Definite and indefinite lived intangible $ (16,440 $ (16,481
Property and equipme (9,149 (9,873
Patron tay 5,20¢ 4,351
Other (1,93]) 267
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (22,310 $ (21,736
The net deferred taxes are recorded in the balsmeets as follows:
2014 2013
Current assetl $ 537¢ $ 4,61¢
Long-term liabilities (27,68%) (26,354
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (22,310 $ (21,736

Included in the Compang’deferred tax liabilities at September 30, 201&pisroximately $ 17.2 million representing the ¢dfect of indefinit
lived intangible assets from club acquisitions wahire not deductible for tax purposes. These dEferax liabilities will remain in tt
Company’s balance sheet until the related clubsaice
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G. Income Taxes - continued

The Company may recognize the tax benefit from tagetax positions only if it is at least moredlig than not that the tax position will
sustained on examination by the taxing authoritiesed on the technical merits of the position. Ehxebenefits recognized in the finan
statements from such a position should be measiaseld on the largest benefit that has a greaterfifiya percent likelihood of being realiz
upon settlement with the taxing authorities. Weogggze accrued interest related to unrecognizedbemefits as a component of inte
expense. We recognize penalties related to unréoeadytax benefits as a component of miscellanencsnie (expense) in accordance !
regulatory requirements.

The Company recognizes interest accrued relateshtecognized tax benefits in interest expense amélfies in operating expenses. Du
the years ended September 30, 2014, 2013 and #84Zompany recognized no interest and penaltiesificecognized tax benefits. 1
Company or one of its subsidiaries files incomerttarns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and was states. The last three years remain
to tax examination. The Company’s income tax refdon the years ended September 30, 2012 and 28lcueently under examination.

H. Put Options and Temporary Equity

As part of certain of the Company’s 2008 acquisitimnsactions, we entered into Lock-Up/L&alt Agreements with the sellers pursuai
which, on or after a contractual period after thasing date, the seller had the right, but notdhkgation, to have the Company purchase -
seller a certain number of our shares of commorkdtsued in the transactions in an amount and-ateaof not more than a contractual nun
of the shares per month (the “Monthly Shares”) dlalied at a price per share equal to a contrasaiak per share (“Value of the Riek’
Shares”) At our election during any given month, we coulther buy the Monthly Shares or, if we elected nadbty the Monthly Shares frc
the seller, then the seller could sell the MontBhares in the open market. Any deficiency betwaenamount which the seller received fi
the sale of the Monthly Shares and the value okttaes could be paid by us within three (3) bissirdays of the date of sale of the Mon
Shares during that particular month. Our obligatomurchase the Monthly Shares from the Sellerlgvégrminate and cease at such tim
the seller received a contractual amount from e sf the Rick’s Shares and any deficiency. Uritier terms of the Lock-Up/LeaRul
Agreements, the seller could not sell more thanrdaractual number of our shares per 30-day pereaghrdless of whether the seller “Ptfig
shares to us or sold them in the open market @reike.

During April and May 2009, we completed renegotiatdf terms of certain of our long term debt ansigmificant portion of outstanding
options. Before the renegotiation, the maximumgattion that could be owed if our stock were valadzero was $ 13.9 million and v
recorded in our consolidated balance sheet as Temp&quity. If we were required to buy back anytleése put options, the bipack
transaction would be purely a balance sheet tréinsa@ffecting only Temporary Equity or Derivatilgability and StockholdersEquity ant
would have no income statement effect. The ondpine statement effect from these put options istttegk to market’valuation quarterly (
the derivative liability.

We finished liquidating the put options during tingarter ended March 31, 2013 and we have no mdigatibns under the put options.
l. Stock Options

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Of®ilam (the “1995 Plan™jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@an
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Blandl in 2010, the ComparsyBoard of Directors approved the 2010 Stock Opiitam (the
“2010 Plan”) (collectively, “the Plans”)The 2010 Plan was approved by the shareholderseoCompany at the 2011 Annual Meetin
Shareholders. The options granted under the Playsbhe either incentive stock options or rpralified options. The Plans are administere
the Board of Directors or by a compensation congaitrf the Board of Directors. The Board of Direstbas the exclusive power to se
individuals to receive grants, to establish thenteof the options granted to each participant, igiex/that all options granted shall be grantt
an exercise price equal to at least 85 % of thenfigirket value of the common stock covered by fhi#on on the grant date and to make
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla
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l. Stock Options- continued

Following is a summary of options activity:

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Weighted Remaining Intrinsic
Average Contractua Value at
Exercise Term Septembe
(in thousands, except exercise prices and conahigms) Options Price (Years) 30, 2014
Outstanding at October 1, 20 52(C $10.0:
Grantec 75% 8.41]
Expired or cancelle (490 10.1¢
Exercisec -
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 78t 8.3¢
Grantec 10 8.7(C
Expired or cancelle (30) 7.1t
Exercisec - -
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 765 $ 8.41
Grantec -
Expired or cancelle (38%) 8.3t
Exercisec (370 8.4(
Outstanding at September 30, 2( 10 $ 8.7( 75 22
Exercisable at September 30, 2( 10 $ 8.7¢ e 22

As of September 30, 2014, the exercise pricesdtstanding options was $ 8.70.

On June 27, 2012, the Company issued 100,000 aptiiothe Companyg’ directors. These options became exercisablenia 2013, had a stri
price of $ 8.78 per share were to expire in Jurlel2(he fair value of these options were estimatdoe $ 160,488 at the date of grant usi
Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the follogyweighted average assumptions:

Volatility 37%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.31%

On July 2, 2012, the Company issued 655,000 optioreertain Company employees. Of these option8,500 were exchanged for exist
options which were to expire in September 2012 séhwew options became exercisable in July 2013atsdke price of $ 8.35 per share

were to expire in July 2014. The fair value ofgh@ptions was estimated to be $ 966,493 at the afegrant using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model using the following weighted averagsumptions:

Volatility 37%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.3(%

In June 2013, the Company issued 10,000 optioms@ompany employee. These options became exerisaBline 2014, have a strike p
of $ 8.70 per share and expire in June 2015. ahevalue of these options was estimated to be,87Dlat the date of grant using a Black
Scholes option-pricing model using the followingigi#ged average assumptions:

Volatility 27%
Expected life 1.5 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 0.27%
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l. Stock Options- continued

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed fa s estimating the fair value of traded optiongiick have no vestit
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addifi@option valuation models require the input oftitygsubjective assumptions including
expected stock price volatility. Because changeshim subjective input assumptions can materialliecafthe fair value estimate,
management's opinion, the existing models do noésmarily provide a reliable single measure of fiie value of its employee sto
options. The expected life of awards granted iegrts the period of time that they are expectdoetoutstanding. The Company determ
the initial expected life based on a simplified heet, giving consideration to the contractual termesting schedules and pre-vesting and po:
vesting forfeitures. The Company has utilized tmp$ified method in accordance with ASC 718 for flodlowing reasons. Earlier in t
Company'’s existence, longer-term options (generallyear lives) were issued to employees, Directors @utdiders. In more recent ye:i
option terms have generally become shorter 3lyear lives) and options were issued principallyntanagement and Directors. Then in 2
short-term options (2ear lives) were issued to Directors, managemethtaasubstantial number of employees. Due to thagdsin the tern
of the option grants and the type of persons raugithe options, we believe that the historicalreise data may no longer provide a reasor
basis upon which to estimate expected term. Thexetbe Company believes that the use of the siimglmethod for determining the expec
term of the Company’s options has been appropriate.

During the years ended September 30, 2014, 20132a8d@, the Company recorded $282,305, $847,183 $&1dl,761 of stockase:
compensation, respectively. There was no unamadrgieck compensation expense related to stockrptbSeptember 30, 2014.

J. Commitments and Contingencie:
Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and facilitieler operating leases, of which rent expenseappoximately $4.8 million, $3.6 millic
and $2.9 million for the years ended Septembef804, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Rent expemnstaéoCompanys operating leases, wh
generally have escalating rentals over the terrtheflease, is recorded using the stralgtg-method over the initial lease term whereb
equal amount of rent expense is attributed to @aciod during the term of the lease, regardlesshan actual payments are made. Gene
this results in rent expense in excess of cash paigrduring the early years of a lease and rentéresgpless than cash payments in the
years. The difference between rent expense recegrimd actual rental payments is recorded as tthg-term liabilities in the consolidat
balance sheets.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of Sepés 30, 2014 are as follows:

(in thousands)

2015 $ 3,99¢
2016 3,917
2017 3,68¢
2018 3,30¢
2019 2,15¢
Thereaftel 17,00°

Total future minimum lease obligatio $ 34,06:

Legal Matters

Beginning January 1, 2008, the Companyexas clubs became subject to a new state laviriregjeach club to collect and pay a $5 surch
for every club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by thEexas Entertainment Association (“TEA'3n organization to which the Company
member, alleging the fee amounts to be an uncatistiel tax. On March 28, 2008, a State Distriou@ Judge in Travis County, Texas rt
that the new state law violates the First Amendnterihe United States Constitution and is therefovalid. The judges order enjoined tl
State from collecting or assessing the tax. TleSappealed the Cowsttuling. In Texas, when cities or the State gie¢ice of appeal,
supersedes and suspends the judgment, includinmjimection. Therefore, the judgment of the DistrCourt cannot be enforced until
appeals are completed. Given the suspension gltlggnent, the State gave notice of its right teod the tax pending the outcome ol
appeal but took no affirmative action to enforcatttight. On June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeatsttie Third District (Austin) affirmed tt
District Court’s judgment that the Sexually OriehtBusiness (“S.0.B.”Fee violated the First Amendment to the U.S. Cantstin but ol
August 26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversegutigment of the Court of Appeals, ruling tha OB Fee does not violate the F
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and remandect#se to the District Court to determine whetherfée violates the Texas Constitution.
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J.  Commitments and Contingencies - continued

TEA appealed the Texas Supreme Court's decisiotihgoU.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutignaf the fee under the Fil
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution), but the U.8pi®@me Court denied the appeal on January 23, Zli#sequently, the case was rema
to the District Court for consideration of the réniag issues raised by TEA. On June 28, 2012,0Otstrict Court in Travis County held
hearing on TEAS Texas Constitutional claims and on July 9, 20it2red an order finding that the tax was a cortatital Occupations Ta
The Court denied the remainder of TEA’s constitudibclaims. TEA appealed the trial coartuling to the Third Court of Appeals and
May 9, 2014, the Third Court of Appeals issuedlmguadverse to TEA and in favor of the State. TH&d a petition for review to the Tex
Supreme Court on July 17, 2014. The Texas Supfeowet denied TEA's petition for review on Novemi&dr, 2014 On December 8, 201
TEA notified the Texas Attorney General that TE£eimds to file a petition for writ of certiorari vaithe United States Supreme Court.

The Company has not made any payments of thesg $ixee the first quarter of 2009 and plans nehéie any such payments while the
is pending in the courts. However, based on thetaaling, the Company will continue to accrue agense the potential tax liability on
financial statements. If the final decision of ttwurts is ultimately in the Comparsyfavor, as it believes it will be, then the Companill
record a one-time gain of the entire amount preshpaxpensed.

Since the inception of the tax, the Company had pmre than $2 million to the State of Texas umtetest for all four quarters of 2008
the first quarter of 2009, expensing it in the adigsted financial statements (except for two lawa in Dallas where the taxes have not |
paid, but the Company is accruing and expensindidabéity). For all subsequent quarters, as ailtesf the Third Cour 2009 decision, tl
Company has accrued the tax, but not paid the .Sfateordingly, as of September 30, 2014, the Camiges approximately $15.5 million
accrued liabilities for this tax. Patron tax expermamounted to approximately $3.1 million, $3.2lioril and $3.1 million for the years enc
September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelg. Jdmpanys Texas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit ag#iesState in which ti
Company raises additional challenges to the statytesing the fee or tax, demanding repayment etdixes the Company has paid undel
statute. The courts have not yet addressed thagigomal claims. If the Company is successfuthe remaining litigation, the amount
Company has paid under protest should be repagmlied to any future, constitutional admissiondaxther Texas state tax liabilities.

The Companys subsidiary that operated the club in Las Vegasr&eently been audited by the Department of Taraif the State of Neva
for sales and other taxes. The audit period was the date of opening in September 2008 throubh3ly 2010. As a result of the audit,
Department of Taxation contends that the Commahgs Vegas subsidiary owes approximately $2.lianillincluding penalties and intere
for Las Vegas Live Entertainment Taxes. The Compdmes not believe it was subject to the Live Bateament Tax, but to avoid furtt
litigation, agreed to settle this contingency dgrituly 2014 for $775,000. This amount has beenresgitin settlement of lawsuits and o
one-time costs in the accompanying consolidateahfifal statements as of September 30, 2014.

The Company and subsidiaries RCI Entertainment (N@ank), Inc. (“RCI NY”) and Peregrine Enterprisdsic. (“Peregrine”)have bee
defendants in a federal court collective and cid®on, pending since March 30, 2009, in the Sautliéstrict of New York relating to way
and hour claims under the Fair Labor Standards(A&dtSA”) and New York Labor Law (“NYLL"). The Company, RCI NY and Peregt
deny liability in this matter, are vigorously defiing the allegations and have asserted counterslaimd affirmative defenses for offset
unjust enrichment. Discovery has been completedS&stember 10, 2013, the court ruled on the pantietsions for summary judgment. T
court granted summary judgment in favor of the mRitis on liability on their causes of action foimimum wage under the FLSA and NY
and held that entertainers at RelY are employees. The court further held thae@éne was an employer of the Plaintiffs and tnade
federal law, Rick’'s NY’s statutory duty to pay mimim wages was not satisfied by the performancePRé&sstiffs’ received. The court deni
the Plaintiffs’attempt to hold the Company or RCI NY liable asj@mployers with Peregrine and the issue of whetiteeCompany and R
NY are also employers will be determined at a tri@n November 18, 2013, the court set the cladsdate as October 31, 2012 and gra
Plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment on ClaimvEiof their complaint, holding that the Club’s finfees and tiput requirements violat:
New York State law. On November 14, 2014, follogvimotion practice by the parties, the court issaedrder holding that: (a) under N
York law, the performance fees paid by Plaintifés bt offset Defendantshinimum wage obligations; (b) holding Peregrindlégon Clain
Four of the Complaint; (c) denying Defendants’ rapotto strike the reports and testimony of Plaistiéixpert witness; (d) denying Defendants
motion to decertify the Rule 23 class; (e) granimgart Plaintiffs’motion for summary judgment as to damages on C@ira and Two of tt
Complaint (for minimum wage under the FLSA and M¥LL) in the amount of $10,866,035 and grantingiftiés’ motion for summat
judgment as to damages on Claim Four of the Comiplait finding that an issue of fact exists as tether Plaintif s were actually required
pay certain “tip outs” and thus denying the PIdistimotion for summary judgment on that issue. Thar€bas indicated that the iss
remaining in the action will be scheduled for trial 2015. Ultimately, the Company, RCI NY and &gine intend to appeal 1
aforementioned rulings, including seeking the ceypermission to appeal certain issues immediatglyer than after trial.

As previously reported, the Company and its subsie were insured under a liability policy isstigdndemnity Insurance Corporation, RRG
(“lIC™) through October 25, 2013. The Company discsubsidiaries changed insurance companies omldte.

56




RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

J.  Commitments and Contingencies - continued

On November 7, 2013, the Court of Chancery of tta#eSof Delaware entered a Rehabilitation and letion Order (“Rehabilitation Orde),’
which declared IIC impaired, insolvent and in arsafie condition and placed IIC under the supervisibthe Insurance Commissioner of
State of Delaware (“Commissioner”) in her capacty receiver (“Receiver”).The Rehabilitation Order empowered the Commissidn
rehabilitate 1IC through a variety of means, inéhgdgathering assets and marshaling those assetscassary. Further, the order staye
abated pending lawsuits involving IIC as the insurgil May 6, 2014.

On April 10, 2014, the Court of Chancery of thetStaf Delaware entered a Liquidation and Injunctorder With Bar Date (iquidatior
Order”), which ordered the liquidation of 1IC and terminai&t insurance policies or contracts of insurargsuéd by [IC. The Liquidatic
Order further ordered that all claims against [I@sibe filed with the Receiver before the closéwdiness on January 16, 2015 and thi
pending lawsuits involving IIC as the insurer arglier stayed or abated until October 7, 2014 .a Assult, the Company and its subsidiarie
longer have insurance coverage under the liakplitycy with 11IC. Currently, there are multiple divawsuits pending or threatened agains
Company and its subsidiaries; and other potergi@buits for incidents that occurred before Oct@ir2013 could still be filed. The Comp:
has retained counsel to defend against and evahede claims and lawsuits. The Company also tafile theappropriate claims against |
with the Receiver by the January 16, 2015 deadhiogiever, there are no assurances of any recovany these claims. It is unknown at !
time what effect this uncertainty will have on Bempany. As previously stated, the Company haaidéd general liability coverage fr
another insurer, effective October 25, 2013, whidhcover any claims arising from actions afteatliate.

Settlement of lawsuits and other diitae costs include approximately $2.6 million irttenents with claimants which were unpaid by
general liability insurance carrier. We will beirii a claim with the insurance company’s estate waitld the states insurance fund for the
settlements.

K. Common Stock

During the year ended September 30, 2012, theviolp common stock transactions occurred:

« Warrants totaling 118,856 shares were exercisdublgers for proceeds of $ 1.0 million.

« The Company acquired 262,054 shares of its own aamstock at a cost of $ 2.1 million. These sharee subsequently retired.
During the year ended September 30, 2013, thewiolp common stock transactions occurred:

e The Company acquired 192,455 shares of its own aomstock at a cost of $ 1.6 million. These shareee subsequently retired.

« In connection with the acquisition of a businebs, Company issued 100,000 shares of common stattied/at $863,00
During the year ended September 30, 2014, theviolp common stock transactions occurred:

« The Company acquired 101,330 shares of its own aomstock at a cost of $1.2 million. These sharesevgubsequently retired.

« The Company issued 295,061 common shares for tneecsion of debt and interest in the aggregate atafu$2,968,750.

« Options exercised during the year amounted to &0sbares and $3,125,403.
L. Employee Retirement Plan
The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the “Plantjich covers all of the Comparsytorporate employees. The Plan allows the corg
employees to contribute up to the maximum amouluwald by law, with the Company making a matchingitdbution of 3% of th

employee$ salary. Expenses related to matching contribstionthe Plan approximated $83,000, $64,000 ando$B5for the years end
September 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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2012 Acquisitions and Openings
The New West

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Dining Servicesaffant County), Inc., a Texas Corporation (“RCI raat County”),entered into &
Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Membership Wvitts Fred McDonald (“Seller”for the purchase of 100 % of the membership urf
12291 CBW, LLC (*12291 CBW”). 12291 CBW owned aogerated an adult entertainment cabaret known he New West'located &
12291 Camp Bowie West, Aledo, Texas. The Agreerf@nPurchase and Sale of Membership Units closewtser 5, 2011, whereby R
Tarrant County acquired the membership units 0®122BW for the purchase price of $380,000. The Camymow operates the BYOB ¢
as “Temptations”. The entire purchase price of $380 was allocated to SOB License.

Silver City

Our wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Dining Servi¢€seemmons), Inc. (“RCI Stemmons”), RCI Dining Sess (Inwood), Inc. (“RCI Inwood”
and RCI Dining Services (Stemmons 2), Inc. (“RChiDg”) entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (Hréor Agreement”)with Mr.
Thanasi Mantas, Green Star, Inc. (“Green StarfeMining Club, Inc. (“Fine Dining”), Blue Star Ertainment Inc. (“Blue Star")Adelphi
Group Ltd. (“Adelphi”) and PNYX Limited Partnersh{tPNYX"). The Prior Agreement was amended on December 28,. Z01 January 1
2012, (i) Green Star, Fine Dining, Mr. Mantas, Asté] PNYX, RCI Stemmons, RCI Dining and RCI Hold#ngnc., our wholly owne
subsidiary (“RCI Holdings”), entered into a new &d urchase Agreement (the “Silver City PurchaseeAment”)and (ii) Blue Star, M
Mantas, PNYX, RCI Inwood and RCI Holdings enteneih ia separate Stock Purchase Agreement (the ‘BarePurchase Agreementiyhich
was subsequently terminated. The entry into theeSiCity Purchase Agreement and the Blue Star Rseci\greement terminated the F
Agreement, as amended.

Green Star owns and operates an adult entertaincadaret known as “Silver City Cabareptated at 7501 N. Stemmons Freeway, Ds
Texas 75247. Fine Dining has a concession to peoaicdohol sales and services to Green Star atilver ity Cabaret. Mr. Mantas owned
% of the stock of Green Star and Fine Dining. Pamsuo the Silver City Purchase Agreement, Mr. Maragreed to sell (i) all the stock
Green Star to RCI Stemmons for the purchase pfi§e10400,000 in the form of a promissory note &ijdall the stock of Fine Dining to Rt
Fine Dining for the purchase price of $100,000ha form of a promissory note. Each of the promigsates are payable over 11 years
have an adjustable interest rate of 5.5%. The @d@sst to prime plus 2.5% in the 61st month, woexceed 9%. This transaction closer
January 17, 2012.

Adelphi owned the real properties where the SilRéy Cabaret is located, including 7501 N. StemmBrseway, Dallas, Texas 75247
7600 John West Carpenter Freeway, Dallas, Texad77/5nhd PNYX owned certain adjacent real propetty36 John West Carper
Freeway, Dallas, Texas 75247. In transactions aélab the Prior Agreement, Adelphi and PNYX hadvimesly entered into real est
purchase agreements with RCI Holdings on Novemf@er2011, which agreements were subsequently ameaslgzhrt of the Silver Ci
Purchase Agreement transaction. Pursuant to theeseste purchase agreements, as amended, (i) dmpeed to sell the real propertie
7501 N. Stemmons and 7600 John West Carpenteindquurchase price of $ 6,500,000 , payable $ 300/98ash and $ 6,200,000 in the fi
of an adjustable 5.5 % promissory note that is pkeyaver 11 years, and (i) PNYX agreed to sellrénd property at 7506 John West Carpe
for the purchase price of $1,000,000, payable ®0@in cash and $300,000 in the form of an adjlstatb% promissory note that is pay:
over 11 years. The rates adjust to prime plus 2rb%e 61st month, not to exceed 9%. The real @stahsactions closed contemporanec
with the Silver City Purchase Agreement. At closioigthe Silver City Purchase Agreement transactidis Mantas entered into a Non-
Competition Agreement providing for him to not coetgwith our subsidiaries by owning, participatorgoperating an establishment featu
adult entertainment within Dallas County and alhtiguous counties (excepting the property located4#9 Inwood Road, Dallas, Te:
75247).

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets and liadsldt the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 6,51(
Equipment and furnitur 13C
Noncompete 10C
Inventory and other current ass 47
Goodwill 774
SOB license: 2,21:
Deferred taxe (774,

Net asset $ 9,00(
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The Company incurred approximately $76,000 in legzdts associated with the acquisition, which a@uded in legal and professio
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofiémtome.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offgetite deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net assel
tax and financial purposes. The goodwill is notwdgible for income tax purposes. The results ofratiens of these entities are included in
Company’s consolidated results of operations sitecmiary 17, 2012. This acquisition was made ttéurthe Companyg’ growth objective «
acquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribute the Company earnings per share. Proforma results of opesatiame not been provided,
the amounts were not deemed material to the cataeli financial statements.

Jaguars

On August 3, 2012, our wholly owned subsidiary, ubag Acquisition, Inc. (“JAI"), entered into a Phase Agreement (thePurchas
Agreement”) with Bryan S. Foster and 13 entitiesed by him (the “Companies™o acquire nine operating adult cabarets and tviei
licensed locations under development (collectivéhg “Foster Clubs”)Ten of the clubs are located in Texas, includingoslin Tye (ne:
Abilene), Lubbock (two clubs), Odessa (two clulid)Paso, Harlingen, Longview, Edinburg and Beaumantl one club is located in Phoe
Arizona. On September 17, 2012, the parties enteredan Amendment to Purchase Agreement, wherkbyBeaumont acquisition w
effected through an asset purchase rather thaock gurchase. The Amendment also made minor chatogesrtain representations
warranties within the Purchase Agreement.

On September 17, 2012, JAI and its subsidiariesecldhe transactions contemplated by the Purchgesefent, as amended, and comp
the acquisitions of nine of the 11 Foster Clubse @hquisitions of the remaining two clubs, whicé kcated in Beaumont and Longview, w
completed shortly after final permitting had bedatained from the local jurisdictions, at which tire closing documents for those two cl
were released. Longview was closed on Septemb&®2 and Beaumont on October 12, 2012. As coraiderfor the purchase of the Fo:
Clubs, JAI and its subsidiaries paid to Foster #fiedCompanies at closing $3,500,000 cash and $2200 pursuant to a secured promis
note (the “Club Note”)The Club Note bears interest at the rate of 9.58@paum, is payable in 144 equal monthly installteemd is securt
by the assets purchased from the Companies. Upsinglof the Real Estate Agreement (as defineddjeldAl and its subsidiaries paid Fo:
the remaining $500,000 cash consideration due thélpurchase of the Foster Clubs.

The Club Note also provides that in the event agulatory or administrative authority seeks to ecgoor attempts to collect any tax
obligation or liability that may be due pursuanthie Texas Patron Tax (sometimes referred to asPthle Tax”) or related legislation, then 1
then outstanding principal amount of the Club Nateof the date the tax is enforced, will immedjabe reduced by an amount calculate:
multiplying 1,200,000 by the dollar amount of therqperson tax implemented (the “Reduction Amountfhe Reduction Amount cant
exceed $6,000,000. By way of example, if exactlp fwears after closing, a $2.00 per person tax ldmented and enforced, the Reduc
Amount would be $ 2,400,000 and the then princgmbunt of the Club Note would be reduced $2,400,06@ Texas Patron Tax is currel
enacted to be $5 per person which would equate$®,@00,000 Reduction Amount if enforced. This [smn was invoked in July 2014 (¢
Note P, Contractual Debt Reductio

At closing of the Purchase Agreement, Mr. Fostéerea into a five-year nocempetition agreement providing for him to not catgpwith u
or our subsidiaries by owning, participating or igtmg an establishment featuring adult entertamnwethin a radius of 50 miles of t
location of any of the adult clubs owned by oursidiaries, excluding the adult cabaret locatedl®2¥ Reeder Road, Dallas, Texas, 75229.

As previously disclosed on August 9, 2012, in catioa with the Purchase Agreement, our wholly owsatsidiary, Jaguars Holdings, |
(“JHI™), entered into a Commercial Contract (theed® Estate Agreement\yvhich agreement provides for JHI to purchase théeastate whe
the Foster Clubs are located. The transactionseogriaited by the Real Estate Agreement closed oab®ctl6, 2012. See below under 2
Acquisitions and Openings for an explanation ofréed estate transaction.
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The following information summarizes the allocatwmfifair values assigned to the assets and lisdsilat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Equipment and furnitur $ 47€
Noncompete 45C
Inventory and other current ass 16
Goodwill 19,13
SOB license! 5,920
Net asset $ 26,00¢

The Company incurred approximately $ 316,000 irmlegsts and findes’ fees associated with the acquisition, which ackuded in legal ar
professional expense in the accompanying conselidstatement of income.

The results of operations of these entities aréudledd in the Companyg’ consolidated results of operations since Septerhbe2012. Thi
acquisition was made to further the Company’s gnoglijective of acquiring nightclubs that will quiglcontribute to the Compang’earning
per share.

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of
immediate preceding period. The pro forma inforomais not necessarily indicative of what would hageurred had the acquisition been n
as of such periods, nor is it indicative of futwesults of operations. The pro forma amounts gfieceto appropriate adjustments for the
value of the assets acquired, amortization of mitalas and interest expense.

FOR THE YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 3(

2012
Revenue! $ 109,72:
Net income $ 8,66(
Net income per sha~ basic $ 0.8¢
Net income per sha- diluted $ 0.8¢
Weighted average shares outstan basic 9,691
Weighted average shares outstanc diluted 9,697

2013 Acquisitions and Openings

In connection with the acquisition of the Fosteulfd, as explained above, the Companyholly owned subsidiary, Jaguars Holdings,
(“JHI™), entered into a Commercial Contract (theed® Estate Agreement'\vhich agreement provided for JHI to purchase tla¢ estate whe
the Foster Clubs are located. The transactionengiaited by the Real Estate Agreement closed oob®@ctl6, 2012. The purchase price o
real estate was $10.1 million (discounted to $9iian as explained below) and was paid with $3B0,0n cash, $9.1 million in mortga
notes, and an agreement to make atome-payment of $ 650,000 in twelve years that $ewr interest. The note bears interest at theaf
9.5%, is payable in 143 equal monthly installmearid is secured by the real estate properties. Tmep@ny has recorded a debt discoul
$431,252 related to the omiene payment of $650,000. The Company reduced pusly recognized goodwill because the purchasene
Foster Clubs operations and the real estate wergideEred to be one purchase transaction with nheltlosings and were included in the s.
purchase agreement.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets at the psectate. (in thousands)

Buildings and lant $ 10,06¢
Goodwill (431
Net asset $ 9,63¢
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On March 4, 2013, the Company completed the adegprisof a second adult business in midtown Manhatfehe Company opened a r
gentlemen's club at the 61 West 37th Street logajicst east of Sixth Avenue. The Company paid i&ilion for the business, with $ 1
million paid in cash and the remaining $1.5 milliorsix percent promissory notes convertible irttares of the Comparsg’common stock al
conversion price of $10.25. The notes call for rhbnpayments of $ 16,653, including principal antkerest, and mature in 120 months. Al
option of the noteholders, the principal amountha notes and the accrued but unpaid interestdhem@ay be converted into shares of
Companys common stock at $ 10.25 per share. The notesdezmable by the Company at any time if the cppitice of its common sto
for 20 consecutive trading days is at least $ 1pet7share.

The following information summarizes the allocatwmfrfair values assigned to the assets and lisdsilat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Noncompete $ 15C
Goodwill 997
SOB license: 2,85(
Deferred taxe (997
Net asset $ 3,00¢

The Company incurred approximately $ 34,000 in llegsts associated with the acquisition, which iaduded in legal and professio
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofiémtome.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offgethte deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net asset
tax and financial purposes. The goodwill is nodwlgtible for income tax purposes. The resultspdrations of this company are include
the Company'’s consolidated results of operationsesMarch 5, 2013. This acquisition was made tth&urthe Companyg’ growth objective «
acquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribute the Company earnings per share. Proforma results of op&istiave not been provided
the amounts were not deemed material to the cafseli financial statements.

On May 29, 2013, our wholly owned subsidiary, RQ@tdttainment (Delamo), Inc., completed the acqoisibf the remaining 50 % of 19
Delamo, LLC, which owns a new adult cabaret in Bogjeles County, California. We issued 100,000 retstl shares of our common stoc
an individual in consideration for outstanding mem#hip interests of 1957 Delamo, LLC. These sharese valued at $ 863,000. 1
Company had previously paid $ 600,000 in cashHeriitial 50% investment.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets at the psectate. (in thousands)

Furniture and equipme $ 20C
SOB license! 1,26:
Net asset $ 1,46

The Company incurred approximately $ 7,000 in legsts associated with the acquisition, which ackuded in legal and professional expe
in the accompanying consolidated statement of ircom

The results of operations of this company are hetlin the Compang’consolidated results of operations since May28@3. This acquisitic
was made to further the Company’s growth objectifeacquiring nightclubs that will quickly contributto the Compang’ earnings p
share. Proforma results of operations have nat peavided, as the amounts were not deemed matetilaé consolidated financial statements

In June 2013, the Compamysubsidiary, RCI Dining Services (Beaumont), aquired, for $300,000 , the sexually oriented iess licens
rights to operate an adult cabaret at a propertywhicth another Company subsidiary had purchaseBeaumont, Texas. Of this amot
$245,000 has been allocated to licenses.

2014 Acquisitions and Openings

In October 2013, the Company purchased 49 perdentorporation that operates the Dallas club “PAlainum” and also acquired the

building and personal property. Total cost of ttemsaction was $500,000. As the Company has carfttbis subsidiary, it is consolidated in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

M.  Acquisitions - continued

A subsidiary of the Company closed a transactieoliring the air rights above the Compas83rd Street club in Manhattan in October 2
The subsidiary entered into a contract to buy #relland building for $ 10 million at any time iretnext five years. Concurrent with

building transaction, a third party (the “Third BaPurchaser’purchased the balance of the air rights of the gntggthat are not subject to

Option Agreement. The purchase price for theseigits was $13,000,000, of which the Compangubsidiary contributed $5,200,00(
connection with the overall business transactidme Transactions are part of a previously announi@tsaction under which the Comp
agreed to purchase the land and building for $ #flBom The new agreement also amends the leasthéothreestory building at 50 West 32
Street to $100,000 per month for the next five geather than the $180,000 per month called ftneénoriginal agreement.

N. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Fiscal Year 201:
Quarters Ende

Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C

Revenue! $ 29,42: $ 32,87( $ 33,34: $ 33,53¢
Gross Profif $ 25,67¢ $ 28,82¢ $ 29,04¢ $ 29,19t
Net income $ 2,40¢ $ 3,722 $ 691 $ 4,42
Basic income per shar

Net income $ 0.2t ¢ 0.3¢ $ 0.07 $ 0.44
Diluted income per shar

Net income $ 0.2t $ 0.37 $ 0.07 $ 0.4z
Basic weighted average shares outstan 9,54¢ 9,661 9,88: 10,17¢
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 9,85¢ 10,85 9,96¢ 11,01«

Fiscal Year 201
Quarters Ende
Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C

Revenue! $ 27,14, $ 28,72¢ $ 28,30¢ $ 28,03:
Gross Profif $ 23,75 $ 25,23: $ 24,62¢ $ 24,44(
Net income (loss $ 2,647 $ 2,74 $ 2,19t $ 1,60¢
Basic income (loss) per sha

Net income (loss $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.17
Diluted income (loss) per shai

Net income (loss $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2 $ 0.17
Basic weighted average shares outstan 9,57¢ 9,51« 9,47¢ 9,50¢
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 9,83: 9,98¢ 9,64 9,60:

Fiscal Year 201
Quarters Ende
Dec. 31 March 31 June 3( Sept. 3C

Revenue: $ 22,01¢ $ 25,41 $ 23,92. $ 23,86¢
Gross Profif $ 19,087 $ 22,02: $ 20,64: $ 20,82
Net income $ 2,18t $ 2,117 $ 1,82: $ 1,45:¢
Basic income per shar

Net income $ 0.2: $ 0.2z $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1t
Diluted income per shar

Net income $ 0.2: $ 0.2z $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1t
Basic weighted average shares outstan 9,68t 9,72( 9,72¢ 9,63:
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 9,68 9,731 9,731 9,63¢
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2014, 2013 AND 2012

O. Impairment of Assets

The Company reviews property and equipment andhgiltde assets with definite lives for impairment emever events or changes
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of @aetasay not be recoverable. Recoverability of thessets is measured by comparison 1
carrying amounts to future undiscounted cash fltvesassets are expected to generate. If propedyeqnipment and intangible assets '
definite lives are considered to be impaired, thpdirment to be recognized equals the amount bghwthie carrying value of the asset exc
its fair value. Assets are grouped at the lowegtll for which there are identifiable cash flowsenhassessing impairment, principally at
club level. Cash flows for our club assets are tified at the individual club level. The Compasyannual evaluation for goodwill a
indefinitedived intangible assets was performed as of Sepe®®, 2014. At September 30, 2014, the Comparygrézed impairment on tv
properties, one which it closed and one which id $0 October 2014. These impairments were thelre$uhe sale and closure and not fi
any goodwill impairment analysis. Following is tledevant information on the assets impaired:

(in thousands

Current assel $ 65
Property and equipme 1,01¢
Definite lived intangible! 53
Indefinite lived intangible 1,87¢
Patron tax payabl (670
Other current liabilities (449
Total impairment $ 2,294
P. Gain on Contractual Debt Reduction

The Club Note from the Jaguars acquisition (see NbtAcquisitions) also provides that in the evany regulatory or administrative autho
seeks to enforce or attempts to collect any taobtigation or liability that may be due pursuanttie Texas Patron Tax (sometimes referrt
as the “Pole Tax"pr related legislation, then the then outstandirigcpal amount of the Club Note, as of the date tdx is enforced, w
immediately be reduced by an amount calculated bitiplying 1,200,000 by the dollar amount of therqperson tax implemented (i
“Reduction Amount”).The Reduction Amount cannot exceed $6,000,000. By of example, if exactly two years after closiag$2.00 pe
person tax is implemented and enforced, the Restuétmount would be $ 2,400,000 and the then pralcimount of the Club Note would
reduced $2,400,000. The Texas Patron Tax is clyrenacted to be $5 per person which would equate $6,000,000 Reduction Amoun
enforced. The State of Texas has demanded paymdnthi& provision was invoked in July 2014 and @ampany recorded a gain of
million, less related debt discount.

Q. Restricted Stock Issuanct

In July 2014, the Company granted to an executifieeo and an officer of a subsidiary an aggredatal of 96,325 shares of restricted st
The total grant date fair value of all of these elsavas $938,478 and vest in two years. Restristeck awards are awards of common s
that are subject the restrictions on transfer ana tisk of forfeiture if the awardee terminatesptoyment with the Company prior to the la
of the restrictions. The fair value of such stocksvdetermined using the closing price on the gilaté and compensation expense is rect
over the applicable vesting periods. Forfeitures wacognized as a reversal of expense of any wdesmhounts in the period incurr
Unamortized expense amounted to $860,543 at Septe3b2014.

R. Warrants Issued

In February 2014, the Company issued warrantsqaiez 100,000 shares of Company common share$itargcial adviser. The exercise pi
of the warrants was $11.77, the market price ofstigres at the time. The warrants were exercisabtediately and expire in two yeaBhe
fair value of the warrants, which was entirely det to expense upon issuance, was estimated tb43683 in accordance with FASB A
820, Fair Value Measurementausing a Black-Scholes option-pricing model ugimg following weighted average assumptions:

Volatility 31.5%
Expected life 1.0 year
Expected dividend yiel -
Risk free rate 12%
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RCI HOSPITALITY HOLDINGS, INC. (FORMERLY RICK'S CABRET INTERNATIONAL, INC.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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S. Subsequent Events

On October 16, 2014, the Company sold its whollynedv interest in 1957 Delamo, LLC, the operator tef Yivid Cabaret in Rancl
Dominguez, California for $250,000 in cash. The @any recognized an impairment on the sale of $1llibmas of September 30, 2014.

On October 30, 2014, a 51% owned subsidiary ofGhmpany (“Robust”acquired certain assets and liabilities of Robustrgy LLC fo
$200,000 in cash and 200,000 shares of its comrwank $or a total purchase price of $5.0 million.eT@ompany has also agreed to i
50,000 shares of the Compasyommon stock to the two principals of Robust Bpdrl C if Robust has net income of at least $1 ion
during the 2015 calendar year. The principals wesilter into a Lockdp Agreement with the Company in connection with issuance by tl
Company of its shares of common stock as explaaede, which will provide that none of the shardlve sold for a period of one year a
the date of issuance and, thereafter, neither ipahavill sell more than 1/6th of the their respeetshares per month that they receiv
connection herewith.

Robust is an energy drink distributor, targeting ¢im premises bar and mixer market. At this timhe,Gompany has not allocated the purc
price to the acquired assets.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
There have been no changes in or disagreementgedthuntants on accounting and financial disclasure
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

In accordance with Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchangg &s of the end of the period covered by #nsual Report on Form 10-Kpanagemel
evaluated, with the participation of our princigakcutive officer and principal financial officéhe effectiveness of the design and operati
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defindgiule 13ai5(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on their eigin of these disclost
controls and procedures, they have concluded tivadisclosure controls and procedures were effessof the date of such evaluation.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and tai@ing adequate internal control over financigbading, as such term is defined
Exchange Act Rule 13a5(f). Because of its inherent limitations, intdrrntrol over financial reporting may not prevemt detec
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibreffectiveness to future periods are subjectigk that controls may become inadeq
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfe€ompliance with the policies or procedures rdateriorate. Management assesse
effectiveness of our internal control over finahegporting as of September 30, 2014. In making &ssessment, management used the ¢
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiegiof the Treadway Commission (“*COSQO”) itnternal Control-ntegrated Framewol
(1992)". Based on this assessment, we believe that, aspdérSber 30, 2014, our internal control over finahceporting was effective bas
on those criteria. Our internal control over fin@hceporting as of September 30, 2014, has beditealby Whitley Penn LLP, an indepenc
registered public accounting firm, as stated inirtieport which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

During the three months ended September 30, 20ikte thave been no changes in our internal contret Ginancial reporting that ha
materially affected or are reasonably likely to emily affect internal control over financial regiog.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Our Directors are elected annually and hold officgil the next annual meeting of our stockholdarsuatil their successors are elected
qualified. Officers are appointed by the Board d@febtors annually and serve at the discretion efBbard of Directors (subject to any exis

employment agreements). There is no family relatigm between or among any of our directors andwiexofficers. Our Board of Directc
consists of six persons. The following table setthfour Directors and executive officers:

Name Age Position

Eric S. Langat 46 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presit
Phillip Marshall 65 Chief Financial Office

Travis Rees: 45 Director and Executive Vice Preside

Robert L. Watter: 63 Director

Steven Jenkin 57 Director

Luke Lirot 58 Director

Nour-Dean Anaka 57 Director
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Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 andPresident since March 1999. He has been invdlvede adult entertainment busin
since 1989. From January 1997 through the predenhas held the position of President of XTC Cabane. From November 1992 ur
January 1997, Mr. Langan was the President of BgtBieauties, Inc. Through these activities, Mr. gam has acquired the knowledge
skills necessary to successfully operate adultrertenent businesses.

Phillip Marshall has served as our Chief Finan€ifficer since May 2007. He was previously contnoié Dorado Exploration, Inc., an oil a
gas exploration and production company, from Felyr@2@07 to May 2007. He previously served as Chiaefincial Officer of CDT Systen
Inc., a publicly held water technology companypirduly 2003 to September 2006. In 1972, Mr. Matdedan his public accounting car
with the international accounting firm, KMG Main Himan. After its merger with Peat Marwick, Mr. Maadl served as an audit partne
KPMG for several years. After leaving KPMG, Mr. Mhell was partner in charge of the audit practicdagkson & Rhodes in Dallas fri
1992 to 2003, where he specialized in small pupleld companies. Mr. Marshall is also a trustedJofted Mortgage Trust and Unit
Development Funding IV, publicly held real estateeistment trusts.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been aackvr since inception. Mr. Watters was our Prestdand our Chief Executive Officer fr(
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters lbamed and operated Rick’Cabaret, an adult entertainment club in New @d
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alssuader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GadorBar & Grill, an adult club located
Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selectiegotiated the property purchase and oversawlébigin and permitting for the club t
became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas. Mttaiapracticed law as a solicitor in London, Endland is qualified to practice law in N
York. Mr. Watters worked in the international tasogp of the accounting firm of Touche, Ross & Gmww succeeded by Deloitte & Touc
from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in the privadetige of law in Houston, Texas from 1983 to 1986en he became involved in our full-
time management. Mr. Watters graduated from thedbanSchool of Economics and Political Science, ©rsity of London, in 1973 with
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in 1975 witaster of Laws degree from Osgoode Hall Law Sthéark University. Since foundir
Rick’'s Cabaret, Mr. Watters has been in the acdukreainment industry. He brings this valuable eigrece to the Board.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Ju@g. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddipaccountant with Pringle Jenkins
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikids is the President and owner of Pringle Jenkin&ssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins he
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nlens is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA. Mnkins’impressive accountit
background makes him a valuable asset to the Boatdhe Audit Committee.

Travis Reese became our Director and Executive Piasident in 1999. From 1997 through 1999, Mr.deelead been a senior netw
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa New Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compaystems engineer with Deloitte
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasident with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc. laternet service provider. From 1¢
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continendddlines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was afpivith Hang On, Inc., an airlil
company. Mr. Reese has an Assocmfaegree in Aeronautical Science from Texas Stat#hiical College. In addition to being involvediia
adult entertainment industry since 1992, Mr. Rees®'depth information technology knowledge is aefiséto the Board oversight of ot
internet businesses.

Luke Lirot became a Director on July 31, 2007. Mrot received his law degree from the UniversifySan Francisco in 1986. After serving
an intern in the San Francisco Public Defersl@ffice in 1986, Mr. Lirot returned to Florida ardtablished a private law practice wher
continues to practice and specializes in adultreaitenent issues. He is a past President of ttst Rimendment LawyersAssociation and hi
actively participated in numerous state and fedeghl matters. Mr. Lirot represents as counsetexcof individuals and entities within ¢
industry. Having practiced in this area for overy2ars, he is aware of virtually every type of lagaue that can arise, making him an impo
member of the Board.

Nour-Dean Anakar became a Director on September 14,.2B10 Anakar has over 20 years of experience iniepositions in th
development and management of betting and gampwissand entertainment, and hospitality and leispperations in the United Sta
Europe, and Latin America. From 1988 until 200thk&l executive management and business develogositions with Ladbrokes USA a
Ladbrokes South America. In 2001, Mr. Anakar becémeemanaging partner of LCIN LLC and LCIN S.A.nJaiego and Buenos Aires ba:
gaming companies, which were contracted by Grupde@»of Spain to oversee the development of all temlinology gaming projects ¢
operations in Latin America. He received his BAManagement Science from Duke University and CHAlaspitality Management from t
Conrad Hilton College at the University of Houstdfr.. Anakar’s experience managing and developing businessesluistries with simile
characteristics to ours make him an excellenobfthe Board.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee whose memberStmven Jenkins, Nolrean Anakar, Robert Watters and Luke Lirot. All niem
are independent Directors. The primary purpos@éeftudit Committee is to oversee the Company'safir reporting process on behalf of
Board of Directors. The Audit Committee meets pela with our Chief Financial Officer and with oundependent registered put
accounting firm and evaluates the responses bgthef Financial Officer both to the facts preserded to the judgments made by our oul
independent registered public accounting firm. Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed ourtedidinancial statements for the y
ended September 30, 2014 with our management.rstevienkins serves as the Audit Committee’s Firadritxpert.
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In May 2000, our Board adopted a Charter for thelif@Gommittee. A copy of the Audit Committee Chartan be found on our website
www.rcihospitality.com.com. The Charter establishbe independence of our Audit Committee and setth fthe scope of the Au
Committee's duties. The Purpose of the Audit Cotemiis to conduct continuing oversight of our ficah affairs. The Audit Committe
conducts an ongoing review of our financial repamsl other financial information prior to their bgifiled with the Securities and Excha
Commission, or otherwise provided to the publice Hudit Committee also reviews our systems, mettamdsprocedures of internal conti
in the areas of: financial reporting, audits, ttegsoperations, corporate finance, managerial,niineel and SEC accounting, compliance \
law, and ethical conduct. A majority of the membefsthe Audit Committee will be independent. ThedtuCommittee is objective, a
reviews and assesses the work of our independegistes=d public accounting firm and our internadibdepartment.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed thearmtequired by PCAOB Standard No. 16, Communinatiwith Audit Committees, a
our audited financial statements for the fiscalryeaded September 30, 2014 with management andndependent registered put
accounting firm. The Audit Committee has receives Wwritten disclosures and the letter from our patelent registered public accounting 1
required by PCAOB Rule 3526, Communication with Au@ommittees Concerning Independence, and the tADdmmittee has discuss
with the independent registered public accountimg the independent registered public accounting'§ independence. The Audit Commi
recommended to the Board of Directors that the Gomis audited financial statements for the fisedrySeptember 30, 2014 be include
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2014.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

The Company has a Nominating Committee whose mesrdrer Steven Jenkins, NoDean Anakar, Robert Watters and Luke Lirot. In

2004, the Board unanimously adopted a Charter reigiard to the process to be used for identifying) @valuating nominees for director.
Charter establishes the independence of our Noingh&ommittee and sets forth the scope of the Natiig Committee's duties. A majol
of the members of the Nominating Committee will ibdependent. A copy of the Nominating Commitse€harter can be found on

Company'’s website at www.rcihospitality.com

COMPENSATION COMMITEE

The Company has a Compensation Committee whose ersrale Steven Jenkins, Nddean Anakar, Robert Watters and Luke Lirot. In .
2014, the Compensation Committee unanimously adopt€harter with regard to the Compensation Coreeiitresponsibilities, includir
evaluating, reviewing and determining the compeasaif our Chief Executive Officer and other exégaitofficers. A copy of the Nominatil
Committee’s Charter can be found on the Companglssite at www.rcihospitality.comThe primary purpose of the Compensation Comn
is to evaluate and review the compensation of dkexofficers.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of418yjuires our directors and executive officersl persons who own beneficially more t
ten percent of our common stock, to file report®whership and changes of ownership with the Seesrand Exchange Commission. Be
solely upon a review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 furnisbedis during the fiscal year ended September 304,2@/e believe that the directc
executive officers, and greater than ten percenefigal owners have complied with all applicabikng requirements during the fiscal y
ended September 30, 2014, with the exception ofrhvembers of our Board of Directors, including RebAfatters and NoubBean Anaka
who each were late in the filing of a Form 4.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindipadcutive and Senior Financial Officers, a copywvbich can be found on our website
www.rcihospitality.com

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This compensation discussion and analysis descthlmsnaterial elements of the Compangompensation programs as they relate t
executive officers who are listed in the compensatiables appearing below. This compensation disonsand analysis focuses on
information contained in the following tables amtbted footnotes. The individuals who served asGbmpanys Chief Executive Officer al
Chief Financial Officer during fiscal 2014, as wadl the other individuals included in the Summaoynpensation Table, are referred to a:
“named executive officers.”

Overview of Compensation Committee Role and Resjiires

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directmversees our compensation plans and policiegwsvand approves all decisit
concerning the named executive officecempensation, which may further be approved byBbard, and administers our stock option
equity plans, including reviewing and approvingckt@ption grants and equity awards under the plahe Compensation Committee’
membership is determined by the Board and is coatpestirely of independent directors.
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Management plays a role in the compensation-sefilngess. The most significant aspects of managesesle are to evaluate emplo
performance and recommend salary levels and eqaitypensation awards. Our Chief Executive Officéernfmakes recommendations to
Compensation Committee and the Board concerningpeasation for other executive officers. Our Chigé&utive Officer is a member of 1
Board but does not participate in Board decisi@garding any aspect of his own compensation. Thmp@asation Committee can rel
independent advisors or consultants.

Compensation Committee Process

The Compensation Committee reviews executive cosgi@m in connection with the evaluation and appl@f an employment agreement
increase in responsibilities or other factors. Wehpect to equity compensation awarded to oth@lmmaes, the Compensation Committe
the Board grants stock options, often after reogiva recommendation from our Chief Executive Offidehe Compensation Committee ¢
evaluates proposals for incentive and performago&yeawards, and other compensation.

Compensation Philosophy

The Compensation Committee emphasizes the impditdnbetween the Comparg/performance, which ultimately affects stockholdalue
and the compensation of its executives. Therefibre,primary goal of the Comparsyexecutive compensation policy is to try to alihe
interests of the executive officers with the instseof the stockholders. In order to achieve thialgthe Company attempts to, (i) o
compensation opportunities that attract and regaacutives whose abilities and skills are crittoathe longterm success of the Company
reward them for their efforts in ensuring the sescef the Company, (ii) align the Company’s compéna programs with the Company’
long-term business strategies and objectives, @ifigpovide variable compensation opportunitiesittlare directly linked to the Company’
performance and stockholder value, including aritggtiake in the Company. Our named executive effitcompensation utilizes two prime
components — base salary and long-term equity cosgimn —to achieve these goals. Additionally, the CompgosaCommittee me
award discretionary bonuses to certain executivesed on the individual's contribution to the ackieent of the Company’ strategi
objectives.

Setting Executive Compensation

We fix executive base compensation at a level wienee enables us to hire and retain individuala ipompetitive environment and to rew
satisfactory individual performance and a satisfigctievel of contribution to our overall businessafs. We also take into account
compensation that is paid by companies that weseelio be our competitors and by other compani¢ls which we believe we genere
compete for executives.

In establishing compensation packages for execufffieers, numerous factors are considered, inolgdhe particular executiv&'experienc
expertise and performance, our compargverall performance and compensation packagéshleain the marketplace for similar positions
arriving at amounts for each component of compémsabur Compensation Committee strives to strikeappropriate balance between t
compensation and incentive compensation. The Cosapen Committee also endeavors to properly aleodstween cash and noast
compensation and between annual and long-term awsafien.

The Role of Shareholder Say-on-Pay Votes

At our annual meeting of shareholders held on Au@gys2014, approximately 94.3% of the shareholdein® voted on the “say-on-pay”
proposal approved the compensation of our namecdugéixe officers, as disclosed in the proxy statetmn@ithough this advisory shareholi
vote on executive compensation is rionding, the Compensation Committee will considee butcome of the vote when making fu
compensation decisions for named executive officers

Base Salan

The Company provides executive officers and othgpleyees with base salary to compensate them foices rendered during the fiscal y«
Subject to the provisions contained in employmeagreements with executive officers concerning badarg amounts, base salaries of
executive officers are established based upon cosatien data of comparable companies in our matketexecutives job responsibilitie
level of experience, individual performance andtabation to the business. We believe it is impottéor the Company to provide adeqt
fixed compensation to highly qualified executivasour competitive industry. In making base salaggisions, the Compensation Commi
uses its discretion and judgment based upon pdrkapwledge of industry practice but does not apmty specific formula to determine
base salaries for the executive officers.
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Equity-Based Awards—Equity Compensation Plans

The Compensation Committee uses equity awards]lysnahe form of stock options, primarily to meéte our named executive officers
realize benefits from longeerm strategies that increase stockholder valug tapromote commitment and retention. Equity awareist upo
the achievement of performance criteria that thengany believes are critical to its long-term susces

The Compensation Committee believes that stockongtare an important form of logkm incentive compensation because they alig
executive officers interests with the interests of stockholders;esiine options have value only if our stock priveréases over time. From ti
to time, the Compensation Committee may consideugistances that warrant the grant of full valuams such as restricted stock u
Examples of these circumstances include, amongxth#racting a new executive to the team; reaggia promotion to the executive te
retention; and rewarding outstanding long-term gbations.

Our equity grant practices require that stock amgiand other equity compensation have prices detedvbased on at least 85% of the
market value on the date of grant. The fair mavisfte of our stock option awards has historichftign the NASDAQ closing price on the ¢
of grant.

Retirement Savings Pl¢

The Company maintains a retirement savings plath®@ibenefit of our executives and employees. Guplg IRA Plan is intended to qual
as a defined contribution arrangement under thernat Revenue Code (the “CodeBarticipants may elect to defer a percentage df
eligible pretax earnings each year or contribufixed amount per pay period up to the maximum dbation permitted by the Code. ,
participants’ plan accounts are 100% vested dinadls. All assets of our Simple IRA Plan are cutlseimvested, subject to participadirectec
elections, in a variety of mutual funds chosen frime to time by the Plan Administrator. Distrilarti of a participans vested intere
generally occurs upon termination of employmentluding by reason of retirement, death or disabiltVe make certain matchi
contributions to the Simple IRA Plan.

Perquisites and Other Personal Bene

The Company'’s executive officers participate in @@mpanys other benefit plans on the same terms as othplogees. These plans inclt
medical, dental, life and disability insurance. ¢daltion benefits also are reimbursed and are iddally negotiated when they occur. °
Company reimburses each executive officer foredbonable business and other expenses incurréeioyin connection with the performa
of their duties and obligations under their empleynagreements. The Company does not provide naredutive officers with ar
significant perquisites or other personal benefitsept for an automobile for each executive’s essruse.

The following table reflects all forms of compernsatfor services to us for the fiscal years endedt@&mber 30, 2014, 2013 and 2012 of ce
executive officers.

Summary Compensation Table

Non-
Equity Nonqualified
Incentive Deferred
Name anc Stock Option Plan Compensation All other
Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Earnings compensatior Total
Position Year $) ($) ($) ($) %) %) %) %)
@ (b) (©) (d) (e) ® @ (h) ® @
Eric Langan 2014 856,73: -0- 61,46" -0- -0- -0- 97,68((1) 1,015,87
President 2013 764,42; -0- -0- 249,38'(1) -0- -0- 99,85¢1) 1,113,66!
CEO 2012 623,07 -0- -0- 83,12¢1) -0- -0- 72,684(1) 778,88¢
Phillip 2014 246,53¢ -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 29,07((2) 275,60t
Marshall, 2013 223,81: -0- -0- 44,26'(2) -0- -0- 28,1442) 296,22}
CFO 2012 215,00( 10,00((4) -0- 14,89¢2) -0- -0- 30,6142) 270,51:
Travis 2014 241,53t -0- -0- -0- -0- -0- 18,447(3) 259,98!
Reese 2013 231,53t -0- -0- 56,3043) -0- -0- 18,19{3) 306,03t
Executive 2012 204,61! -0- -0- 18,80¢(3) -0- -0- 27,8643) 251,28!

Vice Presiden

1 Mr. Langan received 215,000 options to purchaseeshaf our common stock at an exercise price 03%®&n July 2, 2012, of whii
155,000 were replacement of the September 30, 2ptiobns. Mr. Langan received 10,000 options to pase shares of our comn
stock at an exercise price of $8.78 on June 272.20lese are not amounts paid to or realized bgxleeutive. Assumptions used in
calculation of these compensation costs are indudéNote | to the Company’s audited financial emaénts included in this Form X0-
Mr. Langan also received 58,000 shares of restfisteck in July 2014. The shares vest in two yddrs.Langan and his family al
received the use of certain automobiles in each’

2 Mr. Marshall received 40,000 options to purchasaresh of our common stock at an exercise price @38n July 2, 2012, of whi
20,000 were replacement of the September 30, 201i6ns. These are not amounts paid to or realizethé executive. Assumptic
used in the calculation of these compensation @stsncluded in Note | to the Compasydudited financial statements included in
Form 1(-K. Mr. Marshall and his family also received the wf certain automobiles in each ye
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3 Mr. Reese received 40,000 options to purchase slwdreur common stock at an exercise price of $8r83uly 2, 2012, of which 25,0
were replacement of the September 30, 2010 optMnsReese received 10,000 options to purchasessharour common stock at
exercise price of $8.78 on June 27, 2012. Thesaaramounts paid to or realized by the executivessumptions used in the calculal
of these compensation costs are included in Ntdethe Company’s audited financial statements ietlin this Form 1@. Mr. Rees
also received the use of an automobile in each

4 Mr. Marshall received a bonus of $10,000 in 2012diatstanding performanc

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table sets forth information regarglithe 2014 annual option incentive programs anfbpaance-based awards. No nequity
incentive plan awards were made in 2014 for officer

Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity
Incentive Plan Award

Threshold Target Maximum
Grant Date #(1) #(1) #(1)
Eric Langar 7/3/2014 58,00( 58,00( 58,00(

(1) Mr. Langan was not required to reach any djpegerformance level to receive these awards h&athe Compensation Committee gra
these awards to reward overall outstanding perfoomaf the named executives during fiscal year 20T4ere were no other restricted st
awards or options during the 2014 fiscal year.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fis

Year End
OPTION AWARDS STOCK AWARDS
Equity
Equity Incentive
Incentive Plan
Plan Awards:
Awards: Market or
Equity Number Payout
Incentive of Value of
Plan Unearned Unearned
Awards: Number Market Shares, Shares,
Number of Number of of Shares Value of Units or Units or
Number of Securities Securities or Units Shares or Other Other
Securities Underlying Underlying of Stock Units of Rights Rights
Underlying Unexercised Unexercisec Option that have Stock that that have  that have
Unexercisec Options Unearned Exercise Option not have not not not
Options (#) (#) Options Price Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable  Unexercisabl #) ($) Date (#) (%) ($) $
@ (b) (© (d) (e) (e) (@) (h) 0) 0)
Eric Langar 0 (0] (0] 58,00( $ 639,161 0 (0]
Phillip Marshall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Travis Rees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

OPTION EXERCISES

Certain of our named executive officers exercigedksoptions in 2014:

Option Awards

Number of
Shares
Acquired Value Realize
Name on Exercise on Exercise
Phillip Marshall 40,00 $ 89,18:
Travis Rees: 50,00 $ 141,31(

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We pay the expenses of our directors in attendiogrd meetings. We paid no fees to our directors, did we pay any equithase:
compensation during the fiscal year ended SepteBhe2014. We have agreed to pay our eeeeutive directors $20,000 in cash for the :
fiscal year.
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

On July 23, 2012, we entered into a new Employnfereement with our Chief Executive Officer and Fdest, Eric Langan. His previo
employment agreement expired on April 1, 2012. Tk® agreement has a term of three years and pevVadean annual base salary
$750,000 for the first year of the term and an ahhase salary of $825,000 for the second and tfged of the term. Under the terms of
agreement, Mr. Langan is bound to a confidentigdityvision and cannot compete with us for a petipdn termination of the agreement.

On September 15, 2014, we entered into a new Emmay Agreement with Travis Reese, our ExecutiveeViRresident, Director

Technology and Corporate Secretary. His previouplegment agreement expired on July 23, 2014. Thv agreement has a term of tt
years and provides for an annual base salary d,828 for the first year, $300,000 for the secoedryand $320,000 for the third year. Ur
the terms of the agreement, Mr. Reese is boundctinfidentiality provision and cannot compete withfor a period upon termination of
agreement.

On June 27, 2013, we entered into an Employmeneément with Phillip K. Marshall to serve as our @tttinancial Officer. Mr. Marshat’
Employment Agreement extends through May 30, 2@h@, provides for an annual base salary of $245(00€he first year, 250,000 for t
second year and $255,000 for the third year. Urtlderterms of his Employment Agreement, Mr. Marshslbound to a confidentiali
provision and cannot compete with us upon the akpin of his Employment Agreement.

The employment agreements of Messrs. Langan, Rewb&larshall each provide that, in the event wmitgaite such employee without ca
or such employee terminates his employment becaaseduce or fail to pay his compensation or maligrchange his responsibilities, si
employee is entitled to receive in one lump sumnpayt the full remaining amount under the term af drinployment agreement to whicl
would have been entitled had his agreement not tegerinated.

We have not established long-term incentive plardefined benefit or actuarial plans.
EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andirriely qualified personnel, we believe that ounufatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain qualifieergonnel. We pay wages and salaries that we balieveompetitive. We also believe that ec
ownership is an important factor in our ability @atiract and retain skilled personnel. We have asbstock option plans (the “Planggr
employees and directors. The purpose of the Ptatesfurther the interests of the Company, our isiidises and our stockholders by provid
incentives in the form of stock options to key eaygles and directors who contribute materially to success and profitability. The gre
recognize and reward outstanding individual perfamoes and contributions and will give such persanmoprietary interest in us, tt
enhancing their personal interest in our continsieckess and progress. The Plans also assist umuiasdbsidiaries in attracting and retair
key employees and directors. The Plans are admiaisty the Board of Directors. The Board of Dioesthas the exclusive power to selec
participants in the Plans, to establish the terfrth@options granted to each participant, provitted all options granted shall be granted :
exercise price equal to at least 85% of the fairketavalue of the common stock covered by the optia the grant date and to make
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

In August 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Optiam Pthe “1999 Planjvith 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusaler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Alment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmen#fich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1 million. In July 2007, shareholdapproved an Amendment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amerd”), which increased the to
number of shares authorized to 1.5 million. TheQlB8n was terminated by law in July 2009. Ourm8az Directors approved the 2010 St
Option Plan on September 30, 2010. The 2010 P&mapproved by the shareholders of the Compargdimption at the 2011 Annual Meet
of Shareholders. As of September 30, 2014, therd @000 stock options outstanding.

COMPENSATION POLICIES AND PRACTICES AS THEY RELATE TO RISK MANAGEMENT

We attempt to make our compensation programs disneey, balanced and focused on the long term.béleve goals and objectives of
compensation programs reflect a balanced mix ohtifaéive and qualitative performance measuresvimicaexcessive weight on a sin
performance measure. Our approach to compensatamtiqges and policies applicable to employees amtbwtants is consistent with t
followed for its executives. Based on these factars believe that our compensation policies ancttimes do not create risks that
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effaats.

Compensation Committee Report
The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdusith management the Compensation DiscussiorAaatysis to be included in tt

Form 10K. Based on the reviews and discussions refeoeabbve, the Compensation Committee recommendwet8dard of Directors th
the Compensation Discussion and Analysis refemeabbve be included in this report.
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The foregoing has been furnished by the Compens&@mnmittee.

Steven L. Jenkins
Luke Lirot
Nour-Dean Anakar
Robert Watters

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

The Compensation Committee is comprised of Meskekins, Lirot, Watters and Anakar. Mr. Watters woas President and our Ch
Executive Officer from 1991 until March 1999. Nderlocking relationship exists between any memideghe Compensation Committee
any member of any other company’s Board of Directorcompensation committee.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Mattet

The following table sets forth certain informatianDecember 2, 2014, with respect to the benefaialership of shares of common stocl
(i) each person known to us who owns beneficialyrerthan 5% of the outstanding shares of commarks{é) each of our directors, (i) ea
of our executive officers and (iv) all of our exé&ga officers and directors as a group. Unless mitlee indicated, each stockholder has
voting and investment power with respect to thaeshahown. In computing the number and percergfighares beneficially owned by e
person, we include any shares of common stockcdatd be acquired within 60 days by the exercisemifons or warrants. These she
however, are not counted in computing the percentagnership of any other person. As of Decemb&@014, there were 10,354,616 sh
of common stock outstanding.

Number of Percent o
Name/Addres: shares Title of class Class (2
Eric S. Langat
10959 Cutten Roa
Houston, Texas 770¢ 638,42: (1) Common stocl 6.17%

Phillip K. Marshall

10959 Cutten Roa

Houston, Texas 770¢ 11,13( Common stocl 0.11%
Robert L. Watter:

315 Bourbon Stree

New Orleans, Louisiana 701. -0- Common stocl -0-%
Steven L. Jenkin

16815 Royal Crest Driv

Suite 16C

Houston, Texas 770% -0- Common stocl -0-%
Travis Rees:

10959 Cutten Roa

Houston, Texas 770¢ 11,33( Common stocl 0.11%

Nour-dean Anaka
3978 Sorrento Valley Drive, #1(

San Diego, California 9212 -0- Common stocl -0-%
Luke Lirot

2240 Belleair Road, Suite 1!

Clearwater, FL 3376 -0- Common stocl -0-%
All of our Directors and Officers as a Group of ee\(7) person 660,88: Common stocl 6.3¢%

(1) Includes 638,424 shares of common stock held dirbgtMr. Langan, and excludes 58,000 shares waremot vested

(2) These percentages exclude treasury shares inlthéat®n of percentage of clas
The Company is not aware of any arrangements thad cesult in a change in control of the Company.
The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of RegutafeK is set forth in Item 5 herein and is incogted herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence.
Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thatklmsiness affairs will be conducted in all respdnt standards applicable to publicly t
corporations and that we will not enter into anjufa transactions and/or loans between us and flicers, directors and 5% shareholc
unless the terms are no less favorable than coaldbtained from independent, third parties and wl approved by a majority of ¢

independent and disinterested directors. We ctiyréave four independent directors, Steven JenRilmir-Dean Anakar, Robert Watters
Luke Lirot. We know of no related transactionsttee years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.
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Review, Approval, or Ratification of Transactions

Currently, we rely on our Board of Directors toiew related party transactions on an ongoing kasgevent conflicts of interest. Our Bo
of Directors reviews a transaction in light of tffiliations of the director, officer, or employead the affiliations of such persenmmediat
family. Our Board of Directors will approve or rfgtia transaction if it determines that the tranigecis consistent with our best interests ant

best interests of our shareholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The following table sets forth the aggregate fesd pr accrued for professional services and thygegte fees paid or accrued for audiatec
services and all other services rendered by Whilegn LLP for the audit of our annual financiatetaents for fiscal years 2014, 2013

2012.
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands
Audit fees $ $ 295 $ 26¢€
Audit-related fee: - 12C
Tax fees 78 63
All other fees - -
Total $ $ 372 $ 44¢

The category of “Audit feesincludes fees for our annual audit, quarterly regieand services rendered in connection with regojdilings

with the SEC, such as the issuance of comfortreetied consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes asifion audits, internal control reviews and accaumtonsultation.

The category of “Tax fees” includes consultatiolated to corporate development activities.

All above audit services, audit-related serviced t@x services were papproved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat the provisio
of such services by Whitley Penn LLP was compatiité the maintenance of that firmiindependence in the conduct of its auditing fions
The Audit Committee’s outside auditor independenaléecy provides for pre-approval of all servicesfpemed by the outside auditors.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
Exhibit 21- Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Exhibit 23- Consent of Whitley Penn LLP, independent auditors

Exhibit 31.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer of RCldspitality Holdings, Inc. required by Rule 13a-146t Rule 15d “14(a) of thi
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgaa®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 31.2- Certification of Chief Financial Officer of RCld$pitality Holdings, Inc. required by Rule 13a-14¢t Rule 15d 14(a) of th
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putdag®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1- Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chi€inancial Officer of RCI Hospitality Holdings, ¢n (formerly Ricks Cabare
International, Inc.) pursuant to Section 906 of #abanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 di 1RC. 63.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of Sectionfl@d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant haseduhis report to be signed or
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine December 15, 2014.

RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc
/sl Eric S. Langal

By: Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange A, report has been signed below by the followiagspns in the capacities anc
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Eric S. Langa
Eric S. Langat Director, Chief Executive Officer, and Presid December 15, 201

/s/ Phillip K. Marshal
By: Phillip K. Marshall Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accountingfioér December 15, 201

/sl Travis Rees
Travis Rees: Director and Executive Vice Preside December 15, 201

/s/ Robert L. Watter
Robert L. Watter: Director December 15, 201

/s/ Nou-Dean Anaka
Nour-Dean Anaka Director December 15, 201

/sl Steven Jenkir
Steven Jenkin Director December 15, 201

/s/ Luke Lirot
Luke Lirot Director December 15, 201
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Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Exhibit 21

State of Organizatio

12291 CBW LLC

1957 Delamo LLC

BMB Dining Services (Austin), Inc
BMB Dining Services (Beaumont), In
BMB Dining Services (Fuqua), In
BMB Dining Services (Spring), Ini
BMB Dining Services (Stemmons), Ir
BMB Dining Services (Webster), In

BMB Dining Services (Willowbrook), Inc

Bobby's Novelty, Inc

Broadstreets Cabaret, Ir

CA Ault Investments, In

Cabaret North Parking, In

Citation Land LLC

Drink Robust, Inc

E. D. Publications, Inc

Fine Dining Club Inc

Global Marketing Agency, Inc
Green Star Inc

Hotel Development Texas Lt
lllusions Dallas Private Club LL!
Jaguars Acquisition, Ini

Jaguars Holdings, In

JAI Dining Services (Beaumont), In
JAI Dining Services (Edinburg), In
JAI Dining Services (El Paso), In
JAI Dining Services (Harlingen), In
JAI Dining Services (Longview), In
JAI Dining Services (Lubbbock), In
JAI Dining Services (Odessal ll), Ir
JAI Dining Services (Odessa), Ir
JAI Dining Services (Phoenix), In
JAI Dining Services (Tye), Inc

Joint Ventures, Inc

Manana Entertainment, In

Miami Gardens Square One, I
New Spiros, LLC

North IH 35 Investments, In
Peregrine Enterprises, Ir

PNC Marketing

RB Restaurants, Ini

RCI 33" Street Ventures, In

RCI Dating Services, In

RCI Debit Services, Inc

RCI Dining DFW, LLC

RCI Dining Services (37th Street), Ir

RCI Dining Services (Airport Freeway), Ir

RCI Dining Services (Beaumont), Ir
RCI Dining Services (Charlotte), In
RCI Dining Services (Harvey), In

RCI Dining Services (Imperial Valley), In

RCI Dining Services (Indiana), In
RCI Dining Services (Inwood), In
RCI Dining Services (Manana), In
RCI Dining Services (New York), In

Texas
California
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Florida
Texas
Texas
New York
Texas
Texas
New York
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas

North Caroline

Illinois
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
New York




Name

State of Organizatio

RCI Dining Services (Round Rock), Ir
RCI Dining Services (Stemmons), It

RCI Dining Services (Stemmons2), It
RCI Dining Services (Sulphur), In

RCI Dining Services (Superior Parkway), i
RCI Dining Services (Tarrant County), Ir
RCI Dining Services (Vee), Ini

RCI Dining Services MN (115 S. 4th Street), |
RCI Dining Services MN (4th Street), Ir
RCI Entertainment (310%-35), Inc.

RCI Entertainment (3315 N FWY FW), Ir
RCI Entertainment (Austin), Ini

RCI Entertainment (Dallas), In

RCI Entertainment (Delamo), In

RCI Entertainment (Fort Worth), In

RCI Entertainment (Las Vegas), It

RCI Entertainment (Media Holdings), Ir
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Ir

RCI Entertainment (New York), In

RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Ir
RCI Entertainment (North FW), In

RCI Entertainment (Northwest Hwy), In
RCI Entertainment (Philadelphia), Ir

RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Ir

RCI Entertainment (Texas), In

RCI Entertainment MN 300 South 3rd Street,
RCI Holdings, Inc

RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. (formerly Ri¢’s Cabaret International, Inc
RCI Internet Holdings, Inc

RCI Internet Services, In

RCI Leasing LLC

RCI Management Services, Ir

RCI Wireway, Inc.

S Willy's Lubbock LLC

Sadco, Inc

SP Administration, Inc

Spiros Partners Lt

Stellar Management, In

StorErotica Magazine, In

Tantra Dance, Inc

Tantra Parking, Inc

TEZ Management LL(

TEZ Real Estate LI

The End Zone, In

Top Shelf Entertainment LL

Trumps, Inc

TT Leasing Inc

WKC, Inc.

XTC Cabaret (Dallas), In

XTC Cabaret, Inc

Texas
Texas
Texas
Louisiana
Texas
Texas
Texas
Minnesota
Minnesota
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Nevada
Texas
Minnesota
New York
North Caroling
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Minnesota
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Florida
Delaware
Texas
Texas
Pennsylvani:
Pennsylvani:
Pennsylvani:
North Caroling
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas
Texas




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference irrélggstration statement No. 333-174207 on FormdsRCl Hospitality Holdings, Inc. of our
report dated December 15, 2014, relating to thealgated financial statements and our report dBecember 15, 2014, relating to the
effectiveness of internal control over financigoeting appearing in this Annual Report on FormkL6f RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. for th
year ended September 30, 20

/s! Whitley Penn LLP
Dallas, Texas
December 15, 2014




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer of RCbspitality Holdings, Inc., certify tha
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omdtéte a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nt#anisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of ogerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining diseie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under t
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahporting to be design
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assarasgarding the reliability of financial reportimgnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsiraéport our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contald procedures, as of the end of the period covayetiis report based
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during tt
registrant's most recent fiscal year that has nadlieraffected, or is reasonably likely to mateljabhffect, the registran
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badlisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiantefal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's independent reggskgrublic accounting firm and the audit committééhe registrant's board of direct
(or persons performing the equivalent functiol

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controkmofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrant's ability to record, process, summagnre report financi
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdémin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: December 15, 2014 By: /s/ Eric S. Langal
Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Phillip K. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer arférincipal Accounting Officer of RCI Hospitality Htings, Inc., certify that
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of RCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omdtéte a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nt#anisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,cher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of ogerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining diseie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under t
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahporting to be design
under my supervision, to provide reasonable assarasgarding the reliability of financial reportimgnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsiraéport our conclusiol
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contald procedures, as of the end of the period covayetiis report based
such evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during tt
registrant's most recent fiscal year that has nadlieraffected, or is reasonably likely to mateljabhffect, the registran
internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badlisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiantefal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's independent reggskgrublic accounting firm and the audit committééhe registrant's board of direct
(or persons performing the equivalent functiol

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controkmofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrant's ability to record, process, summagnre report financi
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdémin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: December 15, 2014 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer/Principal Accounting Offic




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of RCI HosltigaHoldings, Inc. (the "Company") on Form ¥0for the year ended Septem
30, 2014 as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmmission on the date hereof (the "Report"), theeusigned Chief Executive Officer &
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursugh®b of the Sarban&xley Act of 200z
that based on their knowledge:

Q) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operatic
of the Company

/sl Eric S. Langal

Eric S. Langat

Chief Executive Office
December 15, 201

/s/ Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Office
December 15, 201

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906, or other document authenticatiegnowledging, or otherwise adopting
signature that appears in typed form within thetetmic version of this written statement requitedSection 906, has been provided to
Hospitality Holdings, Inc. and will be retained BCI Hospitality Holdings, Inc. and furnished to t8ecurities and Exchange Commissio
its staff upon request.

The foregoing certification is being furnished tw tSecurities and Exchange Commission as an exbiliiie Form 1k and shall not
considered filed as part of the Form 10-K.




